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Notice of Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders
Friday, June 19, 2020
8:30 a.m. Central Daylight Time

At 200 East Randolph Street
Chicago, Illinois
United States of America
Online via webcast at www.meetingcenter.io/228952011
Password: AON2020

We are pleased to invite you to join our board of directors (the “Board” or the “Board of
Directors”) and senior leadership at the Aon plc Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (the “Annual Meeting”) scheduled for Friday, June 19, 2020 at 8:30 a.m.
Central Daylight Time.
Due to public health concerns and continuing uncertainty in connection with COVID19, this year we will be making arrangements to enable persons to attend the Annual
Meeting virtually via the Internet. The virtual attendance does not extend to voting at the
Annual Meeting. In accordance with Irish law, we are required to have a principal
meeting place, which is a physical location where shareholders may attend the Annual
Meeting in person and vote thereat. However, in light of public health concerns and
current local travel recommendations and restrictions, we strongly advise shareholders
not to attend in person at the principal meeting place, but to vote in advance by one of
the methods described on page 64 of the proxy statement, and, if you wish to hear the
proceedings and ask questions, to do so virtually as described in the proxy statement.

Proposals:
1.

By separate resolutions, to re-elect each of the following 11 individuals as directors
of the Company:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.
k.

Lester B. Knight
Gregory C. Case
Jin-Yong Cai
Jeffrey C. Campbell
Fulvio Conti
Cheryl A. Francis
J. Michael Losh
Richard B. Myers
Richard C. Notebaert
Gloria Santona
Carolyn Y. Woo

Other Business:
During the Annual Meeting, the Board will present, for consideration by the shareholders,
the Company’s statutory financial statements under Irish law for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 (including the reports of the directors and the Irish statutory auditor
thereon) and a review of the Company’s affairs.

Who Can Vote:
Only holders of Class A Ordinary Shares at the close of business on April 17, 2020 can
vote at the Annual Meeting. Your vote is important. Please vote your shares by mail, over
the Internet, or by telephone as soon as possible, or in person at the Annual Meeting.

How to Vote:
Holders of Class A Ordinary Shares may vote by mail, over the Internet, by telephone, or
in person at the Annual Meeting. See “Questions and Answers About the 2020 Annual
General Meeting and Voting—How do I vote?” on page 64 of the proxy statement.

Attending the Annual Meeting:
Shareholders who wish to attend the Annual Meeting in person or virtually should review
pages 66-67 of the proxy statement.
A shareholder of record entitled to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting may appoint
one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote on his or her behalf by any of the
procedures set forth in the proxy statement. A proxy holder need not be a shareholder of
record. To be valid, a proxy must be received by the Company by no later than 11:59 EDT
on June 18, 2020, the proxy deadline.

Date of Mailing:
This notice and proxy statement is being mailed or made available to shareholders on or
about April 24, 2020.

2.

To approve by an advisory resolution the compensation of the Company’s named
executive officers (“NEOs”).

We urge you to read the attached proxy statement for additional information concerning
the matters to be considered at the Annual Meeting. The proxy statement shall be deemed
incorporated into this notice.

3.

To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm (“Ernst & Young US”) for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2020.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

4.

To re-appoint Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants as the Company’s statutory
auditor under Irish law (“Ernst & Young Ireland”), to hold office until the
conclusion of the Company’s next annual general meeting.

5.

To authorize the Board or the Audit Committee of the Board to determine the
remuneration of Ernst & Young Ireland, in its capacity as the Company’s statutory
auditor under Irish law.

Darren Zeidel
Company Secretary
April 24, 2020

Proxy Summary
The Board of Directors of Aon plc is soliciting proxies for use at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 19, 2020
The following summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this proxy
statement. This summary does not contain all of the information that you should
consider, and you should read the entire proxy statement before voting. For more
complete information regarding the Company’s 2019 performance, please review the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Voting Matters
Shareholders are being asked to vote on the following matters at the Annual Meeting:

Proposal 1. Resolutions Regarding the Re-election of Directors (page 5)
The Board and the Governance/Nominating Committee of the Board believe that the eleven nominees possess the necessary qualifications to provide
effective oversight of the business and quality advice and counsel to the Company’s management.
Proposal 2. Advisory Resolution on Executive Compensation (page 22)
The Company seeks a non-binding advisory vote from its shareholders to approve the compensation of its NEOs as described in this proxy statement.
The Board values shareholders’ opinions, and the Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board will take into account the outcome of the
advisory vote when considering future executive compensation.
Proposal 3. Resolution to Ratify the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (page 57)
The Board and the Audit Committee of the Board believe that the continued retention of Ernst & Young US to serve as our independent registered
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. As a matter of good
corporate governance, shareholders are being asked to ratify the Audit Committee’s selection of Ernst & Young US as the Company’s independent
registered accounting firm.
Proposal 4. Resolution to Re-Appoint Ernst & Young Ireland as the Company’s Statutory Auditor Under Irish law (page 57)
The Board and the Audit Committee of the Board believe that the continued retention of Ernst & Young Ireland to serve as our statutory auditor under
Irish law from the conclusion of the Annual Meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company is in the best interests of
the Company and its shareholders. If this proposal does not receive an affirmative majority of the votes cast, in person or by proxy, by shareholders
entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, the Board may appoint a statutory auditor to fill the vacancy.
Proposal 5. Resolution to Authorize the Board or the Audit Committee of the Board to Determine the Remuneration of the Company’s
Statutory Auditor Under Irish Law (page 58)
The remuneration of our statutory auditor under Irish law must be fixed in a general meeting of the Company or in such manner as may be determined
in a general meeting. We are asking our shareholders to authorize the Board or the Audit Committee of the Board to determine Ernst & Young
Ireland’s remuneration as our statutory auditor under Irish law. It is proposed that the Board would delegate the authority to determine the
remuneration of the statutory auditor under Irish law to the Audit Committee of the Board in accordance with the Board’s procedures and
applicable law.

Our Board’s
Recommendation
FOR each nominee
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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Certain Proposals Mandated
by Irish Law
Certain proposals on which you are being asked to vote are customary or required for public limited companies incorporated in Ireland to present to
shareholders at each annual general meeting. These proposals may be unfamiliar to shareholders accustomed to proxy statements for companies organized
in other jurisdictions. Specifically, proposals 4 and 5 are customary proposals and are mandated by Irish law.

Reorganization
On April 1, 2020, upon the consummation of a U.K. law Scheme of Arrangement (the “Reorganization”), Aon plc, a public company organized under the laws of Ireland (the
“Company”), became the owner of the entire issued share capital of Aon plc, a company organized under the laws of the England and Wales (“Aon UK”), the new New York Stock
Exchange-listed parent of the Aon group, and the successor issuer to Aon UK pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). Prior to the Reorganization, Aon UK had been the New York Stock Exchange-listed parent of the Aon group.
References in this proxy statement to the actions of the “Company,” “us,” “we” or “Aon” (or its Board of Directors, committees of its Board of Directors, or any of its directors or
officers), its shares or SEC filings or any similar references relating to periods from, and after, the consummation of the Reorganization should be construed as references to the actions,
shares or SEC filings of the Company (or, where appropriate, its Board of Directors, committees of its Board or its directors or officers) References in this proxy statement to the actions
of the “Company,” “us,” “we” or “Aon” (or its Board of Directors, committees of its Board of Directors, or any of its directors or officers), its shares or SEC filings or any similar
references relating to periods before the consummation of the Reorganization (other than the statutory financial statement under Irish law for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019)
should be construed as references to the actions of Aon UK (or, where appropriate, its Board of Directors, committees of its Board or its directors or officers), in each case unless the
context requires otherwise.

Corporate Governance Highlights
Aon’s commitment to good corporate governance is integral to our business. Highlights of our strong corporate governance practices include:
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Annual election of directors

Separation of Board Chairman and CEO functions

Strong Board oversight of risk management
programs

10 of 11 directors are independent

Directors elected by a majority of votes cast in an
uncontested election

Incentive-based compensation programs linked to
performance

Regular executive sessions of the Board and its
committees

Shareholder ability to call a special meeting

Robust share ownership guidelines for directors
and senior executives
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Director Nominees
Name
Lester B. Knight*
Gregory C. Case
Jin-Yong Cai*
Jeffrey C. Campbell*
Fulvio Conti*
Cheryl A. Francis*
J. Michael Losh*
Richard B. Myers*
Richard C. Notebaert*
Gloria Santona*
Carolyn Y. Woo*

Age

61
57
60
59
72
66
73
78
72
69
66

Director
Since

1999
2005
2016
2018
2008
2010
2003
2006
1998
2004
1998

A

X
X

OC

Committee Membership(1)
GN
E

C

C
X

X
X

X
X

X
C

C

Other
Boards(2)

X
X

X

X

X

C
X
X

X
X

X

X

X
C
X

F

X

X

C
X

0
1
0
1
1
2
3
0
1
0
1

* Independent Director C = Chair X = Member
1. A = Audit Committee; OC = Organization and Compensation Committee; GN = Governance/Nominating Committee; E = Executive Committee; F = Finance
Committee; C = Compliance Sub-Committee
2. Number of other public company boards on which the director will sit, as of the date of our Annual Meeting.

2019 Company Performance Highlights
In 2019, we delivered positive performance across each of our key metrics and continued to execute on our goals of strategically investing in client-serving capability and long-term
growth opportunities across our portfolio, managing expenses, and effectively allocating capital to the highest return. Further, we returned approximately $2.4 billion of capital to
shareholders through share repurchases and dividends, highlighting our strong cash flow generation and effective allocation of capital.
In assessing our performance, we focus on four metrics that are not recognized under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) that we communicate to shareholders:
organic growth, expansion of adjusted operating margins, increase in adjusted diluted earnings per share, and increased free cash flow. These non-GAAP metrics should be viewed in
addition to, not instead of, our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. A reconciliation of these non-GAAP metrics to the most directly comparable GAAP metrics is set
forth in Appendix A to this proxy statement.
The following is our measure of 2019 performance against GAAP metrics, as well as the four non-GAAP metrics outlined above:
•

2% Total Revenue Growth; 6% Organic Revenue Growth

•

19.7% Operating Margin; 27.5% Adjusted Operating Margin

•

$6.37 Earnings Per Share; $9.17 Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share

•

$1,835 million Cash flow from Operations; $1,610 million Free Cash Flow
2020 Aon Proxy Statement

3

2019 Executive
Compensation Highlights
Leadership Performance Program. In early 2020, we settled performance share units granted to our NEOs in 2017 under our twelfth Leadership Performance Program (“LPP”) cycle
(“LPP 12”). The settlement of those units in Class A Ordinary Shares was contingent upon achieving adjusted earnings per share of at least $17.15 (threshold performance) over the
performance period from January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2019, and reflects achievement of adjusted earnings per share of $21.41 (after permitted adjustments), which exceeded the
target earnings per share of $17.95. Also in 2019, we granted performance share units under our fourteenth LPP cycle (“LPP 14”) to each of our NEOs (other than Mr. Lieb, who entered
into a transition and separation agreement described below), which are expected to be settled in 2022 contingent upon the Company’s adjusted earnings per share performance over the
January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2021 performance period.
Annual Incentive Compensation. Annual incentives for our NEOs typically are based on a comparison of current year adjusted operating income results against the prior year, as well
as the Compensation Committee’s evaluation of each NEO’s contributions to our business and financial results, delivery of key strategic initiatives, and personal leadership. While our
NEOs were eligible for annual incentive awards for 2019, in order to maintain alignment with our pay-for-performance executive compensation philosophy, Mr. Case and the other
NEOs requested— prior to the determination of the funding status of the incentive pool for 2019 and prior to any individual determinations by the Board or the Compensation
Committee—that they receive no annual incentive awards for fiscal 2019. The Board (for Mr. Case) and the Compensation Committee (for other NEOs) accepted this request. The
annual incentive funding that would have been allocated to our CEO and other NEOs was instead reserved and allocated for the Company’s broad-based annual incentive bonus pool.

Compensation-Related Corporate
Governance Best Practices
Our compensation philosophy and related governance features are complemented by several policies and practices designed to align our executive compensation program with the longterm interests of our shareholders, including the following:
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Robust share ownership guidelines for executive
officers and directors

Clawback policy in the event of financial
restatements, fraud, or a material violation of
Company policies

Annual say-on-pay vote for shareholders

Robust annual risk assessment of executive
compensation programs, policies, and practices

Independent compensation consultant advises the
Compensation Committee

Prohibition on hedging transactions by all
employees and directors; prohibition on pledging
by executive officers and directors

Pay for performance philosophy weighted towards
variable at-risk performance-based compensation

No dividends or dividend equivalents on unvested
performance share awards

Effective balance between differentiated short-term
and long-term performance factors and incentives
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Proposal 1–Resolutions Regarding the
Re-Election of Directors
The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that shareholders vote
“FOR” each nominee to serve as director.
What am I voting on?
The eleven current members of the Board are standing for re-election, in each case for a one-year term.
The Governance/Nominating Committee of the Board (the “Governance/Nominating Committee”) has recommended to the Board that each director be nominated. With respect to
Mr. Case, his employment agreement provides that he will be nominated for election as a director at each annual meeting of shareholders during the period of his employment. All
nominees for director have consented to being named in this proxy statement named and have agreed to serve as directors if re-elected. We have no reason to believe that any of the
nominees will not be available to serve as a director. However, if any nominee should become unavailable to serve for any reason, the proxies may be voted for such substitute nominees
as may be designated by the Board.
The term of each director expires at the next annual general meeting of shareholders, and each director will continue in office until the election of his or her respective successor or until
his or her resignation or removal in accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the Irish Companies Act 2014, as amended (the “Irish Companies Act”).
Consistent with the terms of the Articles, the Board currently is authorized to have up to twenty-one members and the number of directors was most recently set by the Board at eleven.
Each of the eleven nominees for director will be elected by the vote of a majority of the votes cast with respect to such nominee. A shareholder may: (i) vote for the election of a
nominee; (ii) vote against the election of a nominee; or (iii) abstain from voting for a nominee. Unless a proxy contains instructions to the contrary, it is assumed that the proxy will be
voted “FOR” the re-election of each nominee named on the following pages. The form of shareholder resolution for this proposal is set forth under the heading “Shareholder Resolutions
for 2020 Annual General Meeting” on page 68 of this proxy statement.
Aon values a number of attributes and criteria when identifying nominees to serve as a director, including professional background, expertise, reputation for integrity, business, financial
and management experience, leadership capabilities, and diversity. In addition to the specific experience and qualifications set forth below, we believe all of the nominees are
individuals with a reputation for integrity, demonstrate strong leadership capabilities, and are able to work collaboratively to make contributions to the Board and management.
Set forth on the following pages is biographical and other background information concerning each nominee for director. This information includes each nominee’s principal occupation
as well as a discussion of the specific experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills of each nominee that led to the Board’s conclusion that each nominee should serve as a director. In
addition, set forth below is the period during which each nominee has served as a director of Aon, including service as a director of Aon plc’s predecessor entities. The information
presented below has been confirmed by each nominee for purposes of its inclusion in this proxy statement.
2020 Aon Proxy Statement
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Bios

Lester B. Knight
Director since 1999
Age: 61
Committees:
• Executive Committee
(Chair)
• Governance/Nominating
Committee (Chair)

Mr. Knight is a Founding Partner of RoundTable Healthcare Partners and the former Vice
Chairman and a director of Cardinal Health, Inc., a diversified healthcare service company.
Mr. Knight was Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Allegiance Corporation
from 1996 until February 1999, and had been with Baxter International, Inc. from 1981 until 1996,
where he served as Corporate Vice President from 1990, Executive Vice President from 1992, and
as a director from 1995. Mr. Knight became Chairman of the Board of Directors of Aon in August
2008. He is a life director of NorthShore University HealthSystem and Junior Achievement of
Chicago, a life Trustee of Northwestern University, and a member of the Civic Committee of The
Commercial Club of Chicago.
The Board concluded that Mr. Knight should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to his
experience as the founder of a private equity firm focused on investing in the healthcare
industry, his executive background at several leading healthcare companies, and his financial
and investment experience. Mr. Knight’s career in positions of executive and management
leadership provides the Board and the Company with management expertise and experience
in oversight.

Mr. Case has served as Chief Executive Officer and director of Aon since April 2005. He also
served as President from 2005 to 2018. Prior to joining Aon, Mr. Case was with McKinsey &
Company, the global management consulting firm, for 17 years where he served on the
governing Shareholders’ Council and as head of the Global Insurance and Financial Services
practice. Prior to joining McKinsey, Mr. Case was with the investment banking firm of Piper,
Jaffray and Hopwood and the Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City. Mr. Case is a director of
Discover Financial Services.
Gregory C. Case
Director since 2005
Age: 57
Committees:
• Executive Committee
6
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The Board concluded that Mr. Case should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to his role
as Chief Executive Officer of Aon, including his day-to-day leadership and intimate knowledge
of Aon’s business and operations, and his background as a management consultant, including in
the global insurance and financial services areas.

Mr. Cai is a Partner at Global Infrastructure Partners, a global private equity investment firm.
Prior to his current position, Mr. Cai was a Partner at TPG Capital, L.P., a global private equity
investment firm. From 2012 to 2016, Mr. Cai was the Chief Executive Officer of the International
Finance Corporation, a member of the World Bank Group and the largest global development
institution focused on private sector development. Before the International Finance Corporation,
Mr. Cai worked in the financial services industry for nearly two decades, including 12 years with
Goldman Sachs Group, as a Partner and its top executive in China. He began his career at the
World Bank Group.
Jin-Yong Cai
Director since 2016
Age: 60
Committees:
• Finance Committee
• Organization and
Compensation
Committee

The Board concluded that Mr. Cai should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to his
experience in global finance and international business, particularly in the Asian Pacific region.
Mr. Cai’s increased level of financial literacy and extensive background with international
finance and global management provide valuable perspective and knowledge relating to
financial risk and risks related to the Company’s international activities.

Mr. Campbell is currently the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at American
Express, a position he has held since July 2013. From 2004 to 2013, Mr. Campbell served as the
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at McKesson Corporation. Prior to his time
at McKesson Corporation, Mr. Campbell spent 13 years at AMR Corporation and its principal
subsidiary, American Airlines, ultimately becoming its Chief Financial Officer in 2002. He serves
as the Lead Director and Chair of the Audit Committee of Hexcel Corporation.

Jeffrey C. Campbell
Director since 2018
Age: 59
Committees:
• Audit Committee
• Organization and
Compensation
Committee

The Board concluded that Mr. Campbell should continue to serve as a director of Aon because of
his background as a chief financial officer of a multinational, publicly traded, financial services
corporation. His significant business experience, deep financial acumen, and leadership
capabilities provide the Board and its committees with valuable management perspective, as
well as knowledge and experience relating to the financial services sector. This experience has
also led the Board to determine that Mr. Campbell is an “audit committee financial expert” as
defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

2020 Aon Proxy Statement
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Fulvio Conti
Director since 2008
Age: 72
Committees:
• Finance Committee
(Chair)
• Audit Committee
• Executive Committee
• Governance/Nominating
Committee

Cheryl A. Francis
Director since 2010
Age: 66
Committees:
• Finance Committee
• Organization and
Compensation
Committee
8
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Mr. Conti served as Chairman of TIM SpA, a leader in the telecommunications market from May
2018 to September 2019. He served as Chief Executive Officer and General Manager of Enel SpA,
Italy’s largest power company, from May 2005 to May 2014. From 1999 until 2005, he served as
Chief Financial Officer of Enel. Mr. Conti has a financial and industrial career spanning over 40
years. From 1970 to 1990, he held many roles at Mobil Oil Corporation in Italy and other countries,
including as Chief Financial Officer and general manager of Mobil Oil Europe and Chief Operating
Officer of Mobil Plastics Europe. From 1991 to 1995, Mr. Conti was Chief Financial Officer of
Montedison-Compart, SpA. Prior to joining Enel, SpA, he was the Chief Financial Officer and
general manager of Ferrovie dello Stato SpA and Telecom Italia SpA. Mr. Conti currently serves
as Chairman of Innova Italy Srl, Chairman of SGI SpA (Societa’ Gasdotti ltatlia SpA), director of
Fondo Italiano Efficienza Energetica (FIEE SGR SpA), director of Unidad Editorial SA, and director
of RBC PSJC. Mr. Conti previously served as a non-executive director of Barclays plc,
RCS Mediagroup, and director of the Italian Institute of Technology. Mr. Conti served as a director
of the National Academy of Santa Cecilia stepping down from his position in 2014. In 2009, he was
appointed “Cavaliere del Lavoro” of the Italian Republic and in December of that year he became
“Officier de la Légion d’Honneur” of the French Republic.
The Board concluded that Mr. Conti should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to his
background as a chief executive officer and chief financial officer of a large international energy
company, his familiarity with international business and finance activities, particularly in the
European Union, and his global financial and management experience. In addition, Mr. Conti’s
background as a chief financial officer of a multinational utility provides a knowledgeable
resource on matters relating to financial reporting and treasury. This experience has also led the
Board to determine that Mr. Conti is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by the SEC.

Ms. Francis served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of R.R. Donnelley &
Sons Co., a publicly traded print media company, from 1995 until 2000. Since 2000, Ms. Francis
has served as a business consultant and, since August 2008, as Co-Chairman of the Corporate
Leadership Center. From 2002 until August 2008, she served as Vice Chairman of the Corporate
Leadership Center. Prior to her role at R.R. Donnelley, Ms. Francis served on the management
team of FMC Corporation and its subsidiary, FMC Gold, including serving as Chief Financial Officer
of FMC Gold from 1987 through 1991, and Treasurer of FMC Corporation from 1993 through 1995.
She was also an adjunct professor for the University of Chicago Graduate School of Business
from 1991 through 1993. Ms. Francis currently serves as a director of HNI Corporation and
Morningstar, Inc., and previously served as a director of Hewitt Associates, Inc. from 2002 until
our acquisition of Hewitt Associates, Inc. in 2010.
The Board concluded that Ms. Francis should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to her
background as a chief financial officer of a large publicly traded company, which provides the
Board with an increased level of financial literacy. In addition, her role as a Board member of
other public companies provides valuable perspective on matters of risk oversight and
executive management.

From July 2004 to May 2005, Mr. Losh served as Interim Chief Financial Officer of Cardinal Health, Inc., a diversified healthcare service
company. From 1994 until 2000, Mr. Losh served as Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of General Motors Corporation.
Mr. Losh spent 36 years in various capacities with General Motors, where he served as Chairman of GMAC, its financial services group,
Group Vice President of North American Sales, Service and Marketing, and Vice President and General Manager of both its Oldsmobile
Division and Pontiac Division. Mr. Losh currently serves as a director of Prologis, Inc., Cardinal Health, Inc., Masco Corp., where he serves
as non-executive chairman, and Amesite, Inc. He previously served as a director of H.B. Fuller Corporation, CareFusion Corporation, and
TRW Automotive Corporation. Mr. Losh will not be standing for re-election to the boards of Prologis, Inc. at its 2020 annual meeting.
J. Michael Losh
Director since 2003
Age: 73

The Board concluded that Mr. Losh should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to his background as a chief financial officer of a large
international automobile manufacturing company, which provides the Board with an increased level of financial literacy. In addition, his role
as a board member of a variety of companies provides valuable perspective on matters of risk oversight and executive management.
Mr. Losh’s experience has also led the Board to determine that Mr. Losh is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by the SEC.

Committees:
• Audit Committee (Chair)
• Executive Committee
• Finance Committee
• Governance/Nominating
Committee

Richard B. Myers
Director since 2006
Age: 78
Committees:
• Audit Committee
• Compliance SubCommittee
• Organization and
Compensation
Committee

General Myers is the President of Kansas State University. He previously served as the fifteenth
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff from October 1, 2001 until his retirement on September 30,
2005. In this capacity, he was the highest-ranking officer in the United States military and
served as the principal military advisor to the President, the Secretary of Defense, and the
National Security Council. Prior to becoming Chairman, General Myers served as Vice Chairman
of the Joint Chiefs of Staff from March 2000 to September 2001. From August 1998 to February
2000, General Myers was Commander in Chief, North American Aerospace Defense Command
and U.S. Space Command; Commander, Air Force Space Command; and Department of Defense
manager, space transportation system contingency support at Peterson Air Force Base,
Colorado. Prior to assuming that position, he was Commander, Pacific Air Forces, Hickam Air
Force Base, Hawaii, from July 1997 to July 1998. General Myers previously served as a director of
Deere & Company, Northrup Grumman Technologies, and United Technologies Corporation.
General Myers previously served as the Colin L. Powell Chair of National Security, Leadership,
Character, and Ethics at the National Defense University and was Chairman of the Board of
Directors of the United Service Organization’s World Board of Governors.
The Board concluded that General Myers should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to his
background as the former Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, his strong leadership qualities
and consensus building skills, and his related management experience. In addition, General
Myers’ extensive experience and knowledge of global affairs provides the Board with an
invaluable resource regarding conducting business in diverse geo-political environments.
2020 Aon Proxy Statement
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Richard C. Notebaert
Director since 1998
Age: 72
Committees:
• Organization and Compensation
Committee (Chair)
• Executive Committee
• Finance Committee
• Governance/Nominating
Committee

Gloria Santona
Director since 2004
Age: 69
Committees:
• Compliance SubCommittee (Chair)
• Audit Committee
• Governance/Nominating
Committee
10
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From June 2002 until August 2007, Mr. Notebaert served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Qwest Communications
International Inc., a leading provider of broadband Internet based data, voice, and image communications. He previously served as President
and Chief Executive Officer of Tellabs, Inc., which designs and markets equipment to providers of telecommunications services worldwide,
from August 2000 to June 2002, and as a director of Tellabs from April 2000 to June 2002. He served as Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of Ameritech Corporation, a full-service communications company, from 1994 until 1999. Mr. Notebaert first joined
Ameritech Communications in 1983 and served in significant positions within the Ameritech organization before his election as Vice
Chairman in January 1993, President and Chief Operating Officer in June 1993, and President and Chief Executive Officer in January 1994.
Mr. Notebaert is a director of American Electric Power and serves as a member of the Board of Trustees of the University of Notre Dame.
Mr. Notebaert previously served as a director of Cardinal Health, Inc. and as Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the University of Notre
Dame.
The Board concluded that Mr. Notebaert should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to his background as a chairman and chief
executive officer of several large international communications companies, which provides the Board with substantial global management,
financial, and risk oversight experience. In addition, Mr. Notebaert’s experience as a director of a variety of companies provides valuable
perspective on matters of risk oversight and executive management.

Ms. Santona is currently Of Counsel at Baker McKenzie, an international law firm. Ms. Santona
served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of McDonald’s Corporation
from 2001 to 2017 when she retired. Since joining McDonald’s in 1977, Ms. Santona held positions
of increasing responsibility in the legal department, serving as U.S. General Counsel from
December 1999 to June 2001 and corporate General Counsel since 2001. She is a member of the
American Bar Association, the Association of General Counsel, the Society for Corporate
Governance, and the National Society of Corporate Directors. She is a former member of the
Board of Directors of the American Society of Corporate Secretaries, the Association of
Corporate Counsel, and the Minority Corporate Counsel Association. She is also a member of the
Board of Trustees of Rush University Medical Center, and is a member of the Boards of Directors
of the National Immigrant Justice Center. She is a former member of the Board of Trustees of the
Chicago Zoological Society and the Chicago Symphony Orchestra and the Board of Directors of
The Chicago Network and the Chicago Food Depository.
The Board concluded that Ms. Santona should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to her
background as a general counsel and secretary of a large international corporation and her
related legal experience, which is particularly relevant to Aon in light of Aon’s worldwide
operations. Her experience also provides the Board with expertise in the area of regulatory
compliance and risk management globally.

Dr. Woo is the former President and Chief Executive Officer of Catholic Relief Services, a position she held from 2012 to 2016. From July
1997 to December 2011, Dr. Woo served as the Dean of the Mendoza College of Business at the University of Notre Dame. Dr. Woo
currently serves on the Board of Directors of NiSource Industries, Inc. and Arabesque Partners.
The Board concluded that Dr. Woo should continue to serve as a director of Aon due to her background as leader of a global relief
organization, which provides the Board with an invaluable resource regarding conducting business in diverse geo-political environments. In
addition, her previous position as former dean of the business school of a large university provides leadership expertise and consensus
building skills as well as relevant management and business experience.
Carolyn Y. Woo
Director since 1998
Age: 66
Committees:
• Audit Committee
• Compliance Sub-Committee
• Organization and Compensation
Committee
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Corporate Governance
We are committed to continually enhancing our strong corporate governance practices, which we believe help us sustain our success and build long-term value for our shareholders.
Aon’s Governance Guidelines provide the framework for our system of corporate governance, which, together with our committee charters and Code of Business Conduct, sets forth
standards of conduct for employees, officers, and directors. The Board provides oversight of Aon’s overall performance, strategic direction, and executive management team
performance. The Board also approves major initiatives and transactions and advises on key financial and business matters. The Board is kept apprised of the Company’s progress on a
regular basis through Board and committee meetings, discussions with management, operating and financial reports provided by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, and other materials distributed to the Board throughout the year. The charter of each committee, the Governance Guidelines, and the Code of Business Conduct are available on
the corporate governance section of our website at http://www.aon.com/about-aon/corporate-governance/corporate-governance.jsp.

Good Corporate Governance Practices
Highlights of our corporate governance practices include:
Board Independence. All of our directors are independent, with the exception of our Chief Executive Officer.
Independent Chairman. Since 2008, Lester B. Knight has served as the independent, Non-Executive Chairman of the Board.
Annual Elections with Majority Voting. Directors are elected annually by a majority of votes cast in an uncontested election.
Incentive Repayment Policy and Forfeiture Provision. Our Board has adopted an incentive repayment policy whereby the Board may cancel or require reimbursement
of any incentive payments or equity-based awards received if the incentive payment or equity-based award was based on the achievement of financial results that are
subsequently restated. In addition, beginning with equity-based awards granted in 2019, unvested equity-based awards are subject to forfeiture in the event of a material
violation of the Company’s policies or procedures or a breach of applicable restrictive covenants.
Robust Share Ownership Guidelines. Our Board has established share ownership guidelines for senior management, requiring that our Chief Executive Officer hold at
least six times his base salary in Class A Ordinary Shares, and each other member of senior management hold at least three times his or her base salary in Class A
Ordinary Shares. Our Chief Executive Officer has agreed to hold shares in excess of the guidelines, committing to hold at least twenty times his base salary in Class A
Ordinary Shares. Our Board has also established share ownership guidelines for non-management directors, requiring that each such director hold at least five times the
annual Board retainer in Class A Ordinary Shares.
Restrictions on Hedging and Pledging Company Shares. Our Board has adopted a policy prohibiting all employees and directors from engaging in short sales, publicly
traded options, puts and calls, forward sale contracts, and other swap, hedging, and derivative transactions relating to our securities. The Board also has adopted a policy
prohibiting our executive officers and directors from holding our securities in margin accounts or pledging our securities as collateral for a loan.
Compensation Programs. The Compensation Committee oversees our incentive compensation programs, which are designed to link pay to performance and not
encourage excessive risk-taking.

Board Leadership Structure
The positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board are held by separate individuals. Lester B. Knight has served as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board since
2008. The position of Non-Executive Chairman is independent from management. As Non-Executive Chairman, Mr. Knight sets the agendas for, and presides over, the Board meetings
and also chairs executive sessions of the non-management directors. The Chief Executive Officer is also a member of the Board and participates in its meetings. The Board believes the
separation of the positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman is the appropriate structure at this time as it allows the Chief Executive Officer to focus on the management of the
Company and the Chairman to ensure that the Board is focused on its oversight responsibilities, including independent oversight of management.
12
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Board Role in Risk Oversight
Risk is inherent in every business, and how well a business manages risk can ultimately determine its success. We face a number of risks, including economic risks, competitive risks,
financial risks, legal and regulatory risks, cybersecurity risks, and others. Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of risks that we face, while the Board, as a whole
and through its committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its risk oversight role, the Board has the responsibility to ensure that the risk management
processes designed and implemented by management are adequate and functioning as designed.
The Board believes that establishing the right “tone at the top” and full and open communication between management and the Board are essential for effective risk management and
oversight. The Board receives presentations from senior management on strategic and risk enterprise matters involving the Company. In addition, senior management attends Board
meetings and is available to address any questions or concerns raised by the Board related to risk management and any other matters.
While the Board is ultimately responsible for our risk oversight, the committees of the Board assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in certain areas of risk. The role of
each committee in connection with risk oversight is provided in this proxy statement in the section captioned “Board of Directors and Committees.”
The Board believes that its oversight of risks, primarily through delegation of primary responsibility to committees to oversee specific risks within their areas of responsibility and
expertise, and the sharing of information with the full Board, is appropriate for a company like Aon. The chair of each committee that oversees risk provides a summary of the matters
discussed with the committee to the full Board following each committee meeting. The minutes of each committee meeting are also provided to all Board members.

Director Independence
Aon’s Governance Guidelines require that it have a majority of directors who meet the categorical independence standards adopted by the Board, which must meet or exceed the
independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) corporate governance standards. The Governance Guidelines further provide that each of the Audit Committee,
Governance/Nominating Committee, and Compensation Committee be composed entirely of independent directors.
In connection with the determination of director independence, the Governance/Nominating Committee reviewed the categorical standards together with other applicable legal
requirements and the rules of the NYSE. The Governance/Nominating Committee also reviewed information compiled from the responses to questionnaires completed by each nominee
for director, information derived from our corporate and financial records, information available from public records, and information received from other relevant parties. Following
this review, the Governance/Nominating Committee delivered a report to the Board, and the Board made its determination of director independence.
As a result of this review, the Board affirmatively determined that each nominee for director other than Mr. Case is independent under the categorical standards adopted by the Board,
applicable legal requirements, and the rules of the NYSE. Mr. Case is considered a management director because of his position as our Chief Executive Officer.
In determining that each of the non-management directors is independent, the Board also considered the following relationships that it deemed were immaterial to such
director’s independence:
•

With respect to Mr. Knight, Mr. Campbell, and Ms. Santona, the Board considered that, in the ordinary course of business, Aon has sold services to, or received services from, a
company or other entity at which the director is an employee and the amount that we received from or paid to the entity in any of the previous three fiscal years was below the
greater of $1 million or two percent (2%) of that entity’s annual revenue; and

•

With respect to Mr. Knight, Ms. Francis, Mr. Notebaert, General Myers and Ms. Santona, the Board considered that Aon or certain of its affiliates made charitable contributions in
2019 to organizations in which the director or the director’s spouse was an officer, director, or trustee. In each case, the amount that we contributed was below the greater of
$1 million or two percent (2%) of that organization’s consolidated gross revenue.
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Board of Directors and Committees
The Board met seven times in 2019 and acted by unanimous written consent on one occasion. All nominees for director who served as a director in 2019 attended at least 75% of the
total meetings of the Board and committees of the Board on which they served.
In accordance with NYSE rules and the Governance Guidelines, non-management directors meet regularly in executive session without management. Mr. Knight chairs these
executive sessions.
The Board has five standing committees: the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Finance Committee, the Governance/Nominating Committee and the Organization and
Compensation Committee. The Board has also established the Compliance Sub-Committee as a standing sub-committee of the Audit Committee.

Executive Committee
When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee is empowered to exercise the power and authority in the management of the business and affairs of Aon as would be
exercised by the Board, subject to certain exceptions. The Executive Committee acted by unanimous written consent on four occasions in 2019.

Audit Committee
The primary purposes of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board with the oversight of: (i) the integrity of Aon’s financial statements and financial reporting process; (ii) Aon’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and ethics programs established by management and the Board; (iii) the engagement of Aon’s independent auditor, and its
qualifications, independence and performance; (iv) subject to the provisions of Irish law, the appointment and performance of Aon’s statutory auditor as required under Irish law; and
(v) the performance of Aon’s internal audit function. In discharging this role, the Audit Committee is authorized to retain outside counsel or other experts as it deems appropriate to
carry out its duties and responsibilities.
The Board has also delegated to the Audit Committee the primary responsibility for the oversight of the Company’s risk management. The charter of the Audit Committee provides that
the Audit Committee will discuss guidelines and policies with respect to the Company’s risk assessment and risk management, including the major financial risk exposures facing the
Company and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures. The Audit Committee also has primary responsibility for oversight of cybersecurity risk and
engages in regular discussion with management regarding cybersecurity risk mitigation and incident management. The Audit Committee also has general oversight responsibility for the
Company’s legal, regulatory, and ethics policies and programs and annually reviews the adequacy of those policies and programs, including Aon’s Code of Business Conduct. In
addition, the Audit Committee periodically reviews with management any material correspondence with, or other action by, regulators or governmental agencies.
In 2019, the Audit Committee met nine times. The Board has determined that each of the members of the Audit Committee is independent as defined by the rules of the NYSE and
under the Company’s categorical independence standards, as well as Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. In addition, as required by the rules of the NYSE, the Board has determined
that all of the Audit Committee members are financially literate, and that Mr. Losh, Mr. Campbell, and Mr. Conti are “audit committee financial experts” within the meaning of rules
promulgated by the SEC.
Additional information regarding the Audit Committee’s responsibilities may be found in this proxy statement in the section captioned “Report of the Audit Committee.”

Compliance Sub-Committee
In light of the breadth and number of responsibilities that the Audit Committee must oversee, and the importance of the evaluation and management of risk related to our compliance
programs and policies, the Board formed the Compliance Sub-Committee, a standing sub-committee of the Audit Committee. The primary responsibilities of the Compliance SubCommittee are to: (i) oversee matters of non-financial compliance, including Aon’s implementation of compliance programs, policies, and procedures that are designed to be responsive
to the compliance and regulatory risks facing Aon; (ii) assist the Audit Committee in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for our compliance and ethics programs, policies, and
procedures; and (iii) perform any other duties as directed by the Audit Committee or the Board. The Compliance Sub-Committee reports regularly to the Audit Committee and the Board
regarding its activities.
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Each member of the Compliance Sub-Committee is independent as defined in the independence standards of the NYSE. The Compliance Sub-Committee met four times during 2019.

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee is responsible for assisting the Board with monitoring and overseeing Aon’s balance sheet, including Aon’s capital management strategy, capital structure,
investments, returns, and related policies. The Finance Committee also reviews certain proposed mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, and strategic and passive investments in accordance
with policies established by the Board. In addition, the Finance Committee oversees the financial, investment, and actuarial policies and objectives of Aon’s U.S. tax-qualified defined
benefit plans, reviews the investment performance of non-U.S. benefit and retirement plans, and reviews Aon’s major insurance programs.
Each member of the Finance Committee is independent as defined in the independence standards of the NYSE. The Finance Committee met seven times during 2019.

Governance/Nominating Committee
The Governance/Nominating Committee oversees the risks associated with Aon’s overall governance and: (i) identifies and recommends to the Board candidates for service on the
Board; (ii) reviews and recommends the re-nomination of incumbent directors for each annual general meeting; (iii) reviews and recommends Board committee appointments; and
(iv) leads the annual performance evaluation of the Board and its committees. In addition, the Governance/Nominating Committee develops and recommends the Governance
Guidelines to the Board, reviews related party transactions, and annually reviews compliance with share ownership guidelines.
Each member of the Governance/Nominating Committee is independent as defined in the independence standards of the NYSE. The Governance/Nominating Committee met four times
during 2019.

Organization and Compensation Committee
The Organization and Compensation Committee assists the Board in carrying out its overall responsibilities with regard to executive compensation, including oversight of the
determination and administration of our compensation philosophy, policies, programs, and plans for executive officers and non-management directors. The Compensation Committee
annually reviews and determines the compensation of Aon’s executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, subject to the input of the independent members of the Board.
The Compensation Committee consults with the Chief Executive Officer on, and directly approves, the compensation of other executive officers, including special hiring and
severance arrangements.
The Compensation Committee administers the Amended and Restated Aon plc 2011 Incentive Plan (and its predecessor plans) (the “Shareholder-Approved Plan”), including granting
equity (other than awards to the Chief Executive Officer, which awards are approved by the independent members of the Board) and interpreting the Shareholder-Approved Plan, and
has certain settlor responsibilities with respect to our other U.S. employee benefit programs. In addition, the Compensation Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the
Board concerning non-management director compensation and amendments to U.S. employee benefit plans or equity plans. The Compensation Committee reviews and discusses the
compensation disclosures contained in the proxy statement. As part of these duties, the Compensation Committee reviews the risks associated with Aon’s compensation practices,
including an annual review of Aon’s risk assessment of its compensation policies and practices for its employees. The Compensation Committee also reviews and monitors the
Company’s policies and practices with respect to diversity, inclusion, and equal employment opportunity.
Each member of the Compensation Committee is independent as defined in the independence standards of the NYSE. The Compensation Committee met six times and acted by
unanimous consent five times during 2019. Additional information regarding the Compensation Committee’s responsibilities may be found in this proxy statement in the sections
captioned “Compensation Committee Report” and “Compensation Discussion and Analysis.”

Other Corporate Governance Practices
Director Selection and Shareholder Recommendations
The Governance/Nominating Committee will consider shareholder recommendations for director candidates. Recommendations, together with the name and address of the shareholder
making the recommendation, relevant biographical information regarding the proposed candidate, and a description of any arrangement or understanding between
2020 Aon Proxy Statement
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the shareholder and the proposed nominee, should be sent to the Company Secretary. Consistent with the Governance Guidelines, the Governance/Nominating Committee considers a
number of criteria in evaluating director candidates, including professional background, expertise, reputation for integrity, business, finance and management experience, leadership
capabilities, and potential contributions to the Board. The Governance/Nominating Committee also considers whether a potential nominee would satisfy the categorical independence
standards adopted by the Board consistent with the NYSE corporate governance standards.
The Board values diversity as a factor in selecting nominees to serve on the Board and believes that the diversity that exists in its composition provides significant benefits to the Board
and Aon. Although there is no specific policy on diversity, the Governance/Nominating Committee considers the criteria noted above in selecting nominees for director in an effort to
have a Board comprised of members from diverse backgrounds who have a broad spectrum of experience and expertise and a reputation for integrity. Such considerations may include
gender, race, national origin, functional background, executive or professional experience, and international experience. The effectiveness of the nomination process, including the
criteria used for selecting nominees for director, is evaluated by the Board each year as part of its annual self-evaluation process and by the Governance/Nominating Committee as it
evaluates and identifies director candidates.
When a vacancy exists on the Board due to the expansion of the size of the Board or the resignation or retirement of an existing director, the Governance/Nominating Committee
identifies and evaluates potential director nominees. The Governance/Nominating Committee has sole authority to retain and terminate any search firm to be used to identify director
candidates and sole authority to approve such search firm’s fees and other retention terms.
Candidates for director are evaluated using the criteria discussed above and the existing composition of the Board, including its size, structure, backgrounds and areas of expertise of
existing directors, and the number of independent and management directors. The Governance/Nominating Committee also considers the specific needs of the Board as a whole and the
various Board committees. The Governance/Nominating Committee recommends potential director candidates to the full Board, which is responsible for final approval of any director
candidate. This process is the same for director candidates who are recommended by our shareholders.
Recommendations for director candidates to stand for election at the 2021 annual general meeting must be submitted in writing to the Secretary, Aon plc, Metropolitan Building, James
Joyce Street, Dublin 1, Ireland. Recommendations will be forwarded to the Chairman of the Governance/Nominating Committee for review and consideration. For further information,
see “Shareholder Proposals for 2021 Annual General Meeting” on page 61 of this proxy statement.

Communications with the Board of Directors
Shareholders and other interested parties may communicate with the Board by contacting the non-management directors of Aon plc, c/o the Secretary, Metropolitan Building, James
Joyce Street, Dublin 1, Ireland. Alternatively, shareholders and other interested parties may communicate with Aon’s non-management directors via electronic mail to the following
address: corporate.governance@aon.com.
The non-management directors have established procedures for handling communications from shareholders and other interested parties. Communications are distributed to the Chair of
the Governance/Nominating Committee, the full Board, the non-management directors, or to any individual director or directors as appropriate, depending on the facts and
circumstances outlined in the communication. Solicitations, spam, junk mail and mass mailings, resumes and other forms of job inquiries, business solicitations or advertisements, and
frivolous or inappropriate communications will not be forwarded, but will be made available to any non-management director upon request.

Majority Voting
The Articles require that directors be elected by majority vote in uncontested elections. In a contested election, directors will be elected by plurality vote. In addition, the Governance
Guidelines provide that any incumbent director who fails to receive an affirmative majority of the votes cast, in person or by proxy, by shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual
Meeting in an uncontested election (and who is not otherwise removed by ordinary resolution of the shareholders) must immediately offer to tender his or her resignation to the Board.
The Board will then determine, through a process overseen by the Governance/Nominating Committee, whether to accept the resignation, reject the resignation, or take other action. The
Board will act on the recommendation of the Governance/Nominating Committee.
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Share Ownership Guidelines
The Board has adopted Share Ownership Guidelines for Non-Management Directors and Share Ownership Guidelines for Aon’s senior executives. The Share Ownership Guidelines for
Non-Management Directors require each non-management director to hold an investment position in Class A Ordinary Shares equal to five times the annual director retainer and
provide a transition period of five years for non-management directors to achieve the requisite ownership level; provided, however, that each new non-management director is expected
to hold 1,000 Class A Ordinary Shares within the first year of joining the Board. The guidelines serve to increase our non-management directors’ equity stakes in Aon and align Aon’s
non-management directors’ interests more closely with those of Aon’s shareholders. Further information on the Share Ownership Guidelines for Aon’s senior executives can be found in
the section captioned “Compensation Discussion and Analysis.”

Hedging and Pledging Shares
The Board has adopted a policy prohibiting all directors and employees from engaging in short sales, publicly traded options, puts and calls, forward sale contracts, and other swap,
hedging, and derivative transactions relating to our securities. The Board also has adopted a policy prohibiting our executive officers and directors from holding our securities in margin
accounts or pledging our securities as collateral for a loan.

Incentive Repayment Policy and Forfeiture Provisions
The Board has adopted an Incentive Repayment Policy applicable to Aon’s executive officers. Pursuant to the Incentive Repayment Policy, the Board may cancel or require
reimbursement of any incentive payments or equity-based awards received if the incentive payment or equity award was based on the achievement of financial results that are
subsequently restated. If the Board determines that the executive officer engaged in fraud that caused or partially caused the need for the financial restatement, the incentive payment or
equity-based award is required to be forfeited or reimbursed in full. If the restatement was not the result of fraud by the executive officer, the Board may, to the extent allowed under
applicable law, require forfeiture or reimbursement of the amount the incentive payment or equity-based award exceeded the lower amount that would have been made based on the
restated financial results. In addition, beginning with equity-based awards granted in 2019, unvested equity-based awards are subject to forfeiture in the event of a material violation of
the Company’s policies or procedures or a breach of applicable restrictive covenants.

Attendance at Annual General Meeting
The Governance Guidelines provide that directors are expected to attend the annual general meeting. All of our Board members then serving attended our 2019 annual general meeting.
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Security Ownership of Directors and
Executive Officers
The following table sets forth the number of Class A Ordinary Shares beneficially owned as of April 17, 2020 by each of the nominees for director, by each of Aon’s NEOs, and by
Aon’s directors, nominees and executive officers as a group. As used in this proxy statement, beneficially owned means a person has, or may have within 60 days, the sole or shared
power to vote or direct the voting of a security and/or the sole or shared investment power with respect to a security (i.e., the power to dispose or direct the disposition of a security). No
shares held by Aon’s directors or executive officers are pledged as security.
Aggregate Number of
Class A Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned1

Percent of
Class2

Lester B. Knight3

217,482

*

Gregory C. Case4

1,206,977

*

4,220

*

Name
Directors

Jin-Yong Cai
Jeffrey C. Campbell

8,001

*

Fulvio Conti

27,822

*

Cheryl A. Francis

24,674

*

J. Michael Losh5

34,569

*

Richard B. Myers

25,878

*

Richard C. Notebaert

47,409

*

Gloria Santona

35,578

*

Carolyn Y. Woo

26,287

*

Christa Davies

219,571

*

Eric Andersen

123,243

*

Michael O’Connor

123,884

*

0

*

Other NEOs

Peter Lieb
John Bruno
All directors and executive officers as a group (21 persons)

68,684
2,241,239

*

(1)

The directors, NEOs, and all directors and executive officers of Aon combined, have sole voting power and sole investment power over the Class A Ordinary Shares listed,
except as indicated in notes (3), (4), and (5).

(2)

As of April 15, 2020, we had 231,082,482 Class A Ordinary Shares outstanding.

(3)

Includes 85,000 Class A Ordinary Shares that are beneficially owned by the Knight Family Partnership and 124,604 Class A Ordinary Shares owned by Mr. Knight’s spouse.

(4)

Includes 325,604 Class A Ordinary Shares that are beneficially owned in trust.

(5)

Includes 15,203 Class A Ordinary Shares that are beneficially owned in trust.

*

An asterisk indicates that the percentage of Class A Ordinary Shares beneficially owned does not exceed 1% of our outstanding Class A Ordinary Shares.
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Report of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee oversees Aon’s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board. Management has the primary responsibility for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
financial controls, for preparing the financial statements, and for the reporting process. Ernst & Young US, Aon’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2019, is responsible
for expressing opinions on the conformity of Aon’s audited financial statements with generally accepted accounting principles and the effectiveness of Aon’s internal control over
financial reporting.
In this context, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with management and Ernst & Young US the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, as well
as management’s assessment of the effectiveness of Aon’s internal control over financial reporting, and Ernst & Young US’s evaluation of Aon’s internal control over financial
reporting. The Audit Committee has discussed with Ernst & Young US the matters that are required to be discussed by Auditing Standards and the SEC.
In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with Ernst & Young US the independence of that firm from Aon and its management, including the matters in the written disclosures
required by Rule 3526 of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence). The Audit Committee has also
considered whether Ernst & Young US’s provision of non-audit services to Aon is compatible with maintaining Ernst & Young US’s independence. The Audit Committee has
concluded that Ernst & Young US is independent from Aon and its management.
Ernst & Young Ireland, Aon’s statutory auditor under Irish law for 2019, is responsible for expressing opinions on the conformity of Aon’s statutory audited financial statements under
Irish law with the requirements of the Irish Companies Act. The Audit Committee has discussed with Ernst & Young Ireland the matters that are required to be discussed under the
requirements of the Irish Companies Act. The Audit Committee has discussed with Ernst & Young Ireland the independence of that firm from Aon and its management and the Audit
Committee has concluded that Ernst & Young Ireland is independent.
The Audit Committee discussed with Aon’s internal auditors, Ernst & Young US and Ernst & Young Ireland, the overall scope and plans for their audits. The Audit Committee meets
with the internal and independent auditors, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their examinations, their evaluations of Aon’s internal controls, and the
overall quality of Aon’s financial reporting.
In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, and subject to the limitations on the role and responsibilities of the Audit Committee referred to above, the Audit
Committee recommended to the Board (and the Board has approved) that the audited financial statements be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019 for filing with the SEC. The Audit Committee has approved, and the Board has requested that shareholders ratify, the selection of Ernst & Young US as Aon’s
independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2020 and Ernst & Young Ireland as Aon’s statutory auditor under Irish law (as is required under the
Irish Companies Act) until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.
J. Michael Losh, Chairman
Jeffrey C. Campbell
Fulvio Conti

Richard B. Myers
Gloria Santona
Carolyn Y. Woo

Auditor Fees
Audit Fees. Fees for audit services totaled approximately $17.4 million in 2019 and $16.6 million for 2018. For both years, audit fees included services associated with the annual audit,
including fees related to Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, the reviews of Aon’s documents filed with the SEC, and substantially all statutory audits required
domestically and internationally.
Audit-Related Fees. Fees for audit-related services totaled approximately $1.5 million in both of 2019 and 2018. Audit-related fees include services such as employee benefit plan
audits, other attestation services, due diligence in connection with acquisitions, and accounting consultations not included in audit fees.
Tax Fees. Fees for tax services, including tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning totaled approximately $1.4 million in 2019 and $3.0 million for 2018.
All Other Fees. Fees for all other services not included above totaled $200,000 in 2019 and $400,000 for 2018. The fees for in this category pertain to permissible services not related to
financial reporting.
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Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
The Audit Committee pre-approves all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm. These services may include audit
services, audit-related services, tax services, and other services. Each pre-approval provides details regarding the particular service or category of service to be provided. The Audit
Committee requires that the independent registered public accounting firm and management report on the actual fees charged by the independent registered public accounting firm for
each category of service at Audit Committee meetings held during the year.
The Audit Committee may pre-approve engagements either on a case-by-case basis or on a category basis. The Audit Committee grants pre-approvals for certain categories of services
at the start of each year which are applicable for the year. In considering these pre-approvals, the Audit Committee reviews a description of the scope of services falling within each
category and approves budgetary limits for each category. The Audit Committee acknowledges that circumstances may arise throughout the year that require the engagement of the
independent registered public accounting firm to provide additional services not contemplated in the Audit Committee’s initial pre-approval process. In those circumstances, the Audit
Committee requires that specific pre-approval be obtained for any audit or permitted non-audit service that is not included in an approved category, or for which total fees are expected
to exceed the relevant budgetary limits. The Audit Committee also requires specific pre-approval be obtained for any services in the other services category.
The Audit Committee has delegated pre-approval authority to the Chairman of the Audit Committee for those instances when pre-approval is needed prior to a scheduled Audit
Committee meeting. Such pre-approvals are reported to the Audit Committee at the next scheduled Audit Committee meeting.
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Principal Holders of Voting Securities
As of April 17, 2020, the beneficial owners of 5% or more of Aon’s Class A Ordinary Shares entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting and known to the Company were:

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Number of Class A
Ordinary Shares

Percent
of Class(1)

Massachusetts Financial Services Corporation
111 Huntington Avenue
Boston, MA 02199

20,978,2252

9.08%

The Vanguard Group
100 Vanguard Blvd.
Malvern, PA 19355

18,204,6293

7.88%

BlackRock, Inc.
55 East 52nd Street
New York, NY 10055

16,623,8984

7.19%

(1)

As of April 17, 2020, we had 231,082,482 Class A Ordinary Shares outstanding.

(2)

Based upon information contained in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2020, pursuant to Rule 13d-1(b) of the Exchange Act. Massachusetts Financial
Services Corporation is a parent holding company and has: (a) sole voting power as to 19,752,553 Class A Ordinary Shares; (b) shared voting power as to no Class A Ordinary
Shares; (c) sole dispositive power as to 20,978,225 Class A Ordinary Shares; and (d) shared dispositive power as to no Class A Ordinary Shares.

(3)

Based upon information contained in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020, pursuant to Rule 13d-1(b) of the Exchange. The Vanguard Group is a
registered investment advisor and has (a) sole voting power as to 363,721 Class A Ordinary Shares; (b) shared voting power as to 71,599 Class A Ordinary Shares; (c) sole
dispositive power as to 17,790,414 Class A Ordinary Shares; and (d) shared dispositive power as to 414,215 Class A Ordinary Shares.

(4)

Based upon information contained in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 5, 2020, pursuant to Rule 13d-1(b) of the Exchange Act. BlackRock, Inc. is a parent
holding company and has: (a) sole voting power as to 14,385,047 Class A Ordinary Shares; (b) shared voting power as to no Class A Ordinary Shares; (c) sole dispositive power
as to 16,623,898 Class A Ordinary Shares; and (d) shared dispositive power as to no Class A Ordinary Shares.
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Proposal 2–Advisory Resolution on Executive Compensation
The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that shareholders vote “FOR” advisory approval of the compensation of Aon’s
NEOs.
What am I voting on?
In accordance with applicable law and Section 14A of the Exchange Act, we are providing shareholders with the opportunity to vote on an advisory resolution, commonly known as
“say on pay,” approving Aon’s executive compensation as reported in this proxy statement.
At our 2019 annual general meeting, we provided shareholders with the opportunity to vote on an advisory resolution regarding the executive compensation of our NEOs as disclosed in
the proxy statement for the 2019 annual general meeting, and shareholders approved the proposal by a large majority.
We encourage shareholders to read the Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 24 of this proxy statement, which describes in detail how our compensation policies
and procedures operate and are designed to achieve our compensation objectives of (1) directly linking the compensation of our NEOs to our performance, and (2) aligning the financial
interests of our NEOs with those of our shareholders, as well as the Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal Years 2019, 2018, and 2017, and other related tabular and narrative
disclosures beginning on page 36 of this proxy statement, which provide detailed information on the compensation of our NEOs.
The Board and the Compensation Committee believe that the policies and procedures articulated in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis are effective in achieving our
compensation objectives, and that the design of our compensation program and the compensation awarded to our NEOs fulfill these objectives.
The form of shareholder resolution for this proposal is set forth under the heading “Shareholder Resolutions for 2020 Annual General Meeting” on page 68 of this proxy statement.

Is this vote binding on the Board?
As this vote is advisory, it will not be binding upon the Board or the Compensation Committee, and neither the Board nor the Compensation Committee will be required to take any
action (or refrain from taking any action) as a result of the outcome of the vote on this proposal. The Compensation Committee will review and consider the outcome of the vote in
connection with the ongoing review of Aon’s executive compensation programs.
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Compensation Committee Report
The Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board of Aon has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b)
of Regulation S-K and set forth in this proxy statement.
Based on its review and discussions with management, the Organization and Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be
included in this proxy statement and incorporated into Aon’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.
This Report is provided by the Organization and Compensation Committee, which is composed entirely of the following independent directors:
Richard C. Notebaert, Chairman

Cheryl A. Francis

Jin-Yong Cai

Richard B. Myers

Jeffrey C. Campbell

Carolyn Y. Woo
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis (“CD&A”) describes our executive compensation program for our NEOs for 2019, who are listed below. We recommend that you read this
section in conjunction with the executive compensation tables and corresponding footnotes that follow, as it provides context for the amounts shown in the tables and the
footnote disclosures.
Name

Role

Gregory C. Case

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

Christa Davies

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Eric Andersen(1)

Co-President

Michael O’Connor(2)

Co-President

Peter Lieb

Special Legal Advisor to CEO; Former Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Company Secretary

John Bruno(3)

Chief Operating Officer; Former Chief Operations Officer

(1)
(2)
(3)

On February 24, 2020, Mr. Andersen was named President of the Company.
On February 20, 2020, Mr. O’Connor notified the Company of his decision to step down from his position as Co-President of the Company, effective immediately.
Mr. O’Connor will remain at the Company for a transition period to be determined.
On February 24, 2020, Mr. Bruno was named Chief Operating Officer of the Company.

Executive Summary
Who We Are
Aon is a leading global professional services firm providing a broad range of risk, retirement and health solutions. Our approximately 50,000 colleagues in 120 countries empower
results for clients by using proprietary data and analytics to deliver insights intended to reduce volatility and improve performance.

2019 Business Highlights
In assessing our performance, we focus on four non-GAAP metrics that we communicate to shareholders: organic revenue growth, expansion of adjusted operating margins, increase in
adjusted diluted earnings per share, and increased free cash flow. These non-GAAP metrics should be viewed in addition to, not instead of, our consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto. A reconciliation of these non-GAAP metrics to the most directly comparable GAAP in metrics is set forth in Appendix A to this proxy statement.
In 2019, we continued to deliver against these four metrics:
•

Total revenue growth was 2% and organic revenue growth was 6%, driven by growth across every major solution line, with particular strength in Reinsurance Solutions and
Commercial Risk Solutions.

•

Operating margin was 19.7% and adjusted operating margin was 27.5%, which reflects record adjusted operating margin driven by organic revenue growth of 6%, operational
improvement, and $169 million of incremental savings from restructuring and other operational improvement initiatives.

•

Earnings per share was $6.37 and adjusted diluted earnings per share was $9.17, demonstrating strong operational performance and effective capital management, highlighted by
$2.0 billion of share repurchase during 2019, partially offset by an unfavorable impact from foreign currency translation and a higher effective tax rate.

•

Cash flow from operations was $1,835 million and free cash flow was $1,610 million an increase of $164 million, or 11%, driven by strong operational improvement and a $15
million decrease in capital expenditures, partially offset by approximately $130 million of net cash payments related to certain litigation settlements.

Performing to these metrics allows us to continue to execute on our goals of strategically investing in long-term growth, improving return on invested capital, and effectively
allocating capital.
During 2019, we returned approximately $2.4 billion in excess capital to our shareholders, including $2.0 billion in share repurchases and $410 million in dividends, which highlights
our strong cash flow generation and effective allocation of capital. During Mr. Case’s leadership, which began in April 2005, our average annual total shareholder return has been 18%,
compared to the return of the benchmark S&P 500 of 7% and 11% for our direct peer averages (Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., Brown & Brown, Inc., Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
and Willis Towers Watson Public Limited Company). We believe we are well positioned to create long-term value by improving our growth profile and operating performance and
generating strong free cash flow.
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We compensate our senior executives through incentive programs that measure both long-term and short-term performance. Our long-term incentive program (described in this CD&A
under “Leadership Performance Program Under Our Shareholder-Approved Plan”) is based on adjusted cumulative earnings per share (a measure driven by operational performance and
capital management) across overlapping three-year performance periods. Our short-term incentive program (described in this CD&A under “Annual Incentive Awards Under Our
Shareholder-Approved Plan”) is based on adjusted operating income, a measure driven by operating margin and organic revenue growth.
We achieved strong results against these two metrics, which were the key performance measures under our 2019 annual and 2017-2019 long-term incentive compensation programs. Set
forth below are the results against these metrics as well as the results against their GAAP comparative metrics:
•

$2,169M Operating Income; $3,025M Adjusted Operating Income, an increase of 12% year-over-year

•

$12.19 Cumulative EPS; $23.80 Adjusted Cumulative EPS for 2017-2019; $21.41 LPP Adjusted Cumulative EPS for 2016-2018, as compared to target Adjusted
Cumulative EPS of $17.95

Because our short-range or long-range corporate planning may dictate a change to the metrics we use over time, we expect to continue reassessing the metrics annually.

Features of Our Executive Compensation Program
The following table provides an overview of our compensation program elements for our NEOs. The guiding philosophy underlying our executive compensation program is to provide a
fair, flexible, and market-based total compensation package that is meaningfully tied to the Company’s short- and long-term performance and aligned with the interests of
our shareholders.
Element

Description

Objectives

Fixed

Base Salary

Fixed amount of compensation for services provided during
the year.

PerformanceContingent

Annual Incentive
Compensation

Performance-based annual incentive determined and paid
based on achievement of specified annual corporate
performance objectives and individual review of executives’
contributions to business and financial results, delivery of key
strategic initiatives, and personal leadership. Annual
incentives, if paid, are generally made under our shareholderapproved 2011 Incentive Plan (our “Shareholder-Approved
Plan”) in a combination of 65% cash and 35% in restricted
share units that vest over a three-year period.
Performance-based long-term incentive determined and paid
under our Leadership Performance Program. LPP awards are
issued under our Shareholder-Approved Plan in the form of
performance share units that vest upon achievement of
specific corporate performance objectives over a three-year
performance period.

Intended to provide our executives with a predictable level
of income; determined in view of job responsibilities,
experience, contractual commitments, individual
performance, and market pay data.
Intended to serve as a vehicle for recognizing annual results
and performance, while the portion payable in time-vested
restricted share units promotes retention and provides value
tied to long-term Company performance.

Long-Term Incentive
Compensation

Intended to encourage and reward long-term performance by
giving executives a stake in the Company’s long-term
financial success, and promotes retention.
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Element
Benefit Plans

Severance

Other

Description

Retirement and Health and Standard 401(k) plan and health and welfare benefits as provided to nonWelfare Benefits
executive full-time employees. We also offer a nonqualified supplemental
savings plan to eligible employees who exceed statutory U.S. Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) limits for participation in our 401(k) plan, as well
as a nonqualified plan through which eligible employees may defer receipt
of their salary and/or annual incentive payments.
Severance and Change in Severance benefits payable upon certain qualifying terminations of
Control Benefits
employment without cause or with specified good reason, including in
connection with a change in control.

Certain Other Benefits

Housing, tax equalization, and various cost of living payments made to
certain NEOs in connection with their relocation to London for the
Company’s redomestication; limited personal use of Company aircraft;
certain NEOs also receive annual health screenings, a supplemental
insurance program, reimbursement for club dues, legal services, relocation
benefits, and car allowances.

Objectives
Intended to provide competitive benefits to
attract and retain talented employees.

Intended to provide a temporary income
stream following termination of employment
without cause or with specified good reason
and, in the case of change in control
protection, to ensure continuity and
objectivity of management during a change in
control event.
Intended to recognize and make NEOs whole
for expenses incurred in connection with the
Company’s U.K. redomestication; also
intended to attract and retain committed
employees and allow them to focus on
job duties.

Our Pay for Performance Orientation and Executive Compensation Philosophy
The core principle of our executive compensation program continues to be pay for performance, as we continue towards our goal of being the leading global professional services firm
focused on risk, health, and retirement. That core principle dictates that performance-based pay elements (which constitute the bulk of our NEOs’ total direct compensation) will not be
earned or paid unless our shareholders also benefit. For 2019, performance-based compensation comprised approximately 90% of the total direct compensation for Mr. Case and
averaged approximately 77% of the total direct compensation for our other NEOs:

* Mr. Lieb, who received $1.2 million in fixed compensation and no performance-based compensation for 2019, is excluded from the chart immediately above because he received a
special $1.8 million transition payment in 2019 in connection with his resignation as Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Company Secretary and transition to Special
Legal Advisor to our CEO.
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The “performance-based” pay component of the above graphs is the sum of (1) the cash portion of the NEO’s bonus paid for 2019 performance, plus (2) the target value of all
performance-based equity awards granted to the NEO for 2019 performance or during 2019. The “fixed” pay component is the NEO’s 2019 base salary. (Mr. Lieb is not included in
these calculations, in connection with his transition to a non-executive officer role during 2019.) For our NEOs other than Mr. Case, the actual performance-based amount of total direct
compensation ranged from 72% to 82%. Please refer to the Summary Compensation Table below for complete disclosure of the total compensation paid to our NEOs serving in that
capacity during the prior three years.
In addition to our focus on pay-for-performance, our compensation program is complemented by several practices designed to align with the long-term interests of our shareholders:
Share Ownership Guidelines

Hedging and Pledging
Policies
Independent Compensation Consultant
Clawback Policy and
Forfeiture Provision

Our share ownership guidelines are designed to increase executives’ equity stakes in Aon and to align executives’
interests more closely with those of our shareholders. The guidelines provide that our CEO should attain an investment
position in Class A Ordinary Shares equal to six times annual base salary and each other executive officer, including the
remainder of our NEOs, should attain an investment position in Class A Ordinary Shares equal to three times annual base
salary. The guidelines also establish equity retention rules generally requiring that net shares received through the
exercise of share options, the vesting of restricted share units, and the vesting of performance share units are retained until
the required investment position is achieved. Class A Ordinary Shares counted toward these guidelines include any shares
owned outright, shares owned through an Aon-sponsored savings or retirement plan, shares purchased through an Aonsponsored employee share purchase plan, shares obtained through the exercise of share options, and shares issued upon
the vesting of restricted share units or performance share units. Each of our NEOs held the requisite number of shares
under the guidelines as of December 31, 2019.
Mr. Case has agreed to maintain an investment position in Class A Ordinary Shares in excess of those required under our
share ownership guidelines. In his employment agreement, he agreed to maintain an investment position equal to 20 times
his annual base salary.
We have a policy prohibiting all employees, executive officers, and directors from engaging in short sales, publicly traded
options, puts and calls, forward sale contracts, and other swap, hedging, and derivative transactions relating to our
securities. We also maintain a policy prohibiting our executive officers and directors from holding our securities in
margin accounts or pledging our securities as collateral for a loan.
The Organization and Compensation Committee (referred to throughout this CD&A and the accompanying compensation
tables as the “Compensation Committee”) retains an independent compensation consultant to provide advice and market
data to bolster the Compensation Committee’s decision-making.
We have adopted an Incentive Repayment Policy applicable to our executive officers. Pursuant to the Incentive
Repayment Policy, the Board may cancel or require reimbursement of any incentive or equity-based award received if
such award was based on the achievement of financial results that are subsequently restated. If the Board determines that
the executive officer engaged in fraud that caused or partially caused the need for the financial restatement, the incentive
payment or equity-based award is required to be forfeited or reimbursed in full. If the restatement was not the result of
fraud by the executive officer, the Board may, to the extent allowed under applicable law, require forfeiture or
reimbursement of the amount by which the incentive payment or equity-based award exceeded the lower amount that
would have been paid based on the restated financial results. In addition, beginning with equity-based awards granted
in 2019, unvested equity-based awards are subject to forfeiture in the event of a material violation of the Company’s
policies or procedures or a breach of applicable restrictive covenants.
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2019 Executive Compensation Highlights
Leadership Performance Program. In early 2020, we settled performance share units granted to our NEOs in 2017 under our twelfth LPP cycle (“LPP 12”). The settlement of those
units in Class A Ordinary Shares was contingent upon achieving adjusted earnings per share of at least $17.15 (threshold performance) over the performance period from
January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2019, and reflects achievement of adjusted earnings per share of $21.41 (after permitted adjustments), which exceeded the target earnings per share of
$17.95. Also in 2019, we granted performance share units under our fourteenth LPP cycle (“LPP 14”) to each of our NEOs (other than Mr. Lieb, who entered into a transition and
separation agreement described below), which are expected to be settled in 2022 contingent upon the Company’s adjusted earnings per share performance over the January 1, 2019 to
December 31, 2021 performance period.
Annual Incentive Compensation. Annual incentives for our NEOs typically are based on a comparison of current year adjusted operating income results against the prior year, as well
as the Compensation Committee’s evaluation of each NEO’s contributions to our business and financial results, delivery of key strategic initiatives, and personal leadership. While our
NEOs were eligible for annual incentive awards for 2019, with a view toward total compensation and maintaining alignment with our pay-for-performance executive compensation
philosophy, Mr. Case and the other NEOs requested— prior to the determination of the funding status of the incentive pool for 2019 and prior to any individual determinations by the
Board of the Compensation Committee—that they receive no annual incentive awards for fiscal 2019. The Board (for Mr. Case) and the Compensation Committee (for the other NEOs)
accepted this request. The annual incentive funding that would have been allocated to our CEO and other NEOs was instead reserved and allocated for the Company’s broad-based
annual incentive bonus pool.

The Executive Compensation Process
Process of Determining Executive Compensation
Management assists the Compensation Committee in developing and administering our executive and director compensation programs. Direct responsibilities of management include,
but are not limited to:
•

Recommending executive compensation adjustments and short- and long-term incentive awards and other benefits, where applicable, for executive officers other than our CEO;

•

Providing ongoing review of the effectiveness of our executive compensation programs and alignment of the programs with our business and strategic objectives;

•

Designing and recommending appropriate amendments to our long-term and short-term cash and equity-based incentive plans for executives; and

•

Designing and recommending appropriate amendments to our employee benefit plans.

In the first quarter of 2019, our independent directors evaluated our CEO’s performance and compensation. At that time, the Compensation Committee also evaluated the performance
and reviewed the compensation of other executive officers. During this review, the Compensation Committee approved for each executive officer a target annual incentive for 2019
performance and the specific corporate performance metrics that our performance would be measured against for 2019.
In early 2020, in connection with the Compensation Committee’s annual compensation review, management presented the Compensation Committee with compensation tally sheets
reporting compensation paid for the prior four years and the best-available competitive pay data. The Compensation Committee also reviewed and considered Aon’s overall performance
against targets that were established for 2019. This review culminated in certain compensation decisions made by the Compensation Committee with respect to our executive officers
during the first quarter of 2020, which are described in more detail below.

Relationship with Executive Compensation Consultant
The Compensation Committee retains Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. (“FW Cook”) as its independent compensation consultant. FW Cook provides expertise on various matters coming
before the Compensation Committee. FW Cook is engaged by, and reports directly to, the Compensation Committee, and does not advise management or receive other compensation
from Aon. FW Cook typically participates in all Compensation Committee meetings where executive compensation matters are
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discussed and communicates with the Chair of the Compensation Committee between meetings. During 2019, FW Cook assisted the Compensation Committee by advising on our
compensation philosophy, objectives, and strategy; developing criteria for identification of our peer group for executive and Board compensation and Company performance review
purposes; reviewing management’s design proposals for short-term cash and long-term equity incentive compensation programs; assessing risks arising from our compensation policies
and practices; providing change in control severance calculations for our NEOs in the 2019 annual proxy disclosure; providing compensation data from our peer group proxy and other
disclosures; advising on the terms and conditions of the renewal of employment agreements and transition to employment letters with our senior executive officers; and advising and
providing comments on management’s recommendations regarding executive officers’ annual incentives for 2019 and equity-based awards granted in 2019. Management periodically
retains other consulting firms to provide pay survey data and other non-executive compensation services that may be presented to or reviewed by the Compensation Committee.
The Compensation Committee has assessed the independence of FW Cook pursuant to SEC and NYSE rules and concluded that no conflict of interest exists that would prevent
FW Cook from serving as an independent consultant to the Compensation Committee.

How We Determine Total Compensation
The Compensation Committee generally targets a competitive level and mix of total direct compensation elements using market data as a reference point. For 2019, the Compensation
Committee did not use a specific formula or comparative percentile objectives or target to determine total compensation, individual components of compensation, or the relative mix of
pay components, and the establishment of compensation levels in 2019 was not a mechanical process. Rather, the Compensation Committee used its judgment and business experience.
The Compensation Committee’s overall intent was to manage the various elements of total compensation together so that the emphasis of the Company’s compensation program was on
its variable components of pay, including long-term equity awards and annual bonus awards that fluctuate based on Aon’s performance.

Use of Tally Sheets
The Compensation Committee regularly reviews compensation tally sheets. The tally sheets assign dollar amounts to each component of the executive’s compensation, including base
salary, annual incentives (target and actual), long-term incentives granted and outstanding, employee benefits (including health care and qualified and nonqualified retirement plans),
relocation benefits including income tax equalization, perquisites, and potential change in control severance payments. The tally sheets are presented to the Compensation Committee to
help ensure that it is aware of all rewards components and the value of such elements when making compensation decisions.

Involvement of Mr. Case in the Compensation Process
Each year, the Compensation Committee approves all elements of compensation for our NEOs and other executive officers (other than Mr. Case). These decisions are typically made
during the annual compensation review process conducted in the first quarter of the year. The Compensation Committee solicits certain recommendations from Mr. Case and our Chief
People Officer (formerly known as our Chief Human Resources Officer).
Mr. Case recommends to the Compensation Committee the equity award, annual incentive payment, and base salary adjustments, if any, for the executive officers who report directly to
him. He has direct knowledge of the contributions made to Aon by these executive officers and he shares this knowledge with the Compensation Committee. Mr. Case supports his
recommendations by providing performance evaluations for his direct reports.
During the annual review process, our Chief People Officer and the Chair of the Compensation Committee work together on Mr. Case’s annual evaluation report, which summarizes
Mr. Case’s qualitative and quantitative performance. The report is considered, along with other factors (including the Compensation Committee’s own assessment of Mr. Case’s
performance, relevant market data, and Aon’s overall performance), in determining Mr. Case’s compensation.
The Compensation Committee has the ultimate authority to make compensation decisions for our NEOs and other executive officers except for Mr. Case, whose compensation is
approved by the independent directors of the Board. The Compensation Committee discusses its preliminary compensation decisions with the independent members of the Board who
do not serve
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on the Compensation Committee. This process garners additional input from those directors regarding the executives’ performance. The sharing of performance review information also
aids the directors in carrying out their succession planning responsibilities. After considering input from those directors, the Compensation Committee makes its final determinations.
Mr. Case, together with our Chief People Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, makes recommendations to the Compensation Committee relating to the corporate performance targets
to be established under Aon’s annual incentive and long-term equity incentive programs. The Compensation Committee reviews such recommendations with FW Cook and reserves the
ultimate authority to set such targets and to determine whether such goals were achieved.

Result of Advisory Vote by Shareholders on Our “Say on Pay” Proposal
The Compensation Committee considered the results of the advisory vote by shareholders on the “say on pay” proposal presented to our shareholders at our 2019 annual general meeting
of shareholders. As reported in our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 25, 2019, approximately 93% of shareholder votes cast at that meeting were voted in
support of the compensation program offered to our NEOs. Accordingly, the Compensation Committee made no changes to our executive compensation programs as a result of
such vote.

Review of Compensation Policies and Practices
We believe that we maintain an appropriate level of prudence associated with our compensation programs and will continue to do so. We engage in a process to evaluate whether our
executive and broad-based compensation programs contribute to unnecessary risk-taking, which includes an assessment by the Compensation Committee’s independent consultant of
whether these programs create material risk. We have concluded that the risks arising from these programs are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.
In the first quarter of 2020, FW Cook assessed our executive compensation policies and practices and also concluded that they do not motivate imprudent risk-taking.

Internal Pay Relationships
In determining an executive officer’s target annual incentive or long-term performance award value, the Compensation Committee will, from time to time, consider internal pay
relationships. However, the Compensation Committee has not adopted a broad internal pay equity policy pursuant to which each executive officer’s compensation, or one or more
components thereof, is related to or benchmarked against the compensation of other executive officers.

Tax Deductibility of Executive Compensation
Prior to the passage of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “TCJA”) on December 22, 2017, Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
generally disallowed a tax deduction to publicly held companies for compensation paid to certain covered executive officers in excess of $1 million per officer, unless such
compensation qualified as “performance-based.” Under the TCJA, the performance-based exception has been repealed with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017,
subject to a special rule that “grandfathers” certain compensation paid pursuant to a written binding contract in effect as of November 2, 2017 that is not materially modified thereafter.
As a result of the TCJA, most of the compensation paid to our NEOs in excess of $1 million per officer in a year will not be deductible. While the TCJA may limit the deductibility of
compensation paid to our NEOs, the Compensation Committee will—consistent with past practice—retain flexibility to design compensation programs that are in the best long-term
interests of the Company and our shareholders.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
During 2019, the Compensation Committee was composed of Mr. Notebaert (Chair), Mr. Cai, Mr. Campbell, Ms. Francis, General Myers, and Dr. Woo. No member of the
Compensation Committee was, during 2019 or previously, an officer or employee of Aon or any of its subsidiaries. In addition, during 2019, there were no Compensation Committee
interlocks required to be disclosed.

Analysis of Key 2019 Compensation Decisions
Peer Group
The Compensation Committee selects our executive compensation peer group based on a process that considers objective criteria including: industry segment; revenues, market-cap
value, and employee head count; business complexity; and global footprint. We also consider peers of our direct peers (“peers of peers”) and proxy-advisor peer groups. Our goal is to
have relevant market-data to inform our decisions on pay levels and practices. As such, we strive for a sample that is balanced with larger and smaller companies in a comparable range,
and to have continuity through an annual review process.
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The defined criteria used to establish our peer group includes global financial services industry companies or major consulting firms with which we compete for executive talent and/or
financial capital that are between one-third and three times our size in average market capitalization (calculated over the most recent eight quarters to reduce volatility), between onefourth and four times our size in trailing four-quarter revenues, and with at least one-half our headcount or revenues per employee that are between one-half and two times our revenues
per employee. No changes were made as a result of the annual review with FW Cook in 2018.
In 2019, we again reviewed our peer group with FW Cook and concluded that The Allstate Corporation should be removed, while BlackRock and IHS Markit should be added. These
changes reflect our objective selection criteria and maintain appropriate relevance and size balance. Our 2019 and 2020 peer group members are listed below:
2020 Peer Group
Accenture plc
A.J. Gallagher & Co.
Bank of New York Mellon
BlackRock
Cognizant Technology Solutions Corp.
DXC Technology

Fidelity National Information Services
Fiserv, Inc.
IHS Markit
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
Moody’s Corporation
Morgan Stanley

Accenture plc
A.J. Gallagher & Co.
The Allstate Corporation
Bank of New York Mellon
Cognizant Technology Solutions Corp.

DXC Technology
Fidelity National Information Services
Fiserv, Inc.
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
Moody’s Corporation

Northern Trust Corporation
S&P Global
State Street
Willis Towers Watson plc

2019 Peer Group
Morgan Stanley
Northern Trust Corporation
S&P Global
State Street
Willis Towers Watson plc

Base Salary
Using the peer group and executive compensation review processes outlined above, the Compensation Committee annually considers and reviews salaries for our executive officers.
While base salaries for our senior executives are adjusted infrequently, they may be occasionally adjusted to, among other things, recognize changes in job responsibilities or to bring
the fixed component of an executive’s total compensation in line with his or her peers at the Company or the industry generally. Where approved, base salary adjustments generally take
effect on April 1. In 2019, the Compensation Committee approved increases of $100,000 (from $900,000 to $1,000,000) to the base salaries of each of Ms. Davies, Mr. Andersen, and
Mr. O’Connor, and an increase of $100,000 (from $850,000 to $950,000) for Mr. Bruno. The base salaries for our other NEOs were not adjusted in 2019.

Leadership Performance Program under Our Shareholder-Approved Plan
During the first quarter of 2019, we granted performance share units to our executive officers, including each NEO, pursuant to LPP 14 (performance period of 2019-2021), a sub-plan
of our Shareholder-Approved Plan. During the first quarter of 2020, we determined our actual levels of achievement under LPP 12 (performance period of 2017-2019).
LPP 14. This is our fourteenth layer of consecutive three-year performance cycles for long-term incentive awards granted to our most senior leaders. It is intended to further strengthen
the relationship between capital accumulation for our executives and long-term financial performance of the Company and increasing shareholder value. The performance share units
awarded under LPP 14 are payable (to the extent earned) in the form of Class A Ordinary Shares. The nominal value of the awards was determined and approved by the Compensation
Committee. The number of target performance share units was calculated on the date of grant based on that day’s closing price for Class A Ordinary Shares on the NYSE. The
performance share units under LPP 14 will be earned and settled in a range of 0% (if the threshold level is not achieved) to 200% of the target number of shares based on the Company’s
cumulative adjusted EPS over the three-year performance period.
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The performance results for LPP 14 will be measured against three-year publicly reported adjusted cumulative EPS growth rate, subject to limited adjustments set forth in the program
documentation at the beginning of the three-year period. The adjustments are intended to exclude the impact of unusual or infrequently occurring items, to provide a target that, while
challenging, eliminates the impact of certain events and circumstances outside of the control of the relevant executive officers. The Compensation Committee’s selection under LPP 14
of the three-year performance period and cumulative adjusted EPS financial performance metric is intended to provide the award recipients a reasonable period within which to achieve
and sustain what are intended to be challenging long-term growth objectives. The Compensation Committee believes adjusted EPS is a more effective measure of Company performance
for purposes of motivating executive performance than against EPS calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP, as the adjusted measure provides a target that is within the executives’
control and area of accountability. Further, the Company believes that adjusted EPS provides a perspective on the Company’s ongoing core operating performance that is consistent with
how shareholders measure our success and that creates transparency and clarity for participants.
In determining the individual awards under LPP 14, the Compensation Committee considered internal pay relationships, the award recipient’s compensation mix, and total direct
compensation.
LPP 12. In early 2020, we determined the actual achievement under LPP 12. The performance period for LPP 12 ended on December 31, 2019.
LPP 12—Performance Share Units (Performance Period 1/1/2017—12/31/2019)

Metric
Cumulative Adjusted EPS

Threshold
(50% Payout)
$
17.16

Target
(100% Payout)
$
17.95
Actual

Maximum
(200% Payout)
$
19.76
$
21.41

For LPP 12, the cumulative adjusted EPS goals from continuing operations ranged from a threshold level of $17.16, below which no payout would occur, to $19.76 or higher, which
would yield shares equal to 200% of the target number. A result of $17.95 in cumulative adjusted EPS from continuing operations would have yielded shares equal to 100% of the target
number. This target represented a 5.6% decrease over the EPS target for the eleventh cycle of our LPP established for the performance period from 2016 through 2018 (“LPP 11”). The
reason for the decrease in EPS target for LPP 11 is primarily due to the Company’s divestiture of our benefits administration and business process outsourcing platform in 2017. Our
actual cumulative adjusted EPS from continuing operations for the three-year period of 2017-2019 (after permitted adjustments, as described below) was $21.41, resulting in a payout at
200% of target.
The adjusted EPS from continuing operations results for LPP 12 include adjustments detailed by the plan governing LPP 12 and approved by the Compensation Committee. For each
year of the performance period associated with LPP 12, adjustments to EPS from continuing operations were approved by the Compensation Committee to address the impact of the
disposition of National Flood Services and restructuring savings. Each NEO received a distribution under LPP 12.
We do not pay dividends or dividend equivalents on performance share units.
LPP Adjustments for Restructuring. We consider underlying restructuring charges, as well as the resulting savings, to be unusual in nature and infrequently occurring and, therefore,
consider these transactions for adjustments when assessing LPP performance. Since the inception of our restructuring plan, we excluded each respective year’s incremental restructuring
savings from reported adjusted EPS for the purposes of LPP 11 (2016-2018), LPP 12 (2017-2019), and LPP 13 (2018-2020). For LPP 12 and LPP 13, the original performance targets
were set based on a series of assumptions related to the impact of our restructuring plan, with acknowledgement that the Compensation Committee retains discretion to adjust the stated
performance to address deviations from expectations, in accordance with LPP rules. In 2019, the Compensation Committee determined that, given the underlying nature of the
restructuring savings and the fact that the benefits are realized in multiple subsequent years, it was appropriate to adjust out the majority of the cumulative savings, rather than the
incremental savings, on a go-forward basis. No further adjustments will be made to LPP 11 (2016-2018), as it has already vested, or LPP 14 (2019-2021), as full knowledge of the
impact of the restructuring savings was considered when assessing performance targets.
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Annual Incentive Awards under Our Shareholder-Approved Plan
Shareholder-Approved Plan. Under our Shareholder-Approved Plan, the Compensation Committee annually approves the framework for our annual incentive compensation plan,
including the applicable Aon-wide performance metric and minimum achievement threshold against that performance metric. If the metric is not achieved, no annual bonuses are
payable under our Shareholder-Approved Plan. If the minimum achievement threshold is met, our Shareholder-Approved Plan allows for the payment of current-year annual incentives
to our executive officers up to a cap of the lesser of $10 million or the maximum annual incentive otherwise established by the Compensation Committee for each executive officer.
For 2019, the Compensation Committee established a cap of 300% of each NEO’s target annual incentive.
In the first quarter of 2019, the Compensation Committee set 2019 annual incentive eligibility for our NEOs. For each NEO, annual incentive eligibility was set as a target percentage of
the executive’s base salary at year end (and, for Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb, their annual foreign service allowance received in connection with their relocation to London). The target
annual incentives for each of our NEOs are shown in the table below:

NEO
Case
Davies
Andersen
O’Connor
Lieb
Bruno

2019 Target Annual
Incentive
3,000,000
1,680,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
805,000
950,000

$
$
$
$
$
$

Our Shareholder-Approved Plan does not provide guidelines or formulas for determining the actual annual incentives payable to our executive officers once the metric is achieved. If the
metric is achieved, our Shareholder-Approved Plan allows the Compensation Committee to award an annual incentive up to the previously established cap. As explained below,
for 2019, the Compensation Committee adopted a framework (the “Executive Committee Incentive Compensation Plan”) for determining actual annual incentives to be paid if the
metric under our Shareholder-Approved Plan was achieved.
2019 Performance Metrics. In the first quarter of 2019, the Compensation Committee determined that 2019 Aon-wide performance would be measured by growth in adjusted operating
income (“OI”) for 2019 (as adjusted for unusual or infrequently occurring items) as compared to a 2018 baseline adjusted OI number of $2,697 million. The Compensation Committee
set the minimum achievement threshold at 70% of the 2018 adjusted OI, or $1,888 million. The Compensation Committee retained the discretion to further adjust OI under the plan for
extraordinary, unusual, or infrequently occurring items. The Compensation Committee selected OI as the measure to emphasize performance of Aon as a whole and directly link
executives’ awards to Aon’s key business initiatives of delivering distinctive client value and achieving operational excellence.
The Compensation Committee set the minimum threshold at 70% because it believed performance below that level would not create enough value for the Company’s shareholders and,
therefore, should not result in annual incentive payments. If the minimum achievement threshold is satisfied, an annual incentive pool may be funded as described below under
“Determining 2019 Annual Incentives.”
2019 Actual Performance. During the first quarter of 2020, the Compensation Committee determined that Aon’s 2019 adjusted OI was $2,856 million (after permitted adjustments), or
105.9%, of the 2018 baseline. This exceeded the minimum threshold established under our Shareholder-Approved Plan.
Determining 2019 Annual Incentives. In the first quarter of 2019, the Compensation Committee approved the Executive Committee Incentive Compensation Plan for funding the total
annual incentive pool under our Shareholder-Approved Plan for those executives and members of senior management who at such time comprised Aon’s executive committee. That
group included each of our NEOs. The rationale for establishing this funding framework was to provide executives with a clear connection between the expected reward and the required
performance, as well as a basis for annual incentive accruals. Under those guidelines, the size of the incentive pool generally equals the budgeted accruals for aggregate target annual
incentive payments for members of the Company’s executive committee, multiplied by the percentage increase in OI from
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the 2018 baseline to 2019 (reduced by 200 basis points), although the CEO retains the discretion to approve increases (up to 10%, subject to Compensation Committee consent) and
decreases (up to 20%) in the size of the incentive pool. In other words, the incentive pool is only funded at target if there is a 2% increase in adjusted OI over the previous year.
However, no individual could receive an award in excess of the maximum amount established by the Committee (the lesser of $10 million or three times their target annual incentive).
In accordance with our Shareholder-Approved Plan, the Executive Committee Incentive Compensation Plan would not be funded for 2019 unless Aon achieved the minimum threshold
of 70% of the 2018 baseline. After determining that the minimum threshold had been achieved, the Compensation Committee met in February 2020 to determine the funding status of
the incentive pool for 2019. While our NEOs were eligible for annual incentive awards for 2019, with a view toward total compensation and maintaining alignment with our pay-forperformance executive compensation philosophy, Mr. Case and the other NEOs requested—prior to the determination of the funding status of the incentive pool for 2019 and prior to
any individual NEO bonus determinations by the Board or the Compensation Committee—that they receive no annual incentive awards for fiscal 2019. The Board (for Mr. Case) and
the Compensation Committee (for the other NEOs) accepted this request. After application of the NEOs’ request to receive no bonuses for 2019, the formula guidelines described above,
and discretionary adjustments by the Committee, the total incentive pool reserved for members of the Company’s executive team (including our NEOs, other than Mr. Lieb), was
reduced to $3.2 million. The annual incentive funding that would have been allocated to our CEO and other NEOs was instead reserved and allocated for the Company’s broad-based
annual incentive bonus pool.
Effective for 2020, the Executive Committee Incentive Compensation Plan has been updated to reflect the restructuring of the Executive Committee and will be renamed the Senior
Executive Incentive Compensation Plan.

Executive and Relocation Benefits
Executive Benefits. In addition to our broad-based employee benefit programs that are available to our employees generally (such as health coverage, 401(k) plan, etc.), each of our
currently serving NEOs is eligible to participate in a deferred compensation program and a supplemental savings plan. Only Mr. Andersen participates in our defined benefit pension
plan and the supplemental pension program because each other NEO was hired after the Aon Pension Plan was closed to new hires in 2004. Additional information regarding these
qualified and nonqualified plan benefits is set forth under the headings “Pension Benefits in Fiscal Year 2019” and “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation in Fiscal Year 2019”
contained in this proxy statement. We also provide an executive health screening program available to all members of our management executive committee, including our NEOs.
Relocation Benefits. In 2019, we continued to provide relocation benefits resulting from our relocation of our headquarters to London, United Kingdom in 2012 (the “2012
Redomestication”) to certain of our NEOs. Relocation benefits are customary for expatriate assignments for us and other employers in our industry. The Compensation Committee
approved certain benefits for the relocated executives after consulting with FW Cook, and each relocated executive has signed an international assignment letter with Aon that sets forth
the relocation benefits available to him or her. The relocation packages for our NEOs are intended to keep them “whole” on a total rewards basis, be transparent and equitable, and
reflect competitive practices and benchmarks of industry peers. The Compensation Committee periodically reviews the relocation packages of our executives. These benefits are
provided pursuant to international assignment letters with our NEOs on assignment, which are described in more detail under the heading “International Assignment Letters.”
The compensation received in the form of such benefits is reflected in the Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal Years 2019, 2018, and 2017.

Post-Termination Compensation
We believe that providing severance and change in control severance benefits is important to recruit talented employees and secure the continued employment and dedication of our
existing employees. A significant number of the companies with which we compete for talent have similar arrangements in place for their senior executives. While we consider these
benefits to be important, the terms of these benefits are not considered as part of the compensation strategy when the Compensation Committee annually determines the compensation
for the NEOs. Additional information about post-termination compensation is set forth in the section captioned “Potential Payments on Termination or Change in Control” contained in
this proxy statement.
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Severance Benefits Upon Change in Control. Our NEOs, other than Mr. Case and Mr. Lieb, are eligible for change in control severance benefits under our Senior Executive
Combined Severance and Change in Control Plan (referred to throughout this CD&A and the accompanying compensation tables as the “Combined Severance Plan”). The Combined
Severance Plan provides that covered executives would receive certain severance benefits upon qualifying terminations of employment in connection with or within two years following
a change in control of Aon. Thus, the Combined Severance Plan requires a “double trigger”—a qualifying change in control of Aon and a qualifying termination of the executive’s
employment—for severance benefits to become payable. Mr. Case, who is not covered under the Combined Severance Plan, is party to an individual change in control severance
agreement with the Company that also provides certain severance benefits upon a qualifying termination in connection with or within two years following a change in control of Aon.
Neither the Combined Severance Plan nor Mr. Case’s individual agreement provides for excise tax gross-up protection in the event the executive becomes subject to tax under
Section 280G of the Code in connection with such double trigger. Mr. Lieb entered into a transition and separation agreement in June 2019, discussed below.
Additional information regarding the change in control arrangements for our NEOs is set forth in the section captioned “Potential Payments on Termination or Change in Control”
contained in this proxy statement.
Severance Benefits Pursuant to Employment Agreements and Combined Severance Plan. We have entered into agreements with certain executive officers that provide for postemployment severance benefits and transitional compensation if the officer’s employment terminates for a qualifying event or circumstance unrelated to a change in control of Aon,
such as being terminated without “cause” as such term is defined in the operative agreement. To the extent that our NEOs are not party to an individual employment agreement
providing for severance benefits, those individuals are eligible to receive severance benefits under the Combined Severance Plan. During 2019, each of our NEOs had an employment
agreement providing for severance benefits or was eligible to receive severance benefits under the Combined Severance Plan (or, in the case of Mr. Lieb, entered into a transition and
separation agreement discussed below). Additional information regarding such post-employment severance or transitional compensation for Mr. Case and the other NEOs is set forth in
the section captioned “Potential Payments on Termination or Change in Control” contained in this proxy statement.
Transition and Separation Agreement with Mr. Lieb. We entered into a transition and separation agreement with Mr. Lieb, effective June 3, 2019, under which he resigned as our
Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Company Secretary and transitioned to the role of Special Legal Advisor to our CEO as of June 24, 2019, until his anticipated
separation from service on December 31, 2020. During the transition period, Mr. Lieb continues to receive his regular base salary ($700,000 annually, of which he received an advance
of $500,000 of his 2020 salary in 2019). In connection with Mr. Lieb’s transition, and subject to customary conditions, Mr. Lieb received a cash payment of $1.8 million in 2019, in
exchange for carrying out duties and responsibilities during the transition period. In addition, Mr. Lieb received relocation benefits under our domestic transfer policy, as well as price
protection in the amount of $300,000 for the sale of his residence, and was entitled to (but did not receive) payment of legal fees up to $20,000. Mr. Lieb is not eligible to receive any
other incentive payments during or with respect to 2019 or 2020. Mr. Lieb’s existing equity awards will continue to be governed by the terms of the applicable plan documents.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy
In accordance with English law, our shareholders approved our directors’ remuneration policy at our 2017 annual general meeting. The directors’ remuneration policy is intended to be
consistent with the compensation programs and policies set forth in this CD&A and to provide a binding framework within which the Compensation Committee oversees the Company’s
compensation programs applicable to management and non-management directors. The directors’ remuneration policy provides the Compensation Committee with discretion to
administer the Company’s director compensation programs.
As reported in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27, 2017, there was significant support by shareholders for the directors’ remuneration policy. All
compensation reported in this proxy statement was in compliance with the approved directors’ remuneration policy. This policy governed the Company’s director compensation
decisions while the Company was a U.K. company for all of 2019.
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Executive Compensation
The executive compensation disclosure contained in this section reflects compensation information for the years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018, and December 31, 2017
with respect to our NEOs for all years in which each NEO served in that capacity. The following Summary Compensation Table contains compensation information for the following
NEOs: (1) Mr. Case, who served as our CEO during 2019, (2) Ms. Davies, who served as our Chief Financial Officer during 2019, (3) Mr. Andersen, Mr. O’Connor, and Mr. Bruno,
who were our three other most highly compensated executive officers serving as of December 31, 2019, and (4) Mr. Lieb, who served as our General Counsel, Executive Vice President,
and Company Secretary from January 1, 2019 through June 24, 2019, and then as a Special Legal Advisor to our CEO through December 31, 2020.

Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal Years 2019, 2018 and 2017

Name and Principal
Position
Gregory C. Case
CEO
Christa Davies
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
Eric Andersen
Co-President (5)
Michael O’Connor
Co-President (6)
Peter Lieb
Former Executive Vice President, General Counsel, & Company
Secretary; Current Special
Legal Advisor to CEO (7)
John Bruno
Chief Operations Officer (8)
(1)
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Year
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017

Salary
($)
1,500,000
1,500,000
1,500,000
975,000
900,000
875,000
975,000
900,000
875,000
975,000
900,000
875,000
700,000
700,000
700,000

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1,800,000
—
—

Stock
Awards
($)(1)
13,705,798
12,694,073
11,086,351
5,024,842
4,375,050
3,648,221
3,261,849
2,944,817
2,692,635
3,226,907
2,944,817
2,657,686
297,513
1,771,221
1,745,082

2019
2018
2017

925,000
N/A
N/A

—
N/A
N/A

2,741,532
N/A
N/A

Bonus
($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)(2)
0
1,300,000
1,300,000
0
1,040,000
936,000
0
650,000
526,500
0
585,000
526,500
0
552,500
503,750
0
N/A
N/A

Change in
Pension Value
and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings
($)(3)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
11,176
10,544
9,947
16,058
15,149
14,292
—
N/A
N/A

All Other
Compensation
($)(4)
802,045
669,802
723,331
1,739,576
6,003,119
1,923,293
47,384
44,355
49,702
52,913
62,002
54,655
2,829,423
1,029,170
1,076,183
38,086
N/A
N/A

Total
($)
16,007,843
16,163,875
14,609,682
7,739,418
12,318,169
7,382,514
4,284,233
4,539,172
4,143,837
4,265,996
4,502,363
4,123,788
5,642,995
4,068,040
4,039,307
3,704,618
N/A
N/A

The amounts shown reflect the aggregate grant date fair value (determined in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation—Stock
Compensation (“ASC Topic 718”)) of restricted share unit awards (paid in satisfaction of 35% of each NEO’s annual incentive award for the previous performance year) and performance share unit awards granted to
our NEOs pursuant to our Shareholder-Approved Plan in 2019, 2018, and 2017. These amounts disregard adjustments for forfeiture assumptions and do not reflect amounts actually paid to, or realized by, the NEOs in
the years shown, or any prior years.
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In 2017-2019, each of our NEOs received awards under the LPP with a grant date fair value as set forth in the table below. Mr. Lieb was not granted an LPP award in 2019 due to his employment transition.

Name
Gregory C. Case
Christa Davies
Eric Andersen
Michael O’Connor
Peter Lieb
John Bruno

Year
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017
2019
2018
2017

Grant Date Fair Value of
Performance Share Unit Awards
Assuming Probable Outcomes
Under LPP
($)
13,005,880
11,994,139
10,036,338
4,464,926
3,871,087
3,088,209
2,911,923
2,661,347
2,412,688
2,911,923
2,661,347
2,412,688
—
1,500,007
1,447,544
2,426,548
N/A
N/A

Grant Date Fair Value of
Performance Share Unit Awards
Assuming Achievement of
Maximum Performance Levels
Under LPP
($)
26,011,760
23,988,279
20,072,677
8,929,852
7,742,173
6,176,418
5,823,846
5,322,694
4,825,377
5,823,846
5,322,694
4,825,377
—
3,000,015
2,895,089
4,853,096
N/A
N/A

For awards granted under the LPP, the grant date fair value of performance share units is calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 based on the probable outcome of the performance conditions at the time of grant.
Set forth above are the grant date fair values of the performance share unit awards granted under the LPP, calculated assuming (i) the probable outcome of the performance conditions for each program, which amount is
included in the “Stock Awards” column of this Summary Compensation Table and (ii) achievement of the maximum levels of performance (which is the dollar value attributed to the original award multiplied by 200%
for each year shown for the LPP). The amounts shown in the table above reflect the aggregate grant date fair value for these awards computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718, and do not correspond to the actual
value that will be recognized by our NEOs.
(2)

The amounts shown in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation” column for each of 2019, 2018 and 2017 reflect the cash portion of the annual incentive awards earned by the NEOs for performance in those years
(generally, under the terms of those awards, 35% has been paid in the form of restricted share units and 65% in the form of cash). These amounts were actually paid to the NEOs in the first quarter of the year following
the relevant performance year. As described in the CD&A under “Annual Incentive Awards under Our Shareholder-Approved Plan,” our NEOs determined to forego 2019 annual incentive plan awards prior to the time
any final determinations were made by the Board or the Compensation Committee with respect to such awards and, as a result, no such awards were paid for 2019 performance.

(3)

Mr. O’Connor and Mr. Lieb are the only NEOs who have participated in the Deferred Compensation Plan. For amounts deferred prior to January 1, 2014, the investment options under the Deferred Compensation Plan
include a fixed annual rate of 6%. The amount included in this column represents the difference between the interest rate used to calculate earnings under this fixed return and 120% of the applicable federal longterm rate.

(4)

For 2019, the amounts reported as “All Other Compensation” consist of the following components:

Name
Gregory C. Case
Christa Davies
Eric Andersen
Michael O’Connor
Peter Lieb
John Bruno

Company
Contributions
($)(a)
29,200
29,200
31,400
29,200
29,200
27,000

Perquisites
($)(b)
158,332
58,723
15,984
23,713
416,190
11,086

Other
($)(c)
614,513
527,510
—
—
1,052,510
—

Tax
Reimbursements
($)(d)
—
1,124,143
—
—
1,331,523
—

Total
($)
802,045
1,739,576
47,384
52,913
2,329,423
38,086

(a)

The amounts shown in the “Company Contributions” column represent, for each of our NEOs, (i) a contribution by Aon of $17,900 for each of Mr. Case, Ms. Davies, and Mr. Andersen, and $18,200 for each of
Mr. O’Connor, Mr. Lieb, and Mr. Bruno to the Aon Savings Plan, our qualified defined contribution plan; and (ii) a contribution by Aon of $11,300 for each of Mr. Case and Ms. Davies, $13,500 for
Mr. Andersen, and $11,000 for Mr. O’Connor and Mr. Lieb to the Aon Supplemental Savings Plan, a nonqualified defined contribution plan.

(b)

In connection with the 2012 Redomestication, certain of our NEOs agreed to relocate to London, U.K. The relocation packages are intended to keep the transferred executives “whole” on a total rewards basis, be
transparent and equitable, and reflect competitive practices and benchmarks of industry counterparts. This column also includes amounts Aon paid to third parties for the NEO’s eligible dependents’ schooling or
assistance in preparing his or her tax returns in connection with the 2012 Redomestication.
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In 2019, the Company provided perquisites related to the relocation as follows:
Schooling
Assistance
($)
42,447
—
—

Name
Christa Davies
Michael O’Connor
Peter Lieb

Tax
Preparation
Services
($)
13,341
13,023
29,223

For a description of cash allowances and cash bonuses paid to our NEOs in connection with the relocation, see footnote (c) below.
Mr. Case, Ms. Davies, Mr. O’Connor, Mr. Lieb, and Mr. Bruno participated in Aon’s executive health screening program in 2019. The amount included in “All Other Compensation” is the actual cost to Aon of
the NEO’s use of this program, which was $12,697 for Mr. Case, $2,935 for Ms. Davies, $6,970 for Mr. O’Connor, $6,320 for Mr. Lieb, and $11,086 for Mr. Bruno.
Mr. O’Connor and Mr. Lieb received reimbursement for club dues of $3,720 and $3,984 respectively. Mr. Andersen also received an annual car allowance of $12,000.
As part of Mr. Case’s employment agreement, Aon provides him with life insurance coverage in the amount no less than $5,000,000 during the term of his agreement. This amount reflects the cost above and
beyond the cost of life insurance that is provided to a typical Aon employee. For 2019, the cost was $20,635.
We maintain an arrangement with NetJets for use of chartered aircraft and associated ground travel as necessary. Infrequently, an NEO will use a NetJets flight for personal purposes, or the spouse or guests of an
NEO may accompany the executive when a NetJets flight is already going to a specific destination for a business purpose. In the case of a personal flight, the cost to the Company of such flight is reimbursed to the
Company by the NEO. In the case of a spouse or other guest on a business flight, this has a minimal cost to the Company and, where applicable, the variable costs associated with the additional passenger are
included in determining the aggregate incremental cost to the Company. During 2019, the Company paid $125,000 on Mr. Case’s behalf in connection with a regulatory compliance filing under the Hart-ScottRodino Act resulting from Mr. Case’s acquisition of Company shares under our executive compensation programs in excess of certain limits under such act. During 2019, pursuant to a transition and separation
agreement with Mr. Lieb, the Company paid relocation costs of $80,647 for Mr. Lieb. In addition, Mr. Lieb received price protection in the amount of $300,000 for the sale of his residence in Chicago, Illinois.
(c)

In connection with their relocation to London, U.K., certain NEOs are entitled to additional cash compensation in accordance with the terms of their international assignment letters and our relocation programs.
Allowances became payable to the NEOs beginning on the date the NEO’s foreign assignment began and terminate at the end of the foreign assignment. Additionally, Mr. Lieb received an advance of his 2020
salary in the amount of $500,000 in 2019 in connection with his transition and separation agreement. The following table sets forth the additional compensation received by the NEOs with respect to 2019 service:

Name
Gregory C. Case
Christa Davies
Peter Lieb
(d)

Housing
Allowance
($)
382,013
286,510
286,510

Cost of
Living
Allowance
($)
97,500
97,500
97,500

Foreign
Service
Allowance
($)
135,000
120,000
105,000

Home
Leave
Allowance
($)
—
—
40,000

Transportation
Allowance
($)
—
23,500
23,500

Salary
Advance
($)
—
—
500,000

Total
($)
614,513
527,510
1,052,510

In connection with their relocation to London, U.K., Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb are entitled to receive a tax equalization benefit designed to equalize the income tax paid by the executive so that their total income and
social tax costs related to any earnings from the Company while on the international assignment (including earnings related to granting or vesting of equity-based awards) will be no more than an amount the executive
would have paid had all of the earnings been taxable solely pursuant to U.S. income and social tax laws.
The tax equalization benefit caps the executive’s total income and social tax exposure to what he or she would be taxed on earnings from the Company under the U.S. tax laws (as compared to the U.K. tax laws as in
existence from time to time). This policy is designed and intended to yield neither an economic benefit nor detriment to an executive as a result of his or her international assignment.
For Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb, any applicable schooling assistance and allowances for foreign service, housing, cost of living, home leave, and transportation are grossed up for applicable U.S. taxes.
The amounts shown in the “All Other Compensation” table represent Aon’s calculation of the excess U.K. taxes paid above the hypothetical tax that Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb would have paid had they not been relocated
to London, U.K. and the amount paid by Aon to neutralize the tax impact on Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb with respect to eligible relocation compensation.

(5)

Mr. Andersen became President on February 24, 2020.

(6)

Mr. O’Connor notified the Company on February 20, 2020, of his decision to step down from his position as Co-President of the Company, effective immediately. Mr. O’Connor will remain at the Company for a
transition period to be determined.

(7)

Mr. Lieb resigned as our Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Company Secretary and transitioned to the role of Special Legal Advisor to our CEO as of June 24, 2019.

(8)

Mr. Bruno became Chief Operating Officer on February 24, 2020.
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Employment Agreements and Other Compensation Agreements
Mr. Case’s Employment Agreement
We entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Gregory C. Case, our CEO, dated January 16, 2015, and amended on April 20, 2018, which provides that
Mr. Case will be employed as Aon’s President and CEO through April 1, 2023 unless terminated earlier. The agreement was further amended effective May 15, 2018 to reflect
Mr. Case’s title change to CEO. The agreement also provides that Mr. Case will be nominated for re-election as a member of the Board at each annual meeting of shareholders during
the period of his employment.
Mr. Case’s agreement provides for an initial base salary of $1,500,000, subject to adjustment at the discretion of the Board, a target annual incentive bonus of not less than 200% of his
base salary, subject to the provisions of our Shareholder-Approved Plan. The Board retains the discretion to determine Mr. Case’s actual bonus payment.
In addition, the agreement provides that Mr. Case will be provided with life insurance coverage in an amount equal to no less than $5,000,000 during the term of the agreement. Under
the agreement, Mr. Case has also agreed to maintain an investment position in Aon Class A Ordinary Shares equal to no less than 20 times his annual base salary.

Ms. Davies’s Employment Agreement
We entered into an Employment Agreement with Christa Davies, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, dated as of October 3, 2007, which was amended effective
March 27, 2012, February 20, 2015, and April 19, 2018, and which will expire on April 1, 2023 unless terminated earlier. The agreement provides that Ms. Davies will be employed as
Aon’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. The agreement reflects Ms. Davies’s then-current base salary of $900,000, which is subject to adjustment at the discretion
of our CEO and the Compensation Committee, and a target annual incentive bonus of 150% of her base salary and foreign service allowance. In early 2019, the Committee approved an
increase of $100,000 to Ms. Davies’s base salary, from $900,000 to $1,000,000.

Mr. Andersen’s Employment Agreement and Employment Letter
We entered into an Employment Agreement with Eric Andersen dated as of October 1, 2013, which expired on October 1, 2018. The agreement provided that Mr. Andersen would serve
as Chief Executive Officer of Reinsurance and Retirement Solutions, Data and Analytics for a base salary of no less than $800,000, subject to adjustment, and a target annual incentive
bonus of 100% of his base salary, subject to a cap of 300% of his base salary.
In connection with Mr. Andersen’s appointment as Aon’s Co-President and the expiration of Mr. Andersen’s employment agreement on October 1, 2018, and consistent with the
Company’s general intent of moving away from the practice of entering into fixed-term employment agreements with our management employees, the Company and Mr. Andersen
entered into an employment letter dated May 11, 2018. The employment letter provides that Mr. Andersen will serve as Aon’s Co-President, that his continued employment with the
Company is on an at-will basis, and that he is eligible to participate in the Combined Severance Plan. The letter also provides that Mr. Andersen’s then-current base salary of $900,000
and his target annual incentive bonus are unchanged. In early 2019, the Committee approved an increase of $100,000 to Mr. Andersen’s base salary, from $900,000 to $1,000,000.

Mr. O’Connor’s Employment Agreement and Employment Letter
We entered into an Employment Agreement with Michael J. O’Connor, our Co-President, dated as of March 29, 2013, which expired on March 1, 2018. The agreement provided that
Mr. O’Connor would serve as Chief Executive Officer of Commercial Risk and Health Solutions for a base salary of no less than $800,000, subject to adjustment, and a target annual
incentive bonus of 100% of his base salary, subject to a cap of 300% of his base salary.
In connection with the expiration of Mr. O’Connor’s employment agreement on March 1, 2018, and consistent with the Company’s general intent of moving away from the practice of
entering into fixed-term employment agreements with our management employees, the Company and Mr. O’Connor entered into an employment letter dated March 1, 2018. The
employment letter provides that Mr. O’Connor’s continued employment with the Company is on an at-will basis, and that he is eligible to participate in the Combined Severance Plan.
The letter also provided that Mr. O’Connor’s then-current base salary of $900,000 and his target annual incentive bonus were unchanged. The letter was amended and restated effective
May 15, 2018 to reflect his change in title to Aon’s Co-President. In early 2019, the Committee approved an increase of $100,000 to Mr. O’Connor’s base salary, from $900,000 to
$1,000,000.
2020 Aon Proxy Statement

39

Mr. O’Connor notified the Company on February 20, 2020, of his decision to step down from his position as Co-President of the Company, effective immediately. Mr. O’Connor will
remain at the Company for a transition period to be determined.

Mr. Lieb’s Employment Agreement, Employment Letter, and Transition Agreement
We entered into an Employment Agreement with Peter Lieb, our Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Company Secretary, dated as of January 1, 2014, which expired on
January 1, 2019. The agreement replaced Aon’s prior agreement with Mr. Lieb and provided for a base salary of no less than $700,000, subject to adjustment, and a target annual
incentive bonus of 100% of his base salary and foreign service allowance, subject to a cap of 300% of his base salary.
In connection with the expiration of Mr. Lieb’s employment agreement on January 1, 2019, and consistent with the Company’s general intent of moving away from the practice of
entering into fixed-term employment agreements with our management employees, the Company and Mr. Lieb entered into an employment letter dated November 6, 2018. The
employment letter provided that Mr. Lieb’s continued employment with the Company was on an at-will basis and that he was eligible to participate in the Combined Severance Plan.
The letter also provided that Mr. Lieb’s base salary and target annual incentive bonus are unchanged.
Mr. Lieb and Aon entered into a transition and separation agreement effective June 3, 2019, under which Mr. Lieb resigned as our Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and
Company Secretary and transitioned to the role of Special Legal Advisor to our CEO, effective June 24, 2019. During the transition period through December 31, 2020, Mr. Lieb will
continue to receive his base salary. This transition and separation agreement is described in more detail above in the CD&A under “Transition and Separation Agreement with
Mr. Lieb.”

International Assignment Letters
In connection with the Company’s 2012 Redomestication, we entered into international assignment letters with each of Mr. Case, Ms. Davies, Mr. O’Connor, and Mr. Lieb. These
letters describe the international assignments and set forth the relocation benefits to the executives, which are described below. The letters are not intended to diminish the rights of the
executives under their current employment arrangements; however, the letters provide by their terms that the executives’ acceptance of their international assignments, and repatriation
thereafter, will not give rise to any right to terminate for good reason (as such term is defined in the applicable executive’s employment agreement, if applicable).
The letters for Mr. Case, Ms. Davies, and Mr. Lieb were amended and extended in July 2014 for an additional two years, July 1, 2016 for an additional two years, July 1, 2018 for an
additional one year, and (for Mr. Case and Ms. Davies only) July 1, 2019 for an additional year. Mr. Lieb’s letter was not extended in 2019 and is no longer in effect (however he
continued to receive certain benefits under his transition and separation agreement, as set forth below), and Mr. O’Connor’s 2012 letter was not extended and is no longer in effect;
however, Mr. Lieb and Mr. O’Connor are still eligible to receive tax preparation services in connection with compensation attributable to the periods of time they were on international
assignment.
Depending on each executive’s personal circumstances, and as disclosed in the tables above, the relocation packages, as amended, generally provide some or all of the
following benefits:
•

a monthly housing allowance of approximately $31,834 for Mr. Case and $23,876 for each of Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb;

•

a monthly cost of living differential of $8,125;

•

a monthly foreign service allowance of $11,250 for Mr. Case, $10,000 for Ms. Davies, and $8,750 for Mr. Lieb;

•

a monthly car allowance of approximately $1,958 for each of Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb;

•

eligible dependents’ schooling assistance, including tuition and application fees, for Ms. Davies;

•

an annual home leave allowance for Mr. Lieb;

•

a tax equalization benefit for Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb, designed to equalize the income tax paid by the executive so that his or her total income and social tax costs related to any
earnings from the Company while on the international assignment (including earnings related to granting or vesting of equity-based awards) will be no more than an amount the
executive would have paid had all of the earnings been taxable solely pursuant to the U.S. income and social tax laws;
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•

a tax gross-up for Ms. Davies on schooling assistance and, for both Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb, on allowances related to housing, cost of living, home leave and transportation; and

•

enhanced tax preparation and planning and expatriate services for the tax years covered by the international assignment or for which international earnings are taxed by the U.K.

All of the relocation benefits are subject to recoupment if the executive officer resigns employment with the Company within two years of commencing the international assignment, or
12 months after the end of the assignment, and becomes employed by a direct competitor of the Company.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal Year 2019
The following table provides information on non-equity incentive plan compensation, restricted share unit awards, and performance share unit awards granted in 2019 to each of
the NEOs.
Estimated Possible Payouts Under
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards (1)

Name
Gregory C. Case
Christa Davies
Eric Andersen
Michael O’Connor
Peter Lieb
John Bruno

(1)

Grant
Date
—
2/15/2019
3/29/2019
—
2/14/2019
3/28/2019
—
2/14/2019
3/28/2019
—
2/14/2019
3/22/2018
—
2/14/2019
—
—
2/14/2019
3/28/2019

Target
($)
3,000,000
—
—
1,680,000
—
—
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
—
—
—
—
—
950,000
—
—

Maximum
($)
9,000,000
—
—
5,040,000
—
—
3,000,000
—
—
3,000,000
—
—
—
—
—
2,850,000
—
—

Estimated Future Payouts Under
Equity Incentive Plan Awards (2)

Threshold
(#)
—
—
39,250
—
—
13,596
—
—
8,867
—
—
8,867
—
—
—
—
—
7,389

Target
(#)
—
—
78,500
—
—
27,192
—
—
17,734
—
—
17,734
—
—
—
—
—
14,778

Maximum
(#)
—
—
157,000
—
—
54,384
—
—
35,468
—
—
35,468
—
—
—
—
—
29,556

All Other
Stock
Awards:
Number of
Shares of
Stock or
Units
(#)(3)
—
4,070
—
—
3,301
—
—
2,063
—
—
1,857
—
—
1,754
—
—
1,857
—

Grant Date
Fair Value of
Stock and
Option
Awards
($)(4)
—
699,918
13,005,880
—
559,916
4,464,926
—
349,926
2,911,923
—
314,984
2,911,923
—
297,513
—
—
314,984
2,426,548

The amounts shown relate to potential annual incentive plan awards for 2019 service for each NEO under our Shareholder-Approved Plan. The amounts shown as “Target” represent the target payment level of 200% for
Mr. Case, 150% for Ms. Davies, and 100% for each of Mr. Andersen, Mr. O’Connor, and Mr. Bruno, of their respective base salaries, and the amounts shown in “Maximum” reflect the maximum payment level of the
lesser of $10,000,000 or three times the target incentive amount, as provided by the terms of our Shareholder-Approved Plan. For Ms. Davies, the annual foreign service allowance is included with base salary in
determining her bonus target. Pursuant to his transition and separation agreement with the Company, Mr. Lieb was not entitled to any new plan-based grants in 2019.
Our Shareholder-Approved Plan does not contain a threshold payment level for any of the NEOs. If pre-established performance measures are not met, no payments are made.
As described in the CD&A under “Annual Incentive Awards under Our Shareholder-Approved Plan,” our NEOs determined to forego 2019 annual incentive plan awards prior to the time any final determinations were
made by the Board or the Compensation Committee with respect to such awards and, as a result, no such awards were paid for 2019 performance.

(2)

The amounts shown in columns titled “Threshold,” “Target,” and “Maximum” represent the threshold, target, and maximum number of performance share units granted to our NEOs pursuant to Aon’s LPP 14 that will
be earned and settled in Class A Ordinary Shares if certain performance criteria are achieved during the 2019 to 2021 performance period. As the potential payments are dependent on achieving certain performance
criteria, actual payouts could differ by a significant amount. For more information regarding the terms of these performance share units and LPP 14, see the section titled “Leadership Performance Program under Our
Shareholder-Approved Plan” in the CD&A.

(3)

The amounts shown in this column represent the number of restricted share units granted to each NEO in 2019 in satisfaction of 35% of the annual incentive award earned by such NEO for 2018 performance. Within the
framework of our Shareholder-Approved Plan, the target amount of each NEO’s annual incentive award for 2018 performance (calculated as a percentage of base salary and, with respect to Ms. Davies and Mr. Lieb,
their annual foreign service allowance) was 200% for Mr. Case, 150% for Ms. Davies, and 100% for each of Mr. Andersen, Mr. O’Connor, Mr. Lieb, and
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Mr. Bruno; the bonus range was capped at 600% for Mr. Case, 450% for Ms. Davies, and 300% for each of Mr. Andersen, Mr. O’Connor, Mr. Lieb, and Mr. Bruno. The determination of the actual incentive amount
payable was determined based, among other things, on Aon’s overall performance and individual performance. These restricted share units will vest in installments of 331/3% on the first through third anniversaries of the
date of grant. Dividend equivalents are paid quarterly in cash on unvested restricted share units and voting rights do not attach to any unvested restricted share units.
(4)

The amounts shown in this column are the grant date fair values of the various awards. The grant date fair value generally reflects the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718 and,
with respect to the performance share unit awards granted under the LPP, is based on the probable outcome of the performance-based conditions at the time of grant. These amounts do not correspond to the actual value
(if any) that may be recognized by the NEOs. For additional information about the applicable assumptions for determining the grant date fair value of restricted share unit awards, see footnote (1) to the Summary
Compensation Table.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2019 Fiscal Year-End
The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding restricted share units and performance share units held by each of our NEOs on December 31, 2019. See “Potential
Payments and Benefits on Termination or Change in Control” for information regarding the impact of certain employment termination scenarios on outstanding equity awards.
Stock Awards

Name
Gregory C.
Case

Christa
Davies

Eric
Andersen

Michael
O’Connor

Peter
Lieb

John
Bruno
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Grant Date
2/17/2017(1)
3/31/2017(2)
2/16/2018(1)
3/23/2018(3)
2/15/2019(1)
3/29/2019(3)
2/16/2017(1)
3/30/2017(2)
2/15/2018(1)
3/22/2018(3)
2/14/2019(1)
3/28/2019(3)
2/16/2017(1)
3/30/2017(2)
2/15/2018(1)
3/22/2018(3)
2/14/2019(1)
3/28/2019(3)
2/16/2017(1)
3/30/2017(2)
2/15/2018(1)
3/22/2018(3)
2/14/2019(1)
3/28/2019(3)
2/16/2017(1)
3/30/2017(2)
2/15/2018(1)
3/22/2018(3)
2/14/2019(1)
2/16/2017(1)
3/30/2017(2)
2/15/2018(1)
3/22/2018(3)
2/14/2019(1)
3/28/2019(3)

Number of Shares or
Units of Stock That
Have Not Vested
(#)
2,978
175,246
3,313
—
4,070
—
1,592
54,018
2,385
—
3,301
—
796
42,202
1,342
—
2,063
—
697
42,202
1,342
—
1,857
—
846
25,320
1,284
—
1,754
846
32,072
1,408
—
1,857
—

Market Value of
Shares or Units
of Stock That
Have Not Vested
($)
620,288
36,501,989
690,065
—
847,740
—
331,598
11,251,409
496,772
—
687,565
—
165,799
8,790,255
279,525
—
429,702
—
145,178
8,790,255
279,525
—
386,795
—
176,213
5,273,903
267,444
—
365,341
176,213
6,680,277
293,272
—
386,795
—

Equity Incentive Plan
Awards: Number of
Unearned Shares,
Units or Other Rights
That Have Not Vested
(#)
—
—
—
180,798
—
157,000
—
—
—
57,426
—
54,384
—
—
—
39,480
—
35,468
—
—
—
39,480
—
35,468
—
—
—
22,252
—
—
—
—
30,866
—
29,556

Equity Incentive Plan
Awards: Market or
Payout Value of
Unearned Shares,
Units or Other Rights
That Have Not Vested
($)
—
—
—
37,658,415
—
32,701,530
—
—
—
11,961,262
—
11,327,643
—
—
—
8,223,289
—
7,387,630
—
—
—
8,223,289
—
7,387,630
—
—
—
4,634,869
—
—
—
—
6,429,079
—
6,156,219

(1)

The vesting schedule for the restricted share units, other than performance share units, held by each NEO is as follows:
Vesting Date
2/14/2020
2/15/2020
2/16/2020
2/17/2020
2/14/2021
2/15/2021
2/16/2021
2/14/2022
2/15/2022
Total

Gregory
C. Case
—
1,356
1,656
2,978
—
1,357
1,657
—
1,357
10,361

Christa
Davies
1,100
1,192
1,592
—
1,100
1,193
—
1,101
—
7,278

Eric
Andersen
687
671
796
—
688
671
—
688
—
4,201

Michael
O’Connor
619
671
697
—
619
671
—
619
—
3,896

Peter
Lieb
584
642
846
—
585
642
—
585
—
3,884

John
Bruno
619
704
846
—
619
704
—
619
—
4,111

(2)

The performance share units convert into Class A Ordinary Shares on a one-to-one basis after the conclusion of a three-year performance period. For performance share units with a March 30, 2017 or March 31, 2017
grant date, the three-year performance period ended on December 31, 2019. These performance share units were subsequently settled in Class A Ordinary Shares on February 13, 2020.

(3)

The performance share units, to the extent earned, convert into Class A Ordinary Shares on a one-to-one basis after the conclusion of a three-year performance period. A pre-established cumulative EPS target as certified
by the Compensation Committee in the first quarter of the year after the performance period must be met. For LPP performance share units with a March 22, 2018 or March 23, 2018 grant date, the three-year
performance period ends on December 31, 2020. For LPP performance share units with a March 28, 2019 or March 29, 2019 grant date, the three-year performance period ends on December 31, 2021.
If the minimum or threshold performance is not attained, the performance share units will be forfeited. In this table, the maximum number of performance share units is shown for outstanding awards for all LPP cycles as
awards granted under these cycles are currently tracking at or above target payout levels. The market value is calculated using $208.29, the closing price of a Class A Ordinary Share on the NYSE on December 31, 2019
(the last trading day of 2019). If Aon does not attain the maximum cumulative target over the three-year period, the number of Class A Ordinary Shares received by the NEOs upon settlement will be reduced.

Stock Vested in Fiscal Year 2019
The following table sets forth (1) the number of Class A Ordinary Shares acquired during 2019 by our NEOs upon the vesting of restricted share unit awards and the settlement of
performance share unit awards, and (2) the value realized upon such vesting or settlement.
Stock Awards

Name
Gregory C. Case
Christa Davies
Eric Andersen
Michael O’Connor
Peter Lieb
John Bruno

Number of Shares
Acquired
on Vesting
(#)(1)
190,585
61,087
39,419
39,381
28,941
46,916

Value Realized
on Vesting
($)(2)
32,347,381
10,372,147
6,691,621
6,685,087
4,914,643
8,217,939

(1)

Represents (a) the vesting of restricted share units granted under our Shareholder-Approved Plan and (b) the settlement of performance share unit awards granted under the LPP in March 2016 for the three-year
performance period ending on December 31, 2018, which were converted into Class A Ordinary Shares on February 14, 2019. Of the amounts shown, the following aggregate number of Class A Ordinary Shares were
withheld to pay taxes due in connection with the vesting: Mr. Case, 85,330 shares; Ms. Davies, 24,051 shares; Mr. Andersen, 18,423 shares; Mr. O’Connor, 16,566 shares; Mr. Lieb, 12,774 shares; and Mr. Bruno, 23,119
shares.

(2)

Calculated by multiplying (a) the fair market value of Class A Ordinary Shares on the vesting date, which was determined using the closing price on the NYSE of a Class A Ordinary Share on the vesting date or, if such
day is a holiday, on the immediately preceding working day, by (b) the number of Class A Ordinary Shares acquired upon vesting.
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Pension Benefits in Fiscal Year 2019
The table below provides information regarding the benefits expected to be paid from the Company’s defined benefit pension plans, as well as a supplemental contractual arrangement,
for Mr. Andersen, the only NEO who participates in these plans.

Name
Eric Andersen

(1)

Plan Name
Aon Pension Plan
Excess Benefit Plan
Supplemental Contractual Pension

Number of Years
of Credited Service
(#)
12
12
5

Present Value of
Accumulated Benefit
($)(1)
430,237
631,527
615,864

Payments During Last
Fiscal Year
($)
0
0
0

Reflects the actuarial present value of benefits accumulated under the respective plans from service and compensation through December 31, 2019, in accordance with the assumptions disclosed in Note 12 to the audited
financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2020.

Mr. Andersen commenced participation in the Aon Pension Plan on May 16, 1997. Under the Aon Pension Plan, a participant is generally entitled to an annual pension benefit
commencing at normal retirement age of 65, calculated based on the participant’s years of service, compensation, and Social Security benefits. Participants are fully vested after
completing five years of service. Eligible compensation under the plan is subject to applicable IRS limits; accordingly, the maximum eligible compensation under the plan was $245,000
up to April 1, 2009, the date that the Aon Pension Plan was frozen. The pension formula for service after January 1, 1998 through December 31, 2006 is 1.15% of the participant’s final
average earnings multiplied by years of service on or after January 1, 1998, plus 0.45% of the participant’s final average earnings in excess of covered compensation multiplied by years
of service on or after January 1, 1998 (not in excess of 35 years). Final average earnings is the average of the participant’s base salary and certain eligible bonus payments for the five
consecutive calendar years within the last 10 calendar years of employment for which the average was the highest. Covered compensation is the average of the Social Security Taxable
Wage Base for the 35-year period prior to the participant’s normal retirement age. Effective January 1, 2007, the prior plan benefit was frozen and a career average formula of 1.15% of
each year’s earnings plus 0.45% of earnings in excess of covered compensation is effective for service after December 31, 2006. The default form of benefit payment for married
participants is a 50% joint and survivor pension; other actuarially equivalent payment options are also available. The Aon Pension Plan was frozen as to benefit accrual effective April 1,
2009, and was previously closed to newly hired employees effective January 1, 2004. Effective January 1, 2020, a portion of the liabilities of the Aon Pension Plan was spun-off to a
mirror plan, the Aon Retirement Pension Plan, and Mr. Andersen’s pension plan participation continues under the Aon Retirement Pension Plan as of that date.
The Excess Benefit Plan was established in 1989 as an unfunded deferred compensation plan for a select group of management or highly compensated employees, and was intended to
replace benefits lost under the Aon Pension Plan due to application of certain IRS compensation limits. To be eligible for a benefit under this plan, participants must have attained age
50 and at least 10 years of benefit accrual service. Mr. Andersen satisfied those requirements as of February 3, 2015. The benefit under this plan is determined based on amount of the
monthly benefit payable under the Aon Pension Plan had such plan not applied the maximum annual benefit limitation imposed by Section 415 of the Code. Effective for the 2002 plan
year and thereafter, the Excess Benefit Plan was amended to provide that earnings in excess of $500,000 would not be taken into account for purposes of calculating the plan benefit.
Effective January 1, 2006, the Excess Benefit Plan was further amended to incorporate an alternative benefit formula that provides a benefit of 1% of final average compensation
multiplied by total years of service, subject to a maximum annual pension benefit of $500,000. Upon retirement, a participant will receive the greater of the pension from the basic
formula (1.15%/0.45%) or the 1% formula. With respect to plan benefits that were earned and vested after December 31, 2004, the form of benefit is an actuarially equivalent term
certain annuity for five years, payable monthly. With respect to plan benefits earned and vested on or before December 31, 2004, the form of benefit is the same that would apply under
the Aon Pension Plan (subject to certain exceptions). The Excess Benefit Plan was frozen as to benefit accrual effective April 1, 2009.
Mr. Andersen and the Company entered into a Supplemental Pension Agreement effective January 19, 2010, in connection with the Company’s decision to freeze further benefit
accruals under the Aon Pension Plan and the Excess Benefit Plan in 2009. Under this supplemental agreement, Mr. Andersen is entitled to a supplemental pension benefit upon
termination of employment equal to the aggregate pension benefit earned under the Aon Pension Plan and the Excess Benefit Plan for the 2008 plan year, multiplied by five (effectively
giving Mr. Andersen an additional five years of pension service). Mr. Andersen became fully vested in this benefit upon his continuous employment with the Company through the later
of December 31, 2014 or attainment of age 50 and completion of 10 years of benefit accrual service. This benefit is payable in the form of a 100% joint and survivor annuity
commencing following termination of employment or, if later, attaining age 55.
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Nonqualified Deferred Compensation in Fiscal Year 2019
The table below shows any executive contributions, contributions by Aon, earnings, withdrawals, and account balances for the NEOs with respect to our Deferred Compensation Plan
and our Supplemental Savings Plan.
See the section titled “Executive and Relocation Benefits” in the CD&A and the narratives set forth below the following table for additional information on these plans.

Name
Gregory C. Case
Christa Davies
Eric Andersen
Michael O’Connor
Peter Lieb
John Bruno

Name of Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan

Executive
Contributions
in Last Fiscal
Year
($)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
104,200
—
—
—

Aon
Contributions
in Last Fiscal
Year
($)(1)
—
11,300
—
11,300
—
13,500
—
11,000
—
11,000
—
8,800

Aggregate
Earnings in
Last Fiscal
Year
($)(2)
—
3,794
—
29,800
—
161,043
23,284
37,383
56,533
30,189
—
5,592

Aggregate
Withdrawals/
Distributions
($)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Aggregate
Balance at
Last Fiscal
Year End
($)(3)
—
165,015
—
183,167
—
683,841
411,344
179,324
1,095,759
151,837
—
43,728

(1)

These amounts are included in “All Other Compensation” for 2019 in the Summary Compensation Table.

(2)

In November 2013, Aon changed investment options available under the Deferred Compensation Plan to include a fixed annual return of 6%. Of the amount shown in this column, $11,176 was included as 2019
compensation for Mr. O’Connor, and $16,058 for Mr. Lieb in the Summary Compensation Table as above-market earnings. Otherwise, no amounts in this column are included as 2019 compensation in the Summary
Compensation Table.

(3)

The following table provides the amount reported in the “Aggregate Balance at Last Fiscal Year End” column for each NEO that has been previously reported as compensation in the Summary Compensation Tables
for 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Name
Gregory C. Case
Christa Davies
Eric Andersen
Michael O’Connor
Peter Lieb
John Bruno
(a)

Name of Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan
Deferred Compensation Plan
Supplemental Savings Plan

Amount Included
in 2019
Compensation in
Summary
Compensation
Table ($)
11,300
11,300
13,500
11,000
11,176
11,000
16,058
8,800

Amount Included
in 2018
Compensation in
Summary
Compensation
Table ($)
11,625
11,625
13,875
11,250
10,544
9,000
15,149
N/A

Amount Included
in 2017
Compensation in
Summary
Compensation
Table ($)
11,950
11,950
14,250
9,650
9,947
9,200
14,292
N/A

The compensation of Mr. Bruno was not reported in our Summary Compensation Table in 2017 or 2018.

Aon Deferred Compensation Plan
The Deferred Compensation Plan is an unfunded, unsecured nonqualified deferred compensation program that allows certain senior management or highly compensated employees
to defer:
•

Up to 75% of their base salary;

•

All or a portion of cash incentive income;

•

Up to 75% of commissions, production bonuses, and cross-sell bonuses; and

•

Up to 75% of other earnings, including certain hiring, retention, or non-performance bonuses.
2020 Aon Proxy Statement

45

Aon does not presently make any company contributions to the Deferred Compensation Plan. The aggregate balances shown in the table above represent amounts that the NEOs earned
but elected to defer, plus earnings or losses. Deferrals may be allocated among a choice of three valuation funds that are used to determine investment gains or losses credited to the
accumulated account balance. Participants can change their investment selections on a go-forward basis by contacting the plan’s administrator.
When participants elect to defer amounts into the Deferred Compensation Plan, they must also select when the amounts ultimately will be distributed to them. Distributions may either
be made in a specific year, whether or not employment has then ended, or after the executive’s retirement or termination.
Participants who elect to have distributions made in a specific year must choose a payout date that is at least three years after the date of the first deferral election, and can elect to
receive a single, lump-sum payment or up to five annual installments. Distributions begin as soon as practicable after February 28 of the elected calendar year. Participants who elect to
have distributions made at retirement or termination can elect to receive a single, lump-sum payment and/or up to 10 annual installments. Payments commence as soon as practicable
after February 28 of the year following termination of employment.

Aon Supplemental Savings Plan
The Aon Supplemental Savings Plan was created to provide matching and other company allocations similar to those participants in the Aon Savings Plan (our qualified 401(k) plan)
would have received had the Code limits not restricted contributions under the Aon Savings Plan. Participants eligible for Aon Savings Plan company contributions who are active at the
end of the plan year and who attain the IRS 401(k) contribution limit and compensation limit (or participate in the Deferred Compensation Plan) receive supplemental allocations to the
Supplemental Savings Plan based on their years of service and their match eligible compensation in excess of the IRS limit or Deferred Compensation Plan deferrals (to a combined plan
limit of $500,000). Distributions from the Supplemental Savings Plan must begin at the earlier of retirement or age 65.
Each NEO participated in the Supplemental Savings Plan in 2019. If an executive officer contributes on a match-eligible basis to the Aon Savings Plan an amount equal to the annual
contribution limit imposed by the Code ($19,000 in 2019), the Supplemental Savings Plan provides for a company allocation as a percentage of eligible compensation deferred under the
Aon Deferred Compensation Plan, and of eligible compensation in excess of the IRS limit ($280,000 in 2019). The combined total annual eligible compensation for the Aon Savings
and Aon Supplemental Savings Plans is capped at $500,000. The percentage allocation varies by length of service but in the first four years of employment the allocation percentage is
3% and increases to 6% after 15 years of service.

Potential Payments and Benefits on Termination or Change in Control
During 2019, each NEO was party to an employment agreement with Aon that addresses the payments and benefits that he or she will receive under various termination scenarios or an
employment letter that provides for participation in the Combined Severance Plan. Non-competition and non-solicitation covenants apply to each NEO for a period of two years
following the termination of employment of such executive without regard to the reason for such termination.
Each NEO other than Mr. Case is entitled to participate in our Combined Severance Plan, which provides certain severance benefits upon a qualifying termination in connection with or
during the two years following a change in control of Aon. Mr. Case is party to his own individual agreement with the Company providing certain severance benefits in connection with
a qualifying termination in the event of a change in control.
The tables below outline the potential payments to the NEOs upon the occurrence of various termination events, including a termination upon a change in control of Aon. The following
assumptions apply with respect to the tables below and any termination of employment of an NEO:
•
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The amounts shown in the table assume that the employment of each NEO was terminated on December 31, 2019, and that the price per Class A Ordinary Share is $208.29 per
share, the closing market price per share on December 31, 2019 (the last trading day of 2019). Accordingly, the tables set forth amounts earned as of December 31, 2019, and include
estimates of amounts that would be paid to the NEO upon the occurrence of a termination event.
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•

Each NEO is entitled to receive amounts earned during the term of his or her employment regardless of the manner of termination. These amounts include accrued base salary,
accrued vacation time, and other employee benefits to which the NEO was entitled on the date of termination, and are not shown in the tables below. Under each NEO’s employment
agreement, other than Mr. Case’s, or by virtue of the NEO’s eligibility for the Combined Severance Plan, the NEO is entitled to 365 days’ notice in the event that the Company
terminates his or her employment without cause, during which period the NEO would continue to receive base salary and remain eligible for the Company’s standard benefit plans.

•

The specific definitions of (i) “good reason” applicable to “Voluntary—Good Reason,” (ii) “cause” applicable to “Involuntary—For Cause,” and (iii) “without cause” or “not for
cause” applicable to “Involuntary—Without Cause” for each of the NEOs can be found, to the extent applicable, in their respective employment agreements or the Combined
Severance Plan. In addition, the specific definitions of “qualifying termination” applicable to “Qualifying After Change in Control” can be found in the Combined Severance Plan or,
with respect to Mr. Case, in his change in control severance agreements.

Name
Gregory C. Case

Christa Davies

Michael O’Connor*

Eric Andersen

John Bruno

Termination Reason
Retirement
Voluntary-Good Reason
Death
Disability
Involuntary-Without Cause
Qualifying After Change in Control
Voluntary-Good Reason
Death
Disability
Involuntary-Without Cause
Qualifying After Change in Control
Voluntary-Good Reason
Death
Disability
Involuntary-Without Cause
Qualifying After Change in Control
Voluntary-Good Reason
Death
Disability
Involuntary-Without Cause
Qualifying After Change in Control
Voluntary-Good Reason
Death
Disability
Involuntary-Without Cause
Qualifying After Change in Control

Total Cash
Payment
($)(1)
—
12,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
12,000,000
15,833,333
2,680,000
2,932,055
3,932,055
4,360,000
6,586,667
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
4,513,333
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
4,680,000
950,000
—
—
950,000
4,516,667

Accelerated
Share
Vesting
($)
62,939,545
62,939,545
73,840,055
73,840,055
62,939,545
73,840,055
20,635,915
24,411,796
24,411,796
20,635,915
24,411,796
14,944,669
17,407,212
17,407,212
14,944,669
17,407,212
15,008,197
17,470,740
17,470,740
15,008,197
17,470,740
11,777,133
13,829,206
13,829,206
11,777,133
13,829,206

Welfare,
Retirement
and Other
Benefits
($)
—
138,901
5,000,000
—
138,901
208,351
—
—
—
—
75,269
—
—
—
—
85,987
—
—
—
—
100,934
—
—
—
—
91,626

Excise
Tax
Cutback
($)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,454,878)
—
—
—
—
—

Total
($)
62,939,545
75,078,446
81,840,055
76,840,055
75,078,446
89,881,739
23,315,915
27,343,851
28,343,851
24,995,915
31,073,732
15,944,669
17,407,212
17,407,212
15,944,669
22,006,532
16,008,197
17,470,740
17,470,740
16,008,197
20,796,796
12,727,133
13,829,206
13,829,206
12,727,133
18,437,499

* On February 20, 2020, Mr. O’Connor notified the Company of his decision to step down from his position as Co-President of the Company, effective immediately. Mr. O’Connor will remain at the Company for a transition
period to be determined.
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(1)

The Total Cash Payment is calculated in accordance with the terms of the agreements and plans described below. The components of the Total Cash Payment are set forth in the following table:

Name
Gregory C. Case

Christa Davies

Michael O’Connor

Eric Andersen

John Bruno

(a)

Termination
Reason
(a)
V-GR
Death
Disability
I-WC
C-in-C
V-GR
Death
Disability
I-WC
C-in-C
V-GR
Death
Disability
I-WC
C-in-C
V-GR
Death
Disability
I-WC
C-in-C
V-GR
Death
Disability
I-WC
C-in-C

Base
Salary
($)(b)
1,500,000
—
—
1,500,000
1,500,000
1,000,000
1,252,055
2,252,055
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
1,000,000
950,000
—
—
950,000
950,000

Base
Salary
Mutiple
2x
—
—
2x
3x
1x
—
—
1x
2x
1x
—
—
1x
2x
1x
—
—
1x
2x
1x
—
—
1x
2x

Bonus
($)
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
1,680,000
1,680,000
1,680,000
1,680,000
1,520,000
—
—
—
—
855,000
—
—
—
—
905,000
—
—
—
—
875,000

Bonus
Multiple
2x
1x
1x
2x
3x
1x
1x
1x
2x
2x
1x
1x
1x
2x
2x
1x
1x
1x
2x
2x
1x
1x
1x
2x
2x

Average
Annual
Cash Bonus
($)
—
—
—
—
2,333,333
—
—
—
—
1,546,667
—
—
—
—
803,333
—
—
—
—
870,000
—
—
—
—
866,667

Total
Severance
($)
9,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
9,000,000
15,833,333
2,680,000
2,932,055
3,932,055
4,360,000
6,586,667
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
4,513,333
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
4,680,000
950,000
—
—
950,000
4,516,667

Pro Rata
Bonus
($)
3,000,000
—
—
3,000,000
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Total Cash
Payment
($)
12,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
12,000,000
15,833,333
2,680,000
2,932,055
3,932,055
4,360,000
6,586,667
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
4,513,333
1,000,000
—
—
1,000,000
4,680,000
950,000
—
—
950,000
4,516,667

The termination reasons are abbreviated as follows: V-GR = voluntary termination for good reason; I-WC = involuntary termination without cause; C-in-C = qualifying termination after change in control.

Change in Control Severance Arrangements
The Company maintains the Combined Severance Plan, under which our NEOs (other than Mr. Case and Mr. Lieb) are eligible to receive certain severance benefits upon a qualifying
termination of employment in connection with or within two years following a change in control of the Company. Mr. Case is party to an individual change in control severance
agreement with the Company, which also provides these benefits. Mr. Lieb has entered into a transition and separation agreement that does not provide these benefits. The protections
contained in the Combined Severance Plan and Mr. Case’s individual agreement are intended to secure the continued service and to ensure the dedication and objectivity of our most
senior executives in the event of an actual or threatened change in control of the Company.
The Combined Severance Plan and Mr. Case’s individual agreement provide that each NEO (other than Mr. Lieb) would receive the following severance benefits upon a qualifying
termination of employment in connection with or within two years following a change in control of the Company:
•

a prorated bonus for the year of termination, based upon the executive’s average annual incentive for the preceding three years;

•

for NEOs other than Mr. Case, two times the sum of: (i) the executive’s annual base salary in effect immediately prior to the date of termination; and (ii) the executive’s average
annual incentive bonus over the previous two years;
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•

with regard to Mr. Case, three times the sum of (i) his highest annual base salary in effect during the twelve-month period prior to the date of termination; and (ii) his target annual
incentive bonus for the fiscal year in which the date of termination occurs;

•

with regard to Mr. Case, the amount forfeited under any qualified defined contribution plan as a result of his termination;

•

immediate vesting of all accrued benefits under the Company’s nonqualified benefit plans, which shall be calculated assuming an additional two years of age and service credits and,
in the case of the Supplemental Savings Plan, two additional years of contributions (with regard to Mr. Case, assuming three additional years of age and service credit and, in the
case of the Supplemental Savings Plan, three additional years of contributions); and

•

continued medical, dental, and life insurance benefits under the Company’s employee benefit plans, at the same cost as applicable to the NEO if he or she were an active employee,
until the earlier of the executive’s eligibility to receive similar benefits under another employer’s plan or two years following separation (or, with regard to Mr. Case, three years
following separation).

In addition, pursuant to the terms of Mr. Case’s severance agreement, the Company is required to pay Mr. Case a lump sum cash amount equal to the actuarial equivalent of Mr. Case’s
accrued benefits under the Company’s nonqualified benefit plans within 30 days of his termination of employment with the Company.
Qualifying terminations consist of termination by the Company other than for cause or by the executive for CIC good reason, in each case in connection with or within two years
following a change in control of the Company. For purposes of the Combined Severance Plan and Mr. Case’s individual agreement, “CIC good reason” means: (i) a substantial adverse
change in authority, powers, functions, duties, or responsibilities; (ii) a material reduction in salary or bonus opportunity; (iii) a failure to maintain material employee benefit or
compensation plans; or (iv) a reassignment of the executive to an office location more than 50 miles from the executive’s current location. For purposes of the Combined Severance
Plan, cause means: (i) a deliberate act of dishonesty, fraud, theft, embezzlement, or misappropriation relating to the executive’s employment, or a breach of the duty of loyalty; (ii) an act
of discrimination or harassment that may result in material liability or exposure to the Company; (ii) a material violation of Company policies and procedures; (iv) material noncompliance with any applicable restrictive covenants; or (v) any criminal act resulting in a criminal felony charge or conviction. For purposes of Mr. Case’s individual agreement, cause
means: (i) a demonstrably willful and material breach of the executive’s duties and responsibilities, committed in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the breach is in the best
interests of the Company and which is not remedied within a reasonable period of time after receipt of written notice thereof; (ii) gross misconduct, theft, fraud, breach of trust, or any
act of dishonesty which results in material harm to the Company; or (iii) commission of a felony involving moral turpitude.
A “change in control” for purposes of the Combined Severance Plan and Mr. Case’s individual agreement generally would have occurred upon any of the following: (i) an acquisition
by any individual, entity or group of 30% or more of either the then outstanding Class A Ordinary Shares or the combined voting power of the outstanding securities entitled to vote in
the election of directors (but excluding, generally, any acquisition from or by the Company or a Company employee benefit plan, or any acquisition that meets the requirements
of clauses (a), (b), and (c) of subsection (iii) of this definition); (ii) a change in the majority of the current Board; (iii) the consummation of reorganization, merger, consolidation or
other similar business combination involving the Company or its subsidiaries, or the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries
(unless each of the following is applicable: (a) all or substantially all of the Company’s existing shareholders will beneficially own, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of the
transaction, more than 60% of the outstanding shares of common stock and the combined voting power, respectively, of the ultimate parent company resulting from such transaction, in
the same proportions relative to each shareholder as their ownership immediately prior to such transaction; (b) no person or group owns, directly or indirectly, 30% or more of the
outstanding Class A Ordinary Shares or combined voting power of the surviving company; and (c) individuals who were members of the Board prior to such transaction will constitute
the majority of the members of the board of directors of the resulting entity); or (iv) a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.
As a condition to the receipt of change in control severance payments and benefits, the executive would be required to enter into an agreement with the Company providing that the
executive would not compete with the Company or solicit employees or customers of the Company for a two-year period and would not use or disclose any confidential information of
the Company. In addition, the executive would be required to execute a full release of claims in connection with the payment of severance benefits.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Combined Severance Plan and Mr. Case’s individual agreement, the Company is not obligated to provide a gross up payment in connection with any excise
taxes imposed by Section 4999 of the Code. In addition, Mr. Case’s individual agreement provides that Mr. Case’s cash and non-equity award payments shall be capped at the “safe
harbor” amount under Section 280G of the Code, such that the cash and non-equity award payments are not deemed to be “excess parachute payments” within the meaning of
Section 280G of the Code. The Combined Severance Plan provides that the executive’s payments and benefits shall be capped at the greater of: (i) the “safe harbor” amount under
Section 280G of the Code, such that the payments and benefits are not deemed to be “excess parachute payments” or (ii) the amount of payments and benefits that would otherwise be
provided under the agreement so long as the payments and benefits outweigh the tax consequences to them of receipt thereof.

Employment Agreements and Letters
As noted in “Employment Agreements and Other Compensation Arrangements” above, each NEO has entered into an employment agreement or employment letter with the Company
that was in effect during 2019; Mr. Lieb has entered into a transition and separation agreement as discussed above. The terms of these various employment agreements that provide
benefits upon a termination of employment under various scenarios are set forth below.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Case
Mr. Case’s employment agreement provides that, in the event of Mr. Case’s death or termination of employment due to disability during the term of the agreement, he (or, if applicable,
his heirs, executors or the administrators of his estate) will receive: (i) his accrued base salary through and including his termination date; (ii) any annual incentive bonus earned and
payable but not yet paid for the bonus year prior to the year in which termination of employment occurs; (iii) a prorated annual incentive bonus through and including his termination
date; (iv) other employee benefits to which he was entitled at the time of termination in accordance with the terms of the plans and programs of the Company; and (v) accelerated
vesting of the restricted share unit awards, continued vesting of the share option awards and payment or vesting of any other long-term incentive awards, in each case granted to him
pursuant to his prior employment agreement.
Mr. Case’s employment agreement also provides that if the Company terminates Mr. Case’s employment for cause (as defined in the agreement), or if Mr. Case voluntarily terminates
his employment without good reason (as defined in the agreement) as determined by a majority of the members of the Board (excluding Mr. Case), Mr. Case will be entitled to receive:
(i) his accrued base salary through and including his date of termination; and (ii) other employee benefits to which he was entitled at the time of his termination in accordance with the
terms of the plans and programs of the Company. In the event of a termination for cause, Mr. Case must immediately resign from the Board.
If the Company terminates his employment for any reason other than cause (as defined in the agreement), or if Mr. Case voluntarily terminates his employment with good reason (as
defined in the agreement), Mr. Case will be entitled to receive: (i) his accrued base salary through and including his date of termination; (ii) any annual incentive bonus earned and
payable but not yet paid for the bonus year prior to the year in which termination of employment occurs; (iii) a prorated annual incentive bonus through and including his date of
termination, subject to the satisfaction of the specified performance goals established for the applicable bonus year; (iv) other employee benefits to which he was entitled at the time of
his termination in accordance with the terms of the plans and programs of the Company; provided that the Company shall continue to provide medical, dental and vision benefits to
Mr. Case, his spouse and dependent children for a period of 24 months following the date of termination, followed with immediate eligibility for coverage under the Company’s retiree
medical program until Mr. Case, his spouse and dependent children become covered by the plan of another employer providing comparable benefits; (v) accelerated vesting of the
restricted share unit awards, continued vesting of the share option awards and payment or vesting of any other long-term incentive awards, in each case granted to him pursuant to his
prior employment agreement; (vi) a lump sum cash payment equal to two times Mr. Case’s target annual incentive bonus for the bonus year in which his employment terminates; and
(vii) subject to continuing compliance with the non-competition, non-solicitation, and confidentiality covenants set forth in the agreement, an amount equal to two times Mr. Case’s base
salary, payable in installment payments when the Company provides salary payments to its executives generally, through the two year non-competition period. The definition of “cause”
under Mr. Case’s employment agreement is substantially similar to the definition of “cause” in the Combined Severance Plan, as described above under “Change in Control Severance
Arrangements.”
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If Mr. Case voluntarily terminates his employment with good reason, he will be entitled to receive the payments and benefits set forth in items (i) through (vii) of the immediately
preceding paragraph. Under his employment agreement, “good reason” is defined as (i) the assignment to Mr. Case of any duties materially inconsistent with his position, authority,
duties, or responsibilities contemplated by his employment agreement; (ii) the Company’s failure to comply with the provisions of his employment agreement regarding compensation;
or (iii) any other material breach by the Company of his employment agreement.
Non-competition and non-solicitation covenants apply to Mr. Case for a period of two years following the termination of his employment without regard to the reason for
such termination.

Employment Agreement with Ms. Davies
Ms. Davies’s employment agreement, as amended, provides that, in the event of the death of Ms. Davies during the term of the agreement, her heirs or executors or the administrators of
her estate will receive: (i) her accrued base salary through and including her date of death plus any unpaid annual or long-term bonus earned for the completed year prior to her death;
and (ii) a lump sum cash payment equal to her base salary at the date of death through April 1, 2023, reduced by the amount of any benefits paid under any life insurance policy
maintained by the Company for her benefit. In the event of the Company’s termination of the employment of Ms. Davies by reason of disability, she will receive: (i) her accrued base
salary through and including her date of termination plus any unpaid annual or long-term bonus earned for the completed year prior to her termination; and (ii) continuation of her base
salary at the rate in effect at the date of termination through April 1, 2023, reduced by the amount of any benefits paid under any disability insurance policy maintained by the Company
for her benefit.
If the Company terminates Ms. Davies’s employment for cause (as defined in her agreement), Ms. Davies will receive: (i) her accrued base salary through her date of termination; and
(ii) other employee benefits to which she was entitled at the time of termination in accordance with the terms of the plans and programs of the Company. If the Company terminates
Ms. Davies’s employment for any reason, other than for cause, and other than due to death or disability, the Company must give Ms. Davies 365 days prior written notice of termination,
and she will be entitled to the following: (i) for the period of time beginning with the Company’s delivery of notice of termination to Ms. Davies and extending through the date of
termination: (a) the Company will continue to pay her salary at the rate in effect on the date of delivery of notice of termination; (b) Ms. Davies will remain eligible for annual bonuses
determined in accordance with the terms of the senior management incentive plan; (c) Ms. Davies will continue to be entitled to all employee benefits; and (d) Ms. Davies will continue
to vest in and be eligible to earn long-term incentive awards; (ii) on the termination date, Ms. Davies shall receive a lump sum cash payment equal to any accrued but unpaid base salary;
any unpaid annual or long-term bonus earned for the completed year prior to such date; and an amount equal to her target full year annual incentive award based on her base salary and
target annual award percentage (or value, as applicable) as determined under the senior management incentive plan in effect for the bonus year in which the notice of termination is
given; and (iii) for two years, provided that Ms. Davies complies with the non-competition, non-solicitation, and confidentiality provisions of the employment agreement, the
continuation of base salary at the rate in effect on the date notice of termination is given. The definition of “cause” under Ms. Davies’s employment agreement is substantially similar to
the definition of “cause” in the Combined Severance Plan, as described above under “Change in Control Severance Arrangements.”
If Ms. Davies voluntarily terminates her employment without good reason (as defined in the agreement), Ms. Davies must give the Company ninety (90) days prior written notice and
will receive: (i) her accrued base salary through her date of termination; and (ii) other employee benefits to which she was entitled at the time of termination in accordance with the
terms of the plans and programs of the Company. If Ms. Davies voluntarily terminates her employment for good reason (as defined in the agreement), Ms. Davies must give the
Company thirty (30) days’ prior written notice and Ms. Davies will receive the benefits outlined in the second sentence of the immediately preceding paragraph, with the date of the
delivery by Ms. Davies to the Company of notice of termination deemed to be the date of the notice of termination, and the date specified in such notice as Ms. Davies’s last day of
employment with the Company as the termination date. Under her employment agreement, “good reason” is defined as (i) the assignment to Ms. Davies of any duties materially
inconsistent with her position, authority, duties or responsibilities contemplated by her employment agreement; (ii) the Company’s failure to comply with the provisions of her
employment agreement regarding compensation; or (iii) any other material breach by the Company of her employment agreement.
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In addition, if Ms. Davies is terminated without cause, or if she voluntarily terminates her employment for good reason, the share awards and share options granted to Ms. Davies
pursuant to the employment agreement will immediately vest as of the date of termination.
Non-competition and non-solicitation covenants apply to Ms. Davies for a period of two years following the termination of her employment without regard to the reason for
such termination.

Employment Letters with Mr. Andersen, Mr. O’Connor, Mr. Lieb, and Mr. Bruno
The employment agreements with Mr. Andersen, Mr. O’Connor, Mr. Lieb, and Mr. Bruno were each transitioned to employment letters dated May 11, 2018, March 1, 2018 (which was
amended and restated dated May 11, 2018), November 6, 2018, and November 6, 2018, respectively, as described in “Employment Agreements and Other Compensation Arrangements”
above. The employment letters with Mr. Andersen, Mr. O’Connor, Mr. Lieb, and Mr. Bruno contain substantially similar termination provisions. The letters each provide that the
executive is eligible to participate in the Combined Severance Plan. Under the Combined Severance Plan, if the executive experiences a “non-qualifying termination” (meaning a
termination by the Company for cause, a termination by the executive without good reason, or a termination due to death or total disability), he will receive all base salary, benefits, and
other compensation entitlements that are accrued and vested but unpaid through the date of termination. In the event of a “qualifying termination” (meaning a termination by the
Company without cause or a termination by the executive for good reason), he is entitled to receive a cash payment equal to his then-current base salary, as well as all base salary,
benefits, and other compensation entitlements that are accrued and vested but unpaid through the date of termination. The Company is required to provide the executive at least 365
days’ prior notice of termination without cause, and the executive is required to provide the Company at least 30 days’ prior notice of voluntary termination for any reason. Under the
Combined Severance Plan, “good reason” means (i) a substantial adverse change in authority, powers, functions, duties or responsibilities, or (ii) a material reduction in salary or bonus
opportunity. The definition of “cause” under the Combined Severance Plan is described above under “Change in Control Severance Arrangements.”
Mr. Lieb and Aon entered into a transition and separation agreement effective June 3, 2019, in connection with which Mr. Lieb resigned as our Executive Vice President, General
Counsel, and Company Secretary and transitioned to the role of Special Legal Advisor to our CEO, effective June 24, 2019. During the transition period through Mr. Lieb’s anticipated
separation from service on December 31, 2020, Mr. Lieb will continue to receive his base salary. Mr. Lieb’s transition and separation agreement is described in the CD&A under
“Transition and Separation Agreement with Mr. Lieb.”
Mr. O’Connor notified the Company on February 20, 2020, of his decision to step down from his position as Co-President of the Company, effective immediately. Mr. O’Connor will
remain at the Company for a transition period to be determined.

Leadership Performance Program
The LPP is a sub-plan of our Shareholder-Approved Plan that is intended to unite senior leaders of the Company around the common objectives of growing value, driving and
motivating performance, and aligning senior executives with the overall success of the Company. For purposes of the tables above, performance share units granted pursuant to the LPP
performance cycles will be treated as follows upon the occurrence of various termination events:
•

If the executive’s employment is terminated voluntarily without good reason or involuntarily for cause, participation in the LPP is cancelled retroactively back to the beginning of
the performance period and performance share units will be forfeited in their entirety.

•

Under “Death” and “Disability”: (i) if death or disability occurs in the first or second calendar years of the performance cycle, the performance share units will become immediately
vested at the target award level and convert to Class A Ordinary Shares as soon as administratively feasible following such death or disability; and (ii) if death or disability occurs in
the third calendar year of the performance cycle, the performance share units will become vested at the greater of: (a) the target award level; or (b) the number of units earned based
on the actual achievement of cumulative earnings for the entire performance cycle.

•

Under “Retirement,” “Voluntary—Good Reason,” and “Involuntary—Without Cause,” a prorated amount of the outstanding performance share units convert to Class A Ordinary
Shares at the end of the performance period based on the cumulative growth achieved during the NEO’s employment during the performance period as a proportion of the total
achieved over the performance period. For purposes of the calculation set forth in the preceding sentence only, the growth achieved during the
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NEO’s employment will be measured as of the last full calendar quarter preceding the termination date. Effective for LPP cycles beginning in 2018 and later, the prorated amount
will be based on the percentage of full participating quarters completed during the NEO’s employment during the performance period as a proportion of the total performance period.
•

Under “Qualifying After Change in Control,” the outstanding performance share units convert to Class A Ordinary Shares as follows: (i) if the NEO’s employment is terminated
without cause following a change in control but prior to the end of the performance period, the conversion occurs at the greater of: (a) 100% of the target level; or (b) the number of
shares that would have resulted from the growth rate achieved during the NEO’s period of service during the performance period, measured as of the last full calendar quarter
preceding the termination date; and (ii) in the event of a termination for cause, voluntary termination, death or disability, or if the NEO’s employment continues through the end of
the performance period, the treatment of performance share units described elsewhere in this section shall apply as if a change in control did not occur. In addition, amounts
calculated using the methodology as described in this paragraph represent, for all grants, the payout of a prorated amount of the outstanding performance share units at current
performance levels. For grants of performance share units under the LPP, in the event of a change in control, without a qualifying termination, where the successor entity does not
assume and continue the respective LPP, the outstanding performance share units will immediately convert to Class A Ordinary Shares at the greater of: (i) 100% of the target level;
or (ii) the number of shares that would have resulted from the growth rate achieved during the performance period measured as of the last full calendar quarter preceding the
consummation of the change in control.

2019 Director Compensation
The table below summarizes compensation for the Company’s Board members who are not employees of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. All nonmanagement directors are referred to in this proxy statement as “non-management directors.”
Mr. Case receives no additional compensation for his services as a member of the Board. The compensation received by Mr. Case as an employee of the Company is shown in the
Summary Compensation Table for Fiscal Years 2019, 2018, and 2017 set forth in this proxy statement.
The Compensation Committee periodically reviews the compensation of the Company’s non-management directors, including the compensation of the Company’s non-executive Chair.

Name
Jin-Yong Cai
Jeffrey C. Campbell
Fulvio Conti
Cheryl A. Francis
Lester B. Knight
J. Michael Losh
Richard B. Myers
Richard C. Notebaert
Gloria Santona
Carolyn Y. Woo
(1)

Fees Earned
or Paid in
Cash ($)
136,000
136,000
136,000
136,000
156,000
161,000
136,000
156,000
156,000
136,000

Stock
Awards
($)(1)
176,082
176,082
176,082
176,082
401,130
176,082
176,082
176,082
176,082
176,082

All Other
Compensation
($)(2)
24,727
25,610
29,171
10,000
113,024
10,000
26,101
10,000
30,742
10,000

Total
($)
336,809
337,692
341,253
322,082
670,154
347,082
338,183
342,082
362,824
322,082

The amounts shown in “Stock Awards” reflect the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718 of Class A Ordinary Shares granted in 2019. Additional information regarding the share
awards granted to each non-management director in 2019 is contained under the heading “Elements of Director Compensation.”
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(2)

During 2019, the amounts reported as “All Other Compensation” consist of the following components:
Matching
Contribution
($)(a)
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000

Name
Jin-Yong Cai
Jeffrey C. Campbell
Fulvio Conti
Cheryl A. Francis
Lester B. Knight
J. Michael Losh
Richard B. Myers
Richard C. Notebaert
Gloria Santona
Carolyn Y. Woo

Tax
Equalization
($)(b)
14,727
15,610
19,171
(0)
103,024
(0)
16,101
(0)
20,742
(0)

Total
($)
24,727
25,610
29,171
10,000
113,024
10,000
26,101
10,000
30,742
10,000

(a)

The amounts shown in the “Matching Contribution” column consist of a matching contribution of up to $10,000 on behalf of the non-management director to various organizations pursuant to the Aon Foundation
Directors Matching Gift Program.

(b)

The amounts shown in the “Tax Equalization” column consist of the amount paid towards U.K. income taxes on behalf of the non-management director pursuant to our tax equalization policy. Due to tax
reconciliation payments made to Aon in 2019, Ms. Francis, Mr. Losh, Mr. Notebaert, and Ms. Woo had a negative reportable benefits value, which are shown as zero. See “Components of Director Compensation
—Tax Equalization” below.

Elements of Director Compensation
Element
Cash Compensation

Description
Cash compensation payable in arrears to each
non-management director.

Equity Compensation

Annual grant of fully vested shares to each nonmanagement director. The number of Class A Ordinary
Shares granted is determined by dividing the grant date
value by the closing price of a Class A Ordinary Share
on the date of grant.

2019 Value
$136,000
Additional retainer of $20,000 for the Chair of each Board
committee (other than Audit Committee)
Additional retainer of $25,000 for Chair of Audit
Committee
Grant date value of $176,000 to each non-management
director other than the non-executive Chair
Grant date value of $401,000 for the non-executive Chair

2020 Changes
No changes
No changes

No changes
No changes

The Company has adopted individual limits on annual non-management director compensation. The maximum value of total cash and equity compensation that may be paid annually is
$600,000 for non-management directors other than the non-executive Chair, and $900,000 for the non-executive Chair. The maximum tax equalization payment that may be paid
annually is $150,000 for non-management directors other than the non-executive Chair, and $250,000 for the non-executive Chair. The maximum value of other benefits (excluding
charitable contributions under the Aon Corporation Outside Director Corporate Bequest Plan) that may be provided annually is $25,000 for all non-management directors, including the
non-executive Chair.
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Other Policies and Practices
Tax Equalization

Matching Charitable
Contributions
Bequest Plan

Expense Reimbursement

Non-management directors are eligible to receive a tax equalization payment if the U.K. income taxes owed on their director compensation exceed
the income taxes owed on such compensation in their country of residence. Without these tax equalization payments, a director would be subject to
double taxation since they are already paying taxes on their director income in their country of residence. We believe these tax equalization
payments are appropriate to help ensure our ability to continue to attract qualified persons who do not reside in the U.K.
During 2019, Aon Foundation matched up to $10,000 of charitable contributions made to a qualified organization by any non-management director
under the Aon Foundation Directors Matching Gift Program.
Non-management directors elected or appointed to serve on the Board before January 1, 2006, and who have completed at least one year of service
as a member of the Board, remain eligible to participate in the Aon Corporation Outside Director Corporate Bequest Plan (the “Bequest Plan”),
established in 1994. Non-management directors elected or appointed to serve on the Board on or after January 1, 2006, are not eligible to
participate in the Bequest Plan.
The Bequest Plan was established to acknowledge the service of non-management directors, to recognize the mutual interest of Aon and our nonmanagement directors in supporting worthy charitable institutions, and to assist us in attracting and retaining non-management directors of the
highest caliber. Individual non-management directors derive no financial benefit from the Bequest Plan, as any and all insurance proceeds and taxdeductible charitable donations accrue solely to Aon.
The Bequest Plan allows each eligible non-management director to recommend total charitable contributions of up to $1,000,000 to eligible taxexempt organizations chosen by the eligible non-management director and approved by Aon Foundation. Each eligible non-management director
may designate up to five tax-qualified organizations to receive a portion of the $1,000,000 bequest amount, subject to a $100,000 minimum amount
per organization. Each eligible non-management director is paired with another eligible non-management director under the Bequest Plan. The
distribution of each eligible non-management director’s charitable bequest amount will begin at the later of: (i) the death of such eligible nonmanagement director; or (ii) the death of the other eligible non-management director with whom such eligible non-management director is paired.
Distributions under the Bequest Plan, once they begin, will be made to the designated tax qualified organization(s) in 10 equal annual installments.
Aon pays or reimburses non-management directors for reasonable travel, lodging and related expenses in connection with their attendance at Board,
Committee or business meetings and for other reasonable expenses related to Board service such as continuing education.
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CEO Pay Ratio
As required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, we are providing the following information regarding the relationship between the annual total
compensation of our median employee and the annual total compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Case. For 2019, our last completed fiscal year, the median annual total
compensation of our employees (excluding Mr. Case) was $65,497, and the annual total compensation of Mr. Case was $16,027,458 (this amount differs from the total compensation
amount reflected in the Summary Compensation Table appearing on page 36 of this proxy statement because it also includes the value of certain personal benefits and compensation
under our non-discriminatory benefit plans). Based on this information and applicable SEC rules, our estimate of the ratio of Mr. Case’s annual total compensation to the median of the
annual total compensation for all employees in 2019 was 245 to 1. Given the different methodologies that various public companies will use to determine an estimate of their pay ratio,
the estimated ratio reported above should not be used as a basis for comparison between companies.
To identify the median of the annual total compensation of all our employees, we first determined that our total global employee population (including full-time, part-time, and
temporary employees) as of December 1, 2019 was 47,920. As permitted by SEC rules which allow exclusion of a de minimis number of non-US employees in certain jurisdictions, we
then excluded the following number of employees in the following jurisdictions, resulting in a total employee number (after applying the exclusions) of 47,377.
Excluded Jurisdiction
Angola
Aruba

Number of
Employees
25
1

Bermuda

140

Botswana

145

Curacao

12

Cyprus

4

Iraq

2

Israel

87

Macao

8

Malta

10

Mauritius

3

Morocco

48

Northern Mariana Islands
Trinidad & Tobago
Tunisia

6
8
44

TOTAL

543

Percentage of Total Population Excluded

1.13%

To identify the median employee from this population, we determined that our compensation measure for this purpose would include: (1) an estimate of base salary, determined using
the employee’s rate of pay and their work schedule (part-time or full-time), and (for permanent employees who worked part of the year) adjusted for annualization as permitted under
SEC rules; and (2) actual performance-based incentives paid under our annual incentive plan during 2019. We chose to use base salary and annual incentives as our compensation
measure because these two components represent the most consistently used elements of remuneration across our global workforce (unlike, for example, long-term incentive equity
awards, which are only granted to roughly 10% of our employee population). Further, these two components are the most consistently recorded items in our global compensation
system. A small percentage of our global employee population is employed on a seasonal or temporary basis; due to difficulties in collecting consistent data regarding periods of actual
employment, we estimated the base salary and annual incentive for this group to be zero.
After identifying our median employee by applying the above-described compensation measure consistently to all employees included in the calculation, we identified and calculated
the elements of that employee’s total compensation for 2019 and included the value of any personal benefits and compensation under our non-discriminatory benefit plans, as provided
in applicable SEC rules. For the median employee, a substantial percentage (approximately 14%) of the total compensation amount was provided in the form of Company contributions
to retirement funds and the cost of health and welfare coverage, which are in addition to the cash component of compensation.
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Proposal 3– Resolution to Ratify the Appointment of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that shareholders vote “FOR” the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young
US as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2020.
What am I voting on?
The Audit Committee has appointed Ernst & Young US as Aon’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2020, subject to ratification by our
shareholders. Ernst & Young US was first retained as the independent registered public accounting firm of the predecessor entities to Aon, in February 1986. Although the ratification of
this appointment is not required to be submitted to a vote of the shareholders, the Board believes it appropriate as a matter of policy to request that the shareholders ratify the
appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm for the year 2020. If this proposal does not receive an affirmative majority of the votes cast, in person or by proxy, by
shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, the Audit Committee will reconsider the appointment, but may decide to maintain its appointment of Ernst & Young US.
The form of shareholder resolution for this proposal is set forth under the heading “Shareholder Resolutions for 2020 Annual General Meeting” on page 68 of this proxy statement.
We anticipate that a representative of Ernst & Young US will be present at the Annual Meeting. The representative will be given the opportunity to make a statement if he or she desires
to do so.

Proposal 4 –Resolution to Re-appoint Ernst & Young Ireland as the
Company’s Statutory Auditor Under Irish Law
The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that shareholders vote “FOR” the reappointment of Ernst & Young Ireland as the
Company’s statutory auditor or under Irish law, to hold office from the conclusion of the Annual Meeting until the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting.
What am I voting on?
Under the Irish Companies Act, our statutory auditor under Irish law must be appointed at each annual general meeting of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of that
meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting. Ernst & Young Ireland has served as our statutory auditor since our re-registration as a public limited company on
March 18, 2020. If this proposal does not receive an affirmative majority of the votes cast, in person or by proxy, by shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, the Board may
appoint a statutory auditor to fill the vacancy.
The form of shareholder resolution for this proposal is set forth under the heading “Shareholder Resolutions for 2020 Annual General Meeting” on page 68 of this proxy statement.
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Proposal 5—Resolution to Authorize the Board or the Audit Committee of
the Board to Determine the Remuneration of the Company’s Statutory
Auditor Under Irish Law
The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that shareholders vote “FOR” the authorization of the Board or the Audit Committee
of the Board to determine the remuneration of the Company’s statutory auditor under Irish law.
What am I voting on?
Under the Irish Companies Act, the remuneration of our statutory auditor under Irish law must be fixed in a general meeting of the Company or in such manner as may be determined in
a general meeting. We are asking our shareholders to authorize our Board or the Audit Committee of the Board to determine Ernst & Young Ireland’s remuneration as our statutory
auditor under Irish law for the duration of Ernst & Young Ireland’s term of office. It is proposed that the Board would delegate the authority to determine the remuneration of the
Company statutory auditor under Irish law to the Audit Committee of the Board in accordance with the Board’s procedures and applicable law.
The form of shareholder resolution for this proposal is set forth under the heading “Shareholder Resolutions for 2020 Annual General Meeting” on page 68 of this proxy statement.
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Other Information
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table summarizes the number of Class A Ordinary Shares that may be issued under our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2019.

Plan Category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(a)

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders(5)
Total
(1)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding securities
reflected in column (a))
(c)

6,524,620(1)(2)

52.93(3)

11,337,577(4)

421,018
6,945,638

—(6)
52.93

—(7)
11,337,577

This amount includes the following:
–

60,000 shares that may be issued in connection with outstanding share options under the 2001 Aon Stock Incentive Plan

–

3,621,901 shares that may be issued in connection with share awards;

–

12,077 shares that may be used in connection with share awards under the 2001 Aon Stock Incentive Plan;

–

98,543 shares that may be issued in connection with deferred share awards under the 2001 Aon Stock Incentive Plan;

–

104,131 shares that may be issued in connection with the US employee share purchase plan;

–

225,850 shares that may be issued in connection with the UK ShareSave share plan;

–

70,387 shares that may be issued to satisfy obligations under the Aon Deferred Compensation Plan in connection with the 2001 Aon Stock Incentive Plan; and

–

2,331,731 shares that may be issued in connection with the settlement of performance share units. For awards where the performance period has been completed, the actual
number of shares to be issued is shown. For awards tracking significantly below threshold, the threshold number of shares which may be issued is shown. For all other
performance share awards, the maximum number of shares which may be issued is shown.

(2)

On November 1, 2002, the Aon Deferred Compensation Plan was amended to discontinue the distribution of shares with respect to deferrals after November 1, 2002 from that
plan. As of December 31, 2019, based on a share price of $208.29, the maximum number of shares that could be issued under the Aon Deferred Compensation Plan was 70,387.

(3)

Indicates weighted average exercise price of 60,000 outstanding options under the 2001 Aon Stock Incentive Plan.

(4)

The total number of Class A Ordinary Shares authorized for issuance in connection with awards under the Amended and Restated Aon plc 2011 Incentive Plan, as amended, is
39,000,000. As of December 31, 2019, 8,214,390 shares remained available for future issuance under this plan. The amount shown in column (c) also includes 3,123,188 shares
available for future issuance under the Aon plc Global Share Purchase Plan, including 104,131 shares subject to purchase as of December 31, 2019. Permissible awards under the
Shareholder-Approved Plan include share options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units and other share-based awards, including awards where the
vesting, granting or settlement of which is contingent upon the achievement of specified performance goals, called “performance awards.”

(5)

Below are the material features of our equity compensation plans that have not been approved by shareholders:
Aon Supplemental Savings Plan
The Supplemental Savings Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors of Aon Corporation in 1998. It is a nonqualified supplemental retirement plan that provides benefits to
participants in the Aon Savings Plan whose employer matching contributions are limited because of IRS-imposed restrictions. Prior to January 1, 2004, participants covered
under the
Supplemental Plan were credited with an additional matching allocation they would have received under the former Aon Savings Plan provisions—100% of the first 1% to 3% of
compensation (“Tier I”) and 75% of the next 4% to 6% of compensation (“Tier 2”)—had
2020 Aon Proxy Statement

59

compensation up to $500,000 been considered. Between January 1, 2004 and December 31, 2005, only participants defined as employees of Aon Consulting’s Human Resource
Outsourcing Group maintained the matching provision in the Supplemental Plan. Participants may elect to have Tier I allocations credited to their accounts as if invested in a
money market account or as if invested in Class A Ordinary Shares. Tier I allocations directed to a Class A Ordinary Shares account may not be moved to the money market
account, regardless of the participant’s age. As of January 1, 2006, no participants are eligible for Tier I or Tier II matching allocations. Before the beginning of each plan year,
an election may be made by any participant to transfer some or all of a participant’s money market account to the Class A Ordinary Shares account. All amounts credited to the
Class A Ordinary Shares account are credited with dividends and other investment returns as under the Aon Savings Plan fund. Between January 1, 2004 and December 31, 2008,
the Supplemental Plan provision in effect provided employees hired January 1, 2004 and later, benefits on plan compensation above the IRS limits (and up to $500,000) as under
the Aon Retirement Account (the “ARA”) provision of the Aon Savings Plan. Benefits were in the form of a discretionary non-contributory company contribution made to
eligible employees active at the end of the plan year with 1,000 or more hours of paid service. The Supplemental Plan ARA allocation was calculated using the same formula that
the Board determines for the Aon Savings Plan ARA. Ongoing balances which resulted from the Supplemental Plan ARA allocation will continue to track the same investment
options as selected by the participant under the Aon Savings Plan. This includes the Aon Class A Ordinary Shares option, and, like the Aon Savings Plan provision, has no
transfer restrictions.
Effective for plan years beginning January 1, 2009, a new Supplemental Plan provision went into effect whereby employees were credited with an additional matching
allocation they would have received under the new Aon Savings Plan match provision—100% of the first 6% of compensation—had compensation up to $500,000 been
considered. Participants must also contribute the limit prescribed by the IRS ($19,000 for 2019) and be active on the last day of the year in order to receive the allocation.
As of December 31, 2019, the number of shares that could be issued under the plan was 280,298.
Aon Supplemental Employee Stock Ownership Plan
The Aon Supplemental Employee Stock Ownership Plan was a plan established in 1989 as a nonqualified supplemental retirement plan that provided benefits to
participants in the Aon Employee Stock Ownership Plan whose employer contributions were limited because of IRS-imposed restrictions. As of 1998, no additional
amounts have been credited to participant accounts, although account balances are maintained for participants, and credited with dividends, until distribution is required
under the plan. Distributions are made solely in Class A Ordinary Shares. No specific authorization of Class A Ordinary Shares for the plan has been made. As of
December 31, 2019, the number of shares that could be issued under the plan was 140,720.
(6)

The weighted-average exercise price of such shares is uncertain and is not included in this column.

(7)

None of these equity compensation plans contain a limit on the number of shares that may be issued under such plans; however, these plans are subject to the limitations set forth
in the descriptions of these plans contained in Note 5 above.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Aon has adopted procedures governing the review and approval of related party transactions. The terms of these procedures provide that the Governance/Nominating Committee will
review transactions in which: (i) Aon is a party, participant, or has a direct or indirect material interest; (ii) the amount involved exceeds or reasonably can be expected to exceed
$120,000; and (iii) any director, executive officer or holder of five percent (5%) or more of Aon’s voting securities, or an immediate family member of any such person, has a direct or
indirect material interest. To facilitate the review and approval of related party transactions, Aon’s directors and executive officers complete an annual director and officer questionnaire
and disclose all potential related person transactions involving themselves and their immediate family members. Throughout the year, directors and executive officers are required to
notify Aon’s General Counsel of any potential related person transactions of which they become aware. Aon’s General Counsel reports these transactions, as well as any other related
party transactions of which he is aware, to the Governance/Nominating Committee. The Governance/Nominating Committee considers all relevant facts of any related party transactions
to determine whether to approve or ratify the transaction.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that each of our directors and executive officers, and any other person who owns more than 10% of our Class A Ordinary Shares, file with
the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our Class A Ordinary Shares. To our knowledge, based solely on information furnished to us and written
representations by such persons that no such other reports were required to be filed, Aon believes that all such SEC filing requirements were met in a timely manner during 2019 other
than with respect to a Form 4 filed on behalf of Christa Davies to report the vesting and sale of shares on February 19, 2019 and a form 4 filed on behalf of Michael O’Connor to report
a sale of shares on February 20, 2019.
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Shareholder Proposals for 2021 Annual General Meeting
Shareholders who, in accordance with the SEC’s Rule 14a-8, wish to present proposals for inclusion in the proxy materials to be distributed by us in connection with our 2021 annual
general meeting must submit their proposals to the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office at Aon Metropolitan Building, James Joyce Street, Dublin 1, Ireland, on or
before December 27, 2020. As the rules of the SEC make clear, simply submitting a proposal does not guarantee its inclusion in our proxy statement.
In accordance with our Articles, and without prejudice to the rights of a shareholder of record under applicable law, in order to nominate a candidate for election as a director or properly
bring other business before the 2021 annual general meeting, a shareholder’s notice of the matter the shareholder wishes to present must be delivered to the Company Secretary at the
Company’s registered office at Metropolitan Building, James Joyce Street, Dublin 1, Ireland, not less than 90 nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date of the
Annual Meeting. As a result, any notice given by or on behalf of a shareholder pursuant to these provisions of our Articles (and not pursuant to the SEC’s Rule 14a-8) must be received
no earlier than February 20, 2021 and no later than March 21, 2021.

Incorporation By Reference
To the extent that this proxy statement is incorporated by reference into any other filing by Aon with the SEC under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the
Exchange Act, the information contained in the section of this proxy statement entitled “Report of the Audit Committee” (to the extent permitted by the rules of the SEC) will not be
deemed incorporated, unless specifically provided otherwise in such filing. The information contained in the Compensation Committee Report will not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, other than Aon’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, except to the extent specifically provided otherwise in
such filing.

Other Matters
The Board is not aware of any business to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting other than that described in this proxy statement. If any other business comes before the Annual
Meeting, the proxy holders (as indicated on the accompanying proxy card or cards) will vote the proxies according to their best judgment with respect to such matters.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This proxy statement and any documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement contain certain statements related to future results, or state our intentions, beliefs and
expectations or predictions for the future, which are forward-looking statements as that term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements represent management’s expectations or forecasts of future events. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “forecast,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “probably,” “potential,” “looking forward,” “continue” and other similar terms, and future or conditional tense verbs like “could,”
“may,” “might,” “should,” “will” and “would.” You can also identify forward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. For example, we
may use forward-looking statements when addressing topics such as: market and industry conditions, including competitive and pricing trends; public health concerns and continuing
uncertainty in connection with COVID-19; changes in our business strategies and methods of generating revenue; the development and performance of our services and products;
changes in the composition or level of our revenues; our cost structure and the outcome of cost-saving or restructuring initiatives; the outcome of contingencies; dividend policy; the
expected impact of acquisitions and dispositions; pension obligations; cash flow and liquidity; expected effective tax rate; future actions by regulators; and the impact of changes in
accounting rules. These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from either historical or anticipated
results depending on a variety of factors. Potential factors that could impact results include:
•

general economic and political conditions in the countries in which we do business around the world, including the U.K.’s withdrawal from the European Union;

•

changes in the competitive environment or damage to our reputation;

•

fluctuations in exchange and interest rates that could influence revenue and expenses;

•

changes in global equity and fixed income markets that could affect the return on invested assets;

•

changes in the funding status of our various defined benefit pension plans and the impact of any increased pension funding resulting from those changes;
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•

the level of our debt limiting financial flexibility or increasing borrowing costs;

•

rating agency actions that could affect our ability to borrow funds;

•

volatility in our tax rate due to a variety of different factors, including U.S. federal income tax reform;

•

changes in estimates or assumptions on our financial statements;

•

limits on our subsidiaries to make dividend and other payments to us;

•

the impact of lawsuits and other contingent liabilities and loss contingencies arising from errors and omissions and other claims against us;

•

the impact of, and potential challenges in complying with, legislation and regulation in the jurisdictions in which we operate, particularly given the global scope of our businesses
and the possibility of conflicting regulatory requirements across jurisdictions in which we do business;

•

the impact of any investigations brought by regulatory authorities in the U.S., the U.K. and other countries;

•

the impact of any inquiries relating to compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and non-U.S. anti-corruption laws and with U.S. and non-U.S. trade
sanctions regimes;

•

failure to protect intellectual property rights or allegations that we infringe on the intellectual property rights of others;

•

the effects of Irish law on our operating flexibility and the enforcement of judgments against us;

•

the failure to retain and attract qualified personnel;

•

international risks associated with our global operations;

•

the effect of natural or man-made disasters, including the effects of COVID-19 and other health pandemics;

•

the potential of a system or network breach or disruption resulting in operational interruption or improper disclosure of personal data;

•

our ability to develop and implement new technology;

•

the damage to our reputation among clients, markets or third parties;

•

the actions taken by third parties that perform aspects of our business operations and client services;

•

the extent to which we manage certain risks created in connection with the services, including fiduciary and investments, consulting, and other advisory, among others, that we
currently provide, or will provide in the future, to clients;

•

our ability to continue, and the costs and risks associated with, growing, developing and integrating companies that we acquire or new lines of business;

•

changes in commercial property and casualty markets, commercial premium rates or methods of compensation;

•

changes in the health care system or our relationships with insurance carriers;

•

our ability to implement initiatives intended to yield cost savings and the ability to achieve those cost savings; and

•

our ability to realize the intended benefits from our restructuring plan.
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Any or all of these forward-looking statements may turn out to be inaccurate, and there are no guarantees about our performance. The factors identified above are not exhaustive. We
and our subsidiaries operate in a dynamic business environment in which new risks may emerge frequently. Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the dates on which they are made. We are under no obligation (and expressly disclaim any obligation) to update or alter any forward-looking
statement that we may make from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Further information about factors that could materially affect us,
including our results of operations and financial condition, is contained in the “Risk Factors” section in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019, and in Part II, Item 1A of our subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, in each case as filed with the SEC.
2020 Aon Proxy Statement

63

Questions and Answers About the 2020 Annual
General Meeting and Voting
Why did I receive these proxy materials?
We have made these proxy materials available to you on the Internet or have delivered printed versions of these materials to you by mail to comply with our obligations under the Irish
Companies Act in connection with the solicitation of proxies for use at the Annual Meeting, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof.
The Notice of Internet Availability and proxy materials were first mailed on or about April 24, 2020 to shareholders who held shares as of April 17, 2020, which we refer to as the
“record date.”

Will any other matters be decided at the Annual Meeting?
At the date of this proxy statement, we do not know of any other matters to be raised at the Annual Meeting other than those described in this proxy statement. If any other matters are,
in accordance with applicable law and the Company’s Articles, properly presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting, such matters will, subject to the Articles and applicable law,
be considered at the Annual Meeting and the individuals named in the proxy card will vote on such matters in their discretion.

Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?
Holders of our Class A Ordinary Shares, nominal value $0.01 per share as of the close of business in New York on April 17, 2020, are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. As of that
date, being the last practicable date prior to the publication of this proxy statement, there were 231,082,482 Class A Ordinary Shares outstanding and entitled to vote. Unless
disenfranchised under applicable law and/or the Articles, each Class A Ordinary Share is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the Annual Meeting. Therefore, the
total voting rights in the Company as at April 17, 2020 are 231,082,482 Class A Ordinary Shares.

What is the difference between holding Class A Ordinary Shares as a shareholder of record and as a beneficial owner?
If you are registered on the register of members of the Company in respect of Class A Ordinary Shares, you are considered, with respect to those Class A Ordinary Shares, the
shareholder of record, and these proxy materials are being sent directly to you by the Company.
If your Class A Ordinary Shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a broker, bank, or other nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name, and
these proxy materials or the Notice of Internet Availability are being made available or forwarded to you by your broker, bank, or other nominee who is considered, with respect to those
shares, the shareholder of record. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank, or other nominee on how to vote your Class A Ordinary Shares by following
the instructions for voting on the proxy card or Notice of Internet Availability.

How do I vote?
If you are a shareholder of record, you may appoint a proxy to vote on your behalf using any of the following methods:
•

by telephone using the toll-free telephone number shown on the proxy card or the Notice of Internet Availability;

•

through the Internet as instructed on the proxy card or the Notice of Internet Availability;

•

if you received proxy materials by mail or if you request a paper proxy card by telephone or through the Internet, you may elect to vote by mail by completing and signing the proxy
card and returning it in the envelope provided to Proxy Services c/o Computershare Investor Services, PO Box 505008, Louisville, KY 40233-9814 inside the United States and
Proxy Services c/o Computershare Investor Services, PO Box 505008, Louisville, KY 40233-5008 outside of the U.S. (which will be forwarded to the Company’s registered office
in Ireland electronically) or otherwise depositing it at the Company’s registered office in Ireland.

To be valid, a proxy must be received by no later than 11:59 EDT on June 18, 2020 (or in the case of an adjournment or postponement thereof, such later time as may be announced by
the Company not being greater than 48 hours before the adjourned or postponed meeting (the “proxy deadline”).
You may also vote at the Annual Meeting if you attend in person, although, in light of public health concerns and current local travel recommendations and restrictions, we strongly
advise shareholders not to do so.
Telephone and Internet proxy appointment facilities for shareholders of record will be available 24 hours a day. If you properly give instructions as to your proxy appointment by
telephone, through the Internet or by executing and returning a paper
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proxy card, and your proxy appointment is not subsequently revoked, your Class A Ordinary Shares will be voted in accordance with your instructions. If you are a shareholder of record
and you execute and return a proxy card but do not give instructions, your proxy will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Board.
Any corporate or institutional shareholder of record may, by resolution of its articles or other governing body, authorize another person to act as its representative at the Annual Meeting,
and such authorized person will (on production of a certified copy of such resolution at the Annual Meeting) be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the corporation as that
corporation could exercise if it was an individual shareholder of the Company.
If you are a beneficial owner, you should follow the directions provided by your broker, bank, or other nominee. You may submit instructions by telephone or through the Internet to
your broker, bank, or other nominee, or request and return a paper proxy card to your broker, bank, or other nominee.
In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior holder who submits a vote will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote of the other joint holders, with seniority determined by the
order in which the names of the holders appear in the register of members.
We will distribute written ballots to anyone who wants to vote in person at the Annual Meeting. If you are a beneficial owner, you should obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank, or
other nominee and present it to the inspectors of election with your ballot to be able to vote at the Annual Meeting (see the section titled “Who can attend the Annual Meeting?” below).

What should I do if I receive more than one Notice of Internet Availability of proxy materials or proxy card?
If you own some Class A Ordinary Shares directly in your name as a registered holder and other Class A Ordinary Shares as a beneficial owner through a broker, bank, or other
nominee, or if you own Class A Ordinary Shares through more than one broker, bank, or other nominee, you may receive multiple Notices of Internet Availability or multiple proxy
cards. It is necessary for you to fill in, sign, and return all of the proxy cards included in the proxy materials that you receive or for you to follow the instructions for any alternative
voting procedure on each of the Notices of Internet Availability that you receive in order to vote all of the shares you own.

How is a quorum determined?
The presence of the holders of shares in the Company who together represent at least the majority of the voting rights of all of the shareholders entitled to vote, in person or by proxy, at
the Annual Meeting is necessary to constitute a quorum. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining a quorum at the
Annual Meeting.

What is a broker non-vote?
If you own your Class A Ordinary Shares through a broker, bank, or other nominee, and do not provide the organization that holds your Class A Ordinary Shares with specific voting
instructions, pursuant to the rules of the NYSE, the bank, broker, or other nominee is generally permitted to vote your Class A Ordinary Shares at its discretion on certain routine
matters. With respect to certain non-routine matters, the broker, bank, or other nominee is not permitted to vote your Class A Ordinary Shares for you. If the broker, bank, or other
nominee that holds your Class A Ordinary Shares does not receive voting instructions from you on how to vote your Class A Ordinary Shares on a non-routine matter, it will inform the
inspector of election that it does not have the authority to vote on this matter with respect to your Class A Ordinary Shares. A broker non-vote occurs when a broker, bank, or other
nominee holding Class A Ordinary Shares on your behalf does not vote on a particular proposal because it has not received voting instructions from you and does not have discretionary
voting power with respect to that proposal.

What proposals are considered “routine” or “non-routine”?
Proposals 3, 4, and 5 (the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young US as Aon’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2020, appointment of Ernst & Young Ireland
as Aon’s statutory auditor under Irish law, and authorizing the Board to determine Ernst & Young Ireland’s remuneration) are each considered a routine matter under the rules of the
NYSE. A broker, bank, or other nominee may generally vote on routine matters, and therefore no broker non-votes are expected to occur in connection with Proposals 3, 4, and 5.
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Proposals 1 and 2 (the re-election of directors by way of separate ordinary resolutions and the advisory vote on executive compensation) are matters considered non-routine under the
rules of the NYSE. A broker, bank, or other nominee may not vote on these non-routine matters without specific voting instructions from the beneficial owner. As a result, there may be
broker non-votes with respect to Proposals 1 and 2.

What are the voting requirements to elect directors and approve each of the other resolutions?
The re-election of each of the eleven nominees for director will be decided by ordinary resolution, which means that the nominee will be re-elected if a majority of the votes are cast, in
person or by proxy, by the shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting are cast in favor of the nominee’s election. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as a vote
either for or against a nominee for director. If the number of votes cast against an incumbent nominee exceeds the number of votes cast for the nominee, the Governance Guidelines
adopted by our Board provide that the nominee must immediately offer to tender his or her resignation, and the Board, through a process managed by the Governance/Nominating
Committee, will determine whether to accept or reject the resignation, or take other action.
The resolutions proposed in Proposals 2, 3, 4, and 5 require that a majority of the votes cast, in person or by proxy, by the shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting are cast in
favor of the resolution, assuming a quorum is present. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as a vote either for or against these resolutions. If the number of votes cast
against a resolution exceeds the number of votes cast for the resolution, the resolution will not be passed. With respect to the non-binding advisory resolution in Proposal 2, the results of
the vote will not legally require the Board or any committee thereof to take any action (or refrain from taking any action). Nevertheless, our Board values the opinions of our
shareholders as expressed through their advisory votes and other communications and the Board will carefully consider the outcome of the advisory votes.

Can I change my vote and/or revoke my proxy?
If you are a shareholder of record, you can revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the Annual Meeting by:
•

entering a later-dated proxy by telephone or through the Internet by the proxy deadline;

•

delivering a valid, later-dated proxy card by the proxy deadline;

•

sending written notice to the Company Secretary at the registered office; or

•

voting at the Annual Meeting if you attend in person.

If you are a beneficial owner of Class A Ordinary Shares, you may submit new proxy appointment instructions by contacting your broker, bank, or other nominee. You may also vote in
person at the Annual Meeting if you obtain a legal proxy.
All Class A Ordinary Shares that have been properly voted and not revoked will be counted in the votes held on the resolution proposed at the Annual Meeting. Attending the Annual
Meeting without taking further action will not automatically revoke your prior telephone or Internet vote or your proxy.

Who can attend the Annual Meeting?
Shareholders as of the close of business in New York on April 17, 2020, which is the record date for voting, may attend the Annual Meeting virtually in order to hear the proceedings
and ask questions. This virtual attendance does not extend to voting at the meeting. Such shareholders may also attend at the principal meeting place, and vote thereat. In light of public
health concerns and current local travel recommendations and restrictions, we strongly advise shareholders wishing to attend at the Annual Meeting not to attend in person at the
principal meeting place, but instead to vote in advance and, if you wish to hear the proceedings and present questions, to do so virtually as described below. If you are a shareholder of
record and you would like to attend in person, you will need to present the proxy card that you received, together with a form of personal photo identification, in order to be admitted
into the meeting. If you are the beneficial owner of shares held in “street name,”
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you will need to provide proof of ownership, such as a recent account statement or letter from your bank, broker, or other nominee as of the close of business in New York on April 17,
2020, along with a form of personal photo identification. Alternatively, you may contact the broker, bank, or other nominee in whose name your Class A Ordinary Shares are registered
and obtain a legal proxy to bring to the Annual Meeting in order to vote thereat.
In accordance with the requirements of Irish law, shareholders of record who wish to participate in the Annual Meeting without leaving Ireland may do so by attending in person at the
offices of our Irish lawyers, Matheson, located at 70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland, at the meeting date and time described herein, where technological means will be
made available to participate in the meeting. You will need to present the proxy card that you received, together with a form of personal photo identification, in order to be admitted. In
light of public health concerns and local travel recommendations and restrictions in Ireland, we also strongly advise shareholders not to attend at the Matheson offices, but instead to
vote in advance and, if you wish to hear the proceedings and present questions, to do so virtually as described below.

How do I attend the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet?
You will be able to attend the Annual Meeting online to hear the proceedings and submit your questions prior to and during the meeting by visiting: www.meetingcenter.io/228952011
at the meeting date and time described herein and entering the 15-digit control number on the proxy card, email or notice of availability of proxy materials you received and the meeting
password: AON2020. If you hold your shares through an intermediary, such as a bank or broker, you must register in advance using the instructions below. The meeting will begin
promptly at 8:30 a.m. Central Daylight Time. We encourage you to access the meeting prior to the start time leaving ample time for the check in. Please follow the registration
instructions as outlined below. If you are attending the meeting as a “guest,” you will not be able to ask questions prior to and during the meeting. Note that attending the Annual
Meeting virtually will not allow you to vote at the Annual Meeting. Accordingly, we strongly advise you to vote in advance by one of the methods described on page 64 of the Proxy
Statement.

How do I register to attend the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet?
If you are a registered shareholder, you do not need to register to attend the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet. Please follow the instructions on the notice, email, or proxy card
that you received. If you hold your shares through an intermediary, such as a bank or broker, you must register in advance to attend the Annual Meeting virtually via the Internet. To
register to attend the Annual Meeting online, you must submit proof of your proxy power (legal proxy) reflecting your Aon holdings along with your name and email address to
Computershare. Requests for registration must be labeled as “Legal Proxy” and be received no later than 5:00 p.m. EDT, June 16, 2020. To request registration, please forward the email
from your broker, or attach an image of your legal proxy, to legalproxy@computershare.com. You will receive a confirmation of your registration by email from Computershare after
your registration has been received.
Registered holders who cannot locate their notice, email, or proxy card and beneficial owners without a legal proxy can attend the meeting as a “guest” but will not be able to ask
questions.

Who will pay the costs of this proxy solicitation?
We will pay the expenses of the preparation of proxy materials and the solicitation of proxies for the Annual Meeting. In addition to the solicitation of proxies by mail, solicitation may
be made on our behalf by certain directors, officers, or employees of Aon and our subsidiaries telephonically, electronically or by other means of communication. Directors, officers, and
employees of Aon and our subsidiaries will receive no additional compensation for such solicitation. We will also reimburse banks, brokers, and other nominees for reasonable expenses
incurred by them in forwarding proxy materials to beneficial owners

Who will count the vote?
A representative of our transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company, N.A., will count the vote and serve as inspector of election.

Where can I find the voting results of the Annual Meeting?
The final voting results will be tallied by the inspector of election and disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K, which Aon is required to file with the SEC. The results of the polls
taken on the resolutions at the Annual Meeting and any other information required by the Irish Companies Act will be made available on the Company’s website (www.aon.com) as
soon as reasonably practicable following the Annual Meeting and for a period of two years thereafter.
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Shareholder Resolutions for 2020 Annual
General Meeting
Proposal 1—Re-election of Directors
RESOLVED THAT, the following individuals be, and each hereby is, by way of separate ordinary resolution, re-elected to serve as director until the election of his or her respective
successor or until his or her earlier removal or resignation pursuant to the Articles:
Lester B. Knight
Jeffrey C. Campbell
Gregory C. Case
Jin-Yong Cai
Fulvio Conti
Cheryl A. Francis
J. Michael Losh
Richard B. Myers
Richard C. Notebaert
Gloria Santona
Carolyn Y. Woo

Proposal 2—Advisory Resolution on Executive Compensation
RESOLVED THAT, the shareholders approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the Company’s named executive officers as described in the proxy statement for the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on June 19, 2020 under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Executive Compensation,” including the tabular and narrative disclosure
contained in the proxy statement.

Proposal 3—Ordinary Resolution to Ratify the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
RESOLVED THAT, the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 be, and it
hereby is, ratified and approved.

Proposal 4—Ordinary Resolution to Re-Appoint Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants as the Company’s Statutory Auditor Under
Irish Law
RESOLVED THAT, the re-appointment of Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants as the Company’s statutory auditor under Irish law, to hold office from the conclusion of the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on June 19, 2020 until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company be, and it hereby is, approved.

Proposal 5—Ordinary Resolution to Authorize the Board of Directors or the Audit Committee of the Board to Determine the
Remuneration of Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants as the Company’s Statutory Auditor under Irish Law
RESOLVED THAT, the Board or the Audit Committee of the Board be, and they hereby are, authorized to determine Ernst & Young Chartered Accountant’s remuneration as
statutory auditor under Irish law for the duration of Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants’ term of office.
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Appendix A
Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
Organic Revenue Growth From Continuing Operations (Unaudited)
Twelve Months Ended

(millions)
Commercial Risk Solutions
Reinsurance Solutions
Retirement Solutions
Health Solutions
Data & Analytic Services
Elimination
Total revenue
(1)
(2)
(3)

Dec 31, 2019
$
4,673
1,686
1,817
1,667
1,184
(14)
$
11,013

Dec 31, 2018
$
4,652
1,563
1,865
1,596
1,105
(11)
$
10,770

% Change
—%
8
(3)
4
7
N/A
2%

Less:
Currency
Impact (1)
(3)%
(2)
(2)
(3)
(3)
N/A
(3)%

Less:
Fiduciary
Investment
Income (2)
—%
1
—
—
—
N/A
—%

Less:
Acquisitions,
Divestitures &
Other
(4)%
(1)
(3)
2
6
N/A
(1)%

Organic
Revenue
Growth (3)
7%
10
2
5
4
N/A
6%

Currency impact is determined by translating last year’s revenue at this year’s foreign exchange rates.
Fiduciary investment income for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, was $16 million and $16 million. Fiduciary investment income for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, was $74 million and $53 million.
Organic revenue growth includes the impact of intercompany activity and excludes the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates, fiduciary investment income, acquisitions,
divestitures, transfers between revenue lines, and gains and losses on derivatives accounted for as hedges.

Free Cash Flow from Continuing Operations (Unaudited)

(millions)
Cash Provided By Continuing Operating Activities
Capital Expenditures Used for Continuing Operations
Free Cash Flow Provided by Continuing Operations (1)
(1)

Twelve Months Ended
Dec 31,
Dec 31,
2019
2018
$ 1,835
$
1,686
(225)
(240)
$ 1,610
$
1,446

%
Change
9%
(6)
11%

Free cash flow is defined as cash flow from operations less capital expenditures. This non-GAAP measure does not imply or represent a precise calculation of residual cash flow
available for discretionary expenditures.
2020 Aon Proxy Statement

A-1

Operating Income from Continuing Operations and Diluted Earnings Per Share (1)

(millions, except percentages)
Revenue from continuing operations
Operating income from continuing operations
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets (2)
Restructuring
Legacy Litigation (3)
Operating income from continuing operations—as adjusted
Operating margin from continuing operations
Operating margin from continuing operations—as adjusted

(millions, except per share data)
Operating income from continuing operations—as adjusted
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense):
Other income (expense)—pensions—as adjusted (4)
Other income (expense)—other
Total Other income (expense)—as adjusted (4)
Income before income taxes from continuing operations—as adjusted
Income tax expense (5)
Net income from continuing operations—as adjusted
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders from continuing operations—as adjusted
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations—as adjusted(6)
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders—as adjusted
Continuing operations—as adjusted
Discontinued operations—as adjusted
Net income attributable to Aon shareholders—as adjusted
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding—diluted
Effective Tax Rates (5)
Continuing Operations—U.S. GAAP
Continuing Operations—Non-GAAP
Discontinued Operations—U.S. GAAP
Discontinued Operations—Non-GAAP (6)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
A-2

Twelve Months Ended
Dec 31,
Dec 31,
2019
2018
$ 11,013
$ 10,770
$

$

2,169
392
451
13
3,025
19.7%
27.5%

$

$

1,544
593
485
75
2,697
14.3%
25.0%

Twelve Months Ended
Dec 31,
Dec 31,
2019
2018
$ 3,025
$ 2,697
8
5
(307)
(278)

$
$
$
$
$

9
(8)
1
2,727
478
2,249
41
2,208
(1)
2,207
9.17
—
8.13
240.6
15.9%
17.5%
47.4%
47.4%

$
$
$
$

38
(26)
12
2,436
379
2,057
40
2,017
(8)
2,009
8.16
(0.03)
247.0

15,94

%
Change
2%
40%

12%

%
Change
12%
60%
10%
(76)%
(69)%
(92)%
12%
26%
9%
3%
9%
(88)%
10%
12%
(100)%
13%
(3)%
11.7%
15.6%
9.3%
29.7%

Certain noteworthy items impacting operating income in 2019 and 2018 are described in this schedule. The items shown with the caption “as adjusted” are non-GAAP measures.
Included in the twelve months ended December 30, 2018 was a $176 million non-cash impairment charge taken on certain assets and liabilities held for sale.
During the fourth quarter of 2019 we settled legacy litigation that had been reported in a prior year as an adjustment to GAAP earnings. In connection with the settlement, we
recorded a $13 million charge in the quarter, which represents the difference between the amount accrued in the prior year and the final settlement amount of the legacy
litigation.
Adjusted Other income (expense) excludes pension settlement charges of $5 million and $37 million for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2018, respectively.
Adjusted items are generally taxed at the estimated annual effective tax rate, except for the applicable tax impact associated with estimated restructuring plan expenses, legacy
litigation, accelerated tradename amortization, impairment charges and non-cash pension settlement charges, which are adjusted at the related jurisdictional rate. In addition, tax
expense excludes the tax impacts of the sale of the disposal group and enactment date impacts of U.S. Tax Reform.
Adjusted net income from discontinued operations excludes the gain on sale of discontinued operations of $73 million and $82 million for the three and twelve months ended
December 31, 2018, respectively. The effective tax rate was further adjusted for the applicable tax impact associated with the sale, as applicable.
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Mary Moore Johnson (Appointed November 6, 2019)
Robert E. Lee III (Appointed November 6, 2019)
Bas Oerlemans (Appointed November 6, 2019)
Metropolitan Building,
James Joyce Street,
Dublin 1,
Ireland.
604607
Matsack Trust Limited
Matheson,
70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay,
Dublin 2,
Ireland
Bank Mendes Gans N.V.,
PO Box 198,
1000 AD Amsterdam,
Herengracht 619,
The Netherlands.
Ernst & Young,
Chartered Accountants,
Harcourt Centre,
Harcourt Street,
Dublin 2,
Ireland.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2019
The directors present herewith their report and audited financial statements of Aon Limited (formerly Linzicon Limited) (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal Activity
The Company was incorporated under the laws of Ireland as a private company limited by shares on May 23, 2017 with the name “Linzicon Limited”. On November 5, 2019, the
Company was renamed as “Aon Limited”. The Company was incorporated with an initial share capital of one ordinary share of €1.00 nominal value (the “Subscriber Share”), which
was issued to Matsack Nominees Limited. On November 6, 2019, Matsack Nominees Limited transferred the Subscriber Share to Aon plc, the UK incorporated parent of the Aon Group
of Companies (“Aon UK”). Aon UK as the holder of the Subscriber Share, holds the entire issued share capital of the Company. The Company has not engaged in any business since its
incorporation other than activities associated with Reorganization (as defined below under Future Developments).

Dividends
No dividends were declared or distributed during 2019 (2018: Nil).

Business Review
Aon Limited was a dormant entity before it was purchased in November 2019. There were no profit related activities during 2019. The income statement for the year ended
31 December 2019 and the statement of financial position at that date are set out on pages 11 and 13. The profit on ordinary activities for the year before taxation amounted to $Nil.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Uncertainties
The directors assessed the ability of the Company to continue in operational existence on an ongoing basis. After having considered the matters relevant to the Company, the financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. Refer “Going concern” section below.
Financial Risks
The Company’s operations expose it to various financial risks that include liquidity risk, changes in company law and taxation regulations. The directors are satisfied that the policies,
controls and procedures implemented by the Company are sufficient to manage the financial risks. The directors actively ensure that all controls are periodically reviewed.

Directors and Secretary
The names of the persons who were directors at any time during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out below.
Directors
Fergus Bolster (Resigned November 6, 2019)
George Brady (Resigned November 6, 2019)
Mary Moore Johnson (Appointed November 6, 2019)
Robert E. Lee III (Appointed November 6, 2019)
Bas Oerlemans (Appointed November 6, 2019)
Company Secretary
Matsack Trust Limited

Transactions Involving Directors
There were no contracts or arrangements of any significance in relation to the business of the Company in which the directors had any interest, as defined by the Companies Act 2014, at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Directors’ and Company Secretary’s Interests
The interests of the directors and secretary and their families who held office at 31 December 2019 and 2018 in the share capital of the Company and/or other group companies are less
than 1% in nominal value of the issued voting share capital of that entity and so, in accordance with Section 329 of the Companies Act 2014, have not been disclosed.
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Future Developments
On October 29, 2019, the parent Group filed with the Securities and Exchange (the “SEC”) a preliminary proxy statement and announced its intention to move the jurisdiction of
incorporation for the parent company from the UK to Ireland (the “Reorganization”), as described in our definitive proxy statement filed with the SEC on December 20, 2019. The
move is expected to drive ongoing shareholder value creation through effective capital management that maximizes return on invested capital (“ROIC”). The Reorganization received
shareholder approval on February 4, 2020. The Group is required to make an application to the High Court of Justice of England and Wales to seek approval. This application is
expected to be heard, and it is currently anticipated that the Reorganization will be completed, on March 31, 2020.

Events Since the Statement of Financial Position
On 10 March 2020, the Company approved the allotment of 24,999 additional ordinary shares of €1 to Aon plc in exchange for subscription monies of €1.

Going Concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Political Donations
The Company did not make any political donations during the year.

Accounting Records
The measures that the directors have taken to secure compliance with the requirements of sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014, with regard to the keeping of accounting
records, include the provision of appropriate resources within the Aon Group to maintain adequate accounting records, throughout the Company, including the appointment of personnel
with appropriate qualifications, experience and expertise. The Company’s accounting records are maintained at Metropolitan Building, James Joyce Street, Dublin 1, Ireland.

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in
accordance with accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland, including FRS 102, the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position, of the Company as at the end of the financial year, and the profit or
loss of the company for the financial year, and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

State whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, identify those standards, and note the effect and reasons for any
material departure from those standards; and

•

Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which correctly explain and record the transactions of the Company,
enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the financial
statements
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and directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement on Relevant Audit Information
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s statutory auditors are unaware. The directors have taken all the steps that they ought to
have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s statutory auditors are aware of that information.

Auditors
The auditors, Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants, appointed on March 10, 2020, will continue in office in accordance with Section 382(2) of the Companies Act 2014.
Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:
Director:

/S/ Mary Moore Johnson
Mary Moore Johnson

Director:

/S/ Robert E. Lee III
Robert E. Lee III

Date: 13/3/2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AON LIMITED
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Aon Limited (‘the Company’) for the year ended 31 December 2019, which comprise the Income Statement and Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant accounting
policies set out in the notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law and Accounting Standards including FRS 102: The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (Irish Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31 December 2019 and of its result for the year then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with Irish Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matters
In the prior year the Company availed of the dormant company audit exemption under section 365(2) of the Companies Act 2014 and accordingly the comparatives are unaudited. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, in relation to which ISAs (Ireland) require us to report to you where:
•

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate: or

•

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the directors’ report other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:
•

in our opinion, the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

in our opinion, the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and properly audited and the financial statements are in agreement
with the accounting records.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors’
report. The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions required by sections 305 to 312 of the Act are
not made. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Respective responsibilities
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 6, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA’s website at: http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8fa98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf.
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
/S/ Dargan FitzGerald
Dargan FitzGerald
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin
Date: 13/3/2020
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INCOME STATEMENT AND STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
The Company is an Irish incorporated limited company, with Aon UK being the holder of the Company’s entire issued share capital, which currently consists solely of the Subscriber
Share. The Company has not engaged in any business since its formation other than activities associated with the corporate reorganization. The Company did not earn income nor incur
expenditure during the year (2018: Nil). Consequently, the Company made neither a profit nor a loss during the financial year (2018: Nil).
There were no recognised gains or losses arising in the year (2018: Nil).
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2019

At 1 January 2018
Transactions for year
At 31 December 2018
At 31 December 2018
Transactions for year
At 31 December 2019

Called-up
share
capital
USD ($)
1
—
1
1
—
1

Total
USD
($)
1
—
1
1
—
1

2020 Aon Proxy Statement

B-9

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
at 31 December 2019
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
NET ASSETS
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Ordinary share capital

2019
USD ($)

2018
USD ($)

1

1
1

1
1

2

1
1

1
1

Note

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on March 13, 2020 and authorised for issue on March 13, 2020. They were signed on its behalf by:
Director:

/S/ Mary Moore Johnson
Mary Moore Johnson

Director:

/S/ Robert E. Lee III
Robert E. Lee III

Date:

13/3/2020
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2019
1.

Accounting Policies
Statement of compliance
The Company (formerly Linzicon Limited) is a limited liability company incorporated in the Republic of Ireland. The registered office is Metropolitan Building, James Joyce
Street, Dublin 1, Ireland.
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in Ireland and Irish statute comprising the Companies Act
2014. Accounting standards generally accepted in Ireland in preparing financial statements giving a true and fair view are those promulgated by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Ireland and issued by the Financial Reporting Council including FRS 102: The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland
(Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland).
Basis of preparation and change in accounting policy
The directors assess the ability of the company to continue in operational existence on an ongoing basis. After having considered the matters relevant to the company, the
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The financial statements are presented in USD, denoted by the symbol ‘$’, as this is the functional and presentational currency of the Company. Upon transfer of the Subscriber
Share from Matsack Nominees Limited to Aon UK, the company concluded that the functional currency of the reporting entity would be changed from EUR to USD.
Comparative amounts
In the prior year the Company availed of the dormant company audit exemption under section 365(2) of the Companies Act 2014 and accordingly the comparatives are
unaudited.
Taxation
Corporation tax is calculated at current applicable rates.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the statement of financial position date where transactions or events have
occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or right to pay less, tax. Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse.
Cash flow statement
The Company is a “qualifying entity” under FRS 102 and is exempt from the requirement of section 3.17 of FRS102 to prepare a cash flow statement.
Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the entity’s functional currency (USD) by applying the spot exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. All differences are
taken to the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and in hand.
Classification of shares as debt or equity
An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all its liabilities.
When shares are issued any component that creates a financial liability of the Company is presented as a liability in the statement of financial position and is measured initially
at fair value net of transaction cost until extinguished on
2020 Aon Proxy Statement
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conversion or redemption. The corresponding dividends relating to the liability component are charged as interest expense to the income statement. The initial fair value of the
liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent liability without a conversion feature.
The remainder of the proceeds on issue is allocated to the equity component and included in shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity
component is not re-measured in subsequent years.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the shares based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised.
The ordinary share capital of the Company is presented as equity.

2.

Share Capital
Ordinary Shares
Authorised
1 ordinary share of €1
Issued
Allotted
1 ordinary share of €1

2019

2018

USD ($)
1

USD ($)
1

USD ($)
1

USD ($)
1

The Company was incorporated with 1 subscriber share having a nominal value of €1 for aggregate consideration of €1.

3.

Ultimate and Immediate Parent Company
The immediate and ultimate parent company is Aon plc. The Company is included in the consolidated accounts of Aon plc forming the largest and smallest body of
undertakings of which the Company forms a part as a subsidiary undertaking. The registered office of Aon plc is located at The Aon Centre, 122 Leadenhall Street, London,
England EC3V 4AN and from where the consolidated financial statements are available.

4.

Related Party Transactions
The Company is availing of the exemption under FRS 102 not to present a related party note, as the Company is a 100% subsidiary of a parent undertaking which prepares
publicly available consolidated financial statements including transactions between two or more members of the group.

5.

Subsequent Events
On March 10, 2020, the Company approved the allotment of 24,999 additional ordinary shares of €1 to Aon plc in exchange for subscription monies of €1.

6.

Approval of Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 13, 2020.
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About Aon
Aon plc (NYSE:AON) is a leading global provider
of risk management, insurance brokerage and
reinsurance brokerage, and human resources
solutions. Aon unites to empower results for clients
in over 120 countries via innovative risk and people
solutions. For further information on our capabilities and
to learn how we empower results for clients,
please visit: http://aon.mediaroom.com.
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